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MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST  
RATES, PRICES OR YIELDS AND CUSIPS** 

 
$92,700,000 Serial Bonds 

Maturity 
 (May 1)  

Principal 
  Amount   

Interest 
  Rate   

Price or 
  Yield   

CUSIP** 
Numbers 

     
2017 $1,810,000  3.000%  0.560% 426170MG8 
2018 1,275,000 2.000 0.650 426170MH6 
2019 1,300,000 1.750 0.770 426170MJ2 
2020 2,940,000 3.000 0.870 426170MK9 
2020 2,945,000 5.000 0.870 426170NH5 
2021 3,330,000 4.000 0.980 426170ML7 
2021 2,685,000 5.000 0.980 426170NJ1 
2022 775,000 3.000 1.090 426170MM5 
2022 5,510,000 5.000 1.090 426170NK8 
2023 1,135,000 3.000 1.200 426170MN3 
2023 5,445,000 5.000 1.200 426170NL6 
2024 2,065,000 1.500 1.320 426170NG7 
2024 1,785,000 4.000 1.320 426170MP8 
2024 3,035,000 5.000 1.320 426170NM4 
2025 7,140,000 5.000 1.450 426170MQ6 
2026 7,500,000 5.000 1.590 426170MR4 
2027 7,875,000 5.000  1.720* 426170MS2 
2028 1,100,000 2.000      100% 426170MT0 
2028 7,175,000 5.000  1.790* 426170NN2 
2029 2,020,000 5.000  1.860* 426170MU7 
2030 2,120,000 5.000  1.910* 426170MV5 
2031 2,225,000 5.000  1.960* 426170MW3 
2032 2,340,000 5.000  2.020* 426170MX1 
2033 2,455,000 5.000  2.080* 426170MY9 
2034 2,575,000 5.000  2.140* 426170MZ6 
2035 2,705,000 5.000  2.200* 426170NA0 
2036 2,840,000 5.000  2.250* 426170NB8 
2037 2,985,000 5.000  2.300* 426170NC6 
2038 3,130,000 5.000  2.330* 426170ND4 
2046 480,000 3.125     100% 426170NF9 

 

$14,175,000 5.000% Term Bonds due May 1, 2042, Yield 2.410%*, CUSIP Number** 426170NP7 

$16,750,000 5.000% Term Bonds due May 1, 2046, Yield 2.450%*, CUSIP Number** 426170NE2 

 
                                                        
* Yield to May 1, 2026 optional redemption date. 
** CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an organization not affiliated with the County and are included solely for the 

convenience of the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds.  The County is not responsible for the selection or uses of these 
CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as to their correctness on the Series 2016 Bonds or as indicated above. 
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IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS, THE 
UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR 
MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE 
WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF 
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the County to give any 
information or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given 
or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the 
County.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor 
shall there be any sale of the Series 2016 Bonds by any person, in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for 
such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. 

The information set forth in this Official Statement has been obtained from the County and other 
sources that are deemed reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be 
construed as a representation of, the Underwriters.  The information in this Official Statement speaks as of its 
date except where specifically noted otherwise and is subject to change without notice.  The delivery of this 
Official Statement, any sale made under it or any filing or other use of it will not, under any circumstances, 
create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the County since the date of this Official 
Statement or imply that any information in this Official Statement is accurate or complete as of any later date. 
This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the County and the 
purchasers or owners of any of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

The Series 2016 Bonds will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
obligations of a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  The Series 2016 Bonds also will be 
exempt from registration under the securities laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

The electronic distribution of this Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the 
solicitation of an offer to buy the Series 2016 Bonds described herein to the residents of any particular state 
and is not specifically directed to the residents of any particular state.  The Series 2016 Bonds will not be 
offered or sold in any state unless and until they are either registered pursuant to the laws of such state, or 
qualified pursuant to an appropriate exemption from registration in such state. 

In making an investment decision investors must rely on their own examination of the terms of the 
offering, including the merits and risks involved.  These securities have not been recommended by any federal 
or state securities commission or regulatory authority.  Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not 
confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this document.  Any representation to the contrary is a 
criminal offense. 

All quotations from and summaries and explanations of laws and documents herein do not purport to 
be complete, and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their 
provisions.  Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether 
or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as representations of fact.   

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement:  The 
Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, 
their respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and 
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such 
information. 

References to web site addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in 
the form of a hyperlink solely for the reader’s convenience.  Unless specified otherwise, such web sites and the 
information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this offering document for 
purposes of, and as that term is defined in, Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
RELATING TO THE ISSUANCE OF 

$123,625,000 
COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA, 

WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, 
SERIES 2016 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and attached appendices, is to set 
forth certain information in connection with the sale by the County of Henrico, Virginia (the “County”), of its 
$123,625,000 aggregate principal amount of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2016, dated 
June 21, 2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds”). 

The Series 2016 Bonds will be issued and secured in accordance with the Public Finance Act of 1991, 
being Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Act”), and pursuant to the 
provisions of a resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors (the “Board of Supervisors”) on November 23, 
1977, as amended and supplemented (the “Bond Resolution”), and a supplemental resolution adopted by the 
Board of Supervisors on February 23, 2016 providing for the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds (the “2016 
Supplemental Resolution”) and together with the Bond Resolution, the “Resolutions”). 

The Series 2016 Bonds are being issued to provide the funds needed (i) to finance improvements, 
additions and extensions to the Water and Sewer System of the County, including, without limitation, the 
Cobbs Creek Reservoir project, (ii) to advance refund certain outstanding County of Henrico, Virginia Water 
and Sewer Revenue Bonds as more particularly described herein (as further defined herein, the “Refunded 
Bonds”), and (iii) to pay certain costs of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds.  See “APPENDIX A” hereto for a 
more detailed description of the projects to be financed with the proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds.  See also 
“PLAN OF FINANCE AND REFUNDING” herein. 

The County has issued and there are at present Outstanding under the Bond Resolution $161,870,000 
aggregate principal amount of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds and Water and Sewer System 
Refunding Revenue Bonds (the “Outstanding Parity Bonds”), excluding the Refunded Bonds and the Series 
2016 Bonds.  On the date of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds, the Outstanding Parity Bonds, excluding the 
Series 2016 Bonds and the Refunded Bonds, will consist of: (i) $8,970,000 aggregate principal amount Water 
and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, (ii) $3,990,000 aggregate principal amount Water 
and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A, (iii) $9,800,000 aggregate principal amount 
Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B (Taxable-Recovery Zone Economic Development 
Bonds), (iv) $67,765,000 aggregate principal amount Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2013, and (v) $71,345,000 aggregate principal amount Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 
2014.  See “APPENDIX A” hereto for the annual debt service requirements on the Bonds issued and 
Outstanding under the Bond Resolution. 

The Series 2016 Bonds, the Outstanding Parity Bonds and any Additional Bonds that may hereafter be 
issued on a parity therewith pursuant to the Bond Resolution (the “Additional Bonds”) are referred to herein as 
the “Bonds”.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS” herein and 
“APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS” hereto. 

THE COUNTY AND THE SYSTEM 

The Bonds are secured by a pledge of the Revenues of the System.  For additional information on the 
System, see “Appendix A” hereto.  Audited financial statements of the System for fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015 are attached hereto as “Appendix B”.  For additional demographic and financial information on the 
County, see “Appendix C” hereto. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2016 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2016 Bonds are dated as of their date of issuance, bear interest from their date payable on 
May 1 and November 1 in each year, commencing on November 1, 2016, at the rates and will mature on the 
dates and in the amounts set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. 

The record dates for the payment of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds are October 15, 2016 and each 
April 15 and October 15 thereafter.  The record date for the payment of the principal of the Series 2016 Bonds 
is each April 15 preceding each maturity date of the Series 2016 Bonds.  Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is 
calculated on the basis of a 360 day year consisting of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months.  

Book-Entry-Only System 

The book-entry-only system of registration of the Series 2016 Bonds is more fully described in 
Appendix E to this Official Statement. 

Redemption of the Series 2016 Bonds 

Optional Redemption.  The Series 2016 Bonds maturing on or before May 1, 2026 will not be subject 
to optional redemption before their respective maturity dates. 

The Series 2016 Bonds maturing on or after May 1, 2027 may be redeemed prior to their respective 
maturity dates on or after May 1, 2026 at the option of the County, as a whole or in part at any time at the price 
of par together with the interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption. 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Series 2016 Bonds maturing on May 1, 2042 and on 
May 1, 2046 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on each May 1, in the principal amounts in 
each year set forth below, with the particular Series 2016 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed to be 
selected by lot, upon payment of the principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds to be redeemed, together with 
the interest accrued on the principal amount to be redeemed to the date fixed for the redemption thereof, as 
follows: 

Series 2016 Bonds Maturing May 1, 2042 

Year 
(May 1) Principal Amount 

  
2039 $3,290,000 
2040 3,455,000 
2041 3,625,000 
2042† 3,805,000 

  
†Maturity  
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Series 2016 Bonds Maturing May 1, 2046 
 

Year 
(May 1) Principal Amount 

  
2043 $4,000,000 
2044 4,195,000 
2045 4,405,000 
2046† 4,150,000 

  
†Maturity  

The County, at its option, may credit against such mandatory sinking fund redemption requirements 
the principal amount of any Series 2016 Bonds maturing on May 1, 2042 or on May 1, 2046, as applicable, 
which have been purchased and cancelled by the County or which have been redeemed and not theretofore 
applied as a credit against such mandatory sinking fund redemption requirements. 

Notice of Redemption.  Notice of any redemption specifying the designation, date and maturity of the 
Series 2016 Bonds to be redeemed and the date and place fixed for redemption shall be given by first-class 
mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days and not more than 45 days prior to the redemption date, to the 
registered holder of the Series 2016 Bonds at such registered holder’s address as shown on the books of 
registration kept by the registrar therefor; provided, however, that any defect in such notice shall not affect the 
sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of such Series 2016 Bonds.  If such notice is given and 
payment of the Series 2016 Bond is duly made or provided for, interest thereon shall cease from and after the 
date so specified for the redemption thereof.  Notice of such redemption shall also state that if less than the 
entire principal amount of a Series 2016 Bond called for redemption is to be redeemed, such Series 2016 Bond 
must be surrendered in exchange for payment of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed and the issuance 
of a new Series 2016 Bond or Series 2016 Bonds of the same series and maturity equaling in principal amount 
that portion of the principal amount of the surrendered bond not to be redeemed.  During any period that a 
securities depository, including DTC, is the registered owner of the Series 2016 Bonds, the County will 
not be responsible for mailing notices of redemption to Beneficial Owners.  See “APPENDIX E – 

DESCRIPTION OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY AND THE BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM”. 

PLAN OF FINANCE AND REFUNDING 

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds are being issued to provide funds needed to 
finance improvements, additions and extensions to the Water and Sewer System of the County pursuant to the 
County’s Five Year Capital Improvement Plan for the System, including, without limitation, the Cobbs Creek 
Reservoir project.  The Cobbs Creek Reservoir project is a river flow augmentation facility that will discharge 
up to 100 million gallons per day of raw water into the James River during periods of low flow.  The reservoir 
is owned by the County and will be operated by the County and will be located adjacent to the James River in 
Cumberland County.  The Cobbs Creek Reservoir project consists of several major components: a river intake 
structure, raw water pump station, transfer pipeline lines, inlet/outlet tower and one major and one saddle dam.  
See “APPENDIX A” hereto for a more detailed description of the Five Year Capital Improvement Plan and the 
Cobbs Creek Reservoir Project. 

A portion of the proceeds of sale of the Bonds will be applied, together with other available funds, to 
advance refund and defease certain outstanding County of Henrico, Virginia, Water and Sewer System 
Revenue Bonds, as described in more detail below (the “Refunded Bonds”).  Such proceeds, together with 
other available funds, will be irrevocably deposited in an escrow deposit fund with U.S. Bank, National 
Association, Richmond, Virginia, as Escrow Agent, under an Escrow Deposit Agreement, dated June 8, 2016 
(the “Escrow Deposit Agreement”).  Such proceeds, together with other available funds, will be invested in 
Government Securities.  The Government Securities will mature and bear interest payable at times and in 
amounts sufficient, together with other funds on deposit in the escrow deposit fund, to pay interest accrued on 
the Refunded Bonds to the redemption dates below and to pay the redemption prices of the Refunded Bonds on 
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the redemption dates below.  Upon such irrevocable deposit to the escrow deposit fund under the Escrow 
Deposit Agreement, the Refunded Bonds will be deemed paid and no longer Outstanding under the Bond 
Resolution.  The sufficiency of the amounts deposited in the escrow deposit fund to pay the Refunded Bonds 
up to and on their redemption dates will be independently verified in connection with the issuance of the Series 
2016 Bonds.  See “VERIFICATION” herein.  The County is undertaking the refunding of such outstanding 
water and sewer system revenue bonds described above in order to reduce its annual debt service expenditures. 

The Refunded Bonds are more fully described below: 

Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, Dated March 4, 2009 

Year of 
Maturity 
 (May 1)  

Interest 
  Rate   

Principal 
 Amount

Redemption 
    Date     

Redemption 
    Price     

CUSIP 
Numbers**

   
2020 5.000% $3,275,000 May 1, 2019 100% 426170HX7
2021 5.000 3,430,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170HY5
2022 5.000 3,600,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170HZ2
2023 5.000 3,780,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JA5
2024 5.000 3,965,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JB3
2025 5.000 4,165,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JC1
2026 4.750 4,380,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JD9
2027 4.750 4,585,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JE7
2028 4.375   4,805,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JF4

  $35,985,000  
 

Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A, Dated December 22, 2009 

Year of 
Maturity 
 (May 1)  

Interest 
  Rate   

Principal 
 Amount

Redemption 
    Date     

Redemption 
    Price     

CUSIP 
Numbers**

   
2020 3.125% $1,410,000 May 1, 2019 100% 426170JN7
2021 5.000 1,455,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JP2
2022 5.000 1,530,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JQ0
2023 5.000 1,605,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JR8
2024 5.000 1,685,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JS6
2025 5.000 1,770,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JT4
2026 5.000 1,855,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JU1
2027 5.000 1,950,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JV9
2028 5.000   2,050,000 May 1, 2019 100 426170JW7

  $15,310,000  
 

____________________ 
**CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an organization not affiliated with the County and are included solely for 

the convenience of the holders of the Refunded Bonds.  The County is not responsible for the selection or uses of 
these CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as to their correctness on the Refunded Bonds or as indicated 
above. 
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The following table summarizes the anticipated application of the proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds 
and other moneys to the purposes of issuance described above: 

Sources:   
Principal Amount of Series 2016 Bonds  $123,625,000.00 
Original Issue Premium     28,023,157.60 
 Total Series 2016 Bond Proceeds  $151,648,157.60 

Uses:   
Deposit to Construction Fund  $90,000,000.00 
Deposit to Escrow Deposit Fund  57,250,145.70 
Deposit to Reserve Account  3,807,715.54 
Cost of Issuance Expenses  367,114.68 
Underwriting Compensation(1)          223,181.68 

Total Uses  $151,648,157.60 
______________________ 
(1) See “UNDERWRITING” herein. 

  

SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2016 BONDS 

The Series 2016 Bonds and all Bonds issued under the Bond Resolution are payable as to principal 
and interest from, and secured by a pledge of, income, revenues, fees and moneys derived by the County from 
the ownership, possession, operation, management or control of the System, including, but not limited to, 
charges for current services, fees charged for connection to the System and earnings of the investment of 
certain funds (the “Revenues”), subject to the prior payment from the Revenues of the expenses of operation 
and maintenance of the System.  The Series 2016 Bonds will be payable on a parity with the Outstanding 
Parity Bonds, Additional Bonds and interest on bond anticipation notes hereafter issued pursuant to the Bond 
Resolution.  For a more complete discussion of the County’s ability to issue additional debt secured by the 
Revenues of the System, see “APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS – 
Issuance of Additional Obligations”.   

The Series 2016 Bonds are not a debt of the County within the meaning of any constitutional or 
statutory limitation on the creation of general obligation indebtedness of the County, nor do they impose 
any general liability upon the County.  The full faith and credit of the County is not pledged to the 
payment of the Series 2016 Bonds, and the County shall not be liable for the payment thereof out of any 
funds of the County other than the Revenues pledged therefor, in the manner provided in the Bond 
Resolution. 

Collection and Disposition of Revenues 

The Revenues shall be applied and expended for the following purposes and in the following order of 
priority (except as otherwise permitted by the Bond Resolution) to the following accounts created in the 
Revenue Fund: 

FIRST,  To the Operation and Maintenance Account:  On the first business day of each month there 
shall be credited to the Operation and Maintenance Account in the Revenue Fund such moneys as are 
determined to be necessary to pay the expenses of operating and maintaining the System during such month. 
Such expenses of operation and maintenance shall include (a) salaries, wages, employee benefits, costs of 
materials and supplies, costs of water, costs of power, costs of routine repairs, renewals, replacements and 
alterations occurring in the usual course of business, costs of billings and collections, costs of insurance, costs 
of audits, taxes, if any, a properly allocable share of County administrative and overhead expenses, and any 
other costs with respect to any services, facilities or commodities which are required for operating and 
maintaining the System and (b) payments for water, water supply, water treatment and water transmission for 
water distributed by the System or for the transmission, treatment and disposal of sewage collected by the 
System (i) made to other governmental bodies or (ii) made for the use, services and facilities of or 
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commodities supplied by plants and properties of the County which are acquired, constructed or operated as 
separate utility systems. The moneys credited to the Operation and Maintenance Account shall be applied to 
the payment of the expenses of operating and maintaining the System. 

SECOND, To the Interest Account, Principal Account and Sinking Fund Account:  For the purpose of 
providing for the payment of the interest on the Bonds, on or before each May 1 and November 1 there shall be 
credited to the Interest Account an amount such that, if the same amount were so paid and credited to the 
Interest Account on each May 1 and November 1 and prior to the next date upon which an installment of 
interest falls due on the Bonds, the aggregate of the amounts so credited to the Interest Account, would on such 
date be equal to the installment of interest then falling due on the Bonds.  The County has provided or shall 
provide in the Supplemental Resolutions authorizing the Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes for such credits to 
be made in such amounts and at such times sufficient to pay when due each such installment of interest.  The 
Supplemental Resolutions providing for the Series 2016 Bonds provide for such credits in such amounts and at 
such time sufficient to pay when due each such installment. 

For the purpose of providing for the payment of the principal of the Bonds issued as Serial Bonds, on 
or before May 1 there shall be credited to the Principal Account an amount such that, the aggregate of the 
amounts so credited to the Principal Account, together with any other moneys theretofore credited to the 
Principal Account, would on each May 1 be equal to the installment of principal of such Bonds then falling 
due.  For the purpose of providing moneys to retire any Term Bonds, not later than May 1 in the year of the 
first redemption date of Term Bonds, and on and before May 1 in each year thereafter, so long as any Term 
Bonds are Outstanding, there shall be credited to the Sinking Fund Account for the purpose of retiring the 
Term Bonds an amount such that, if the same amount were so paid and credited to the Sinking Fund Account 
to provide for the retirement of the Term Bonds on May 1 of each year thereafter and prior to the next date 
upon which a Sinking Fund Account installment falls due, the aggregate of the amounts so credited to such 
account would on such date be sufficient to redeem the Term Bonds in the principal amount as provided 
herein.  The County has provided or shall provide in the Supplemental Resolutions authorizing the Bonds for 
such credits to be made in such amounts and at such times sufficient to pay when due each such installment of 
principal or sinking fund payment.  The Supplemental Resolutions providing for the Series 2016 Bonds 
provide for such credits in such amounts and at such time sufficient to pay when due each such installment. 

In the event of the issuance of Additional Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes (as defined herein), the 
foregoing credits are required to be increased as may be necessary to provide for the payment of principal of 
and interest on such Additional Bonds and interest on such Bond Anticipation Notes. 

The moneys credited to such accounts shall be transferred by the County’s Director of Finance to the 
paying agents in such amounts and at such times as shall be necessary to pay the principal of and premium, if 
any, and interest on the Bonds and interest on the Bond Anticipation Notes as the same become due and 
payable. 

THIRD,  To the Reserve Account:  In order to provide a reserve for the payment of interest on the 
Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes and the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds, there shall be 
maintained on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the 
maximum annual Debt Service Requirement (as defined in the Bond Resolution) for the Bonds. Subject to the 
provisions of the Bond Resolution with respect to the credits to the Reserve Account upon the issuance of 
Additional Bonds, the moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account shall always 
be maintained at an amount at least equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement for any year for 
all Bonds at the time outstanding and if at any time the moneys in the Revenue Fund credited to the Reserve 
Account are less than such amount, there shall be credited to this account from the first moneys available 
therefor in the Revenue Fund, after all credits referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) above have been met, such 
amounts as shall be necessary until there is again on credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the 
maximum annual Debt Service Requirement.  In the event of the issuance of Additional Bonds, unless upon 
the delivery of such Additional Bonds there shall already be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the 
Reserve Account an amount equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect after the 
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issuance of such Additional Bonds, (1) there shall be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve 
Account such amount, if any, of the proceeds of the sale of such Additional Bonds as the County may 
determine, so that there shall then be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an 
amount equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect immediately after the issuance 
of such Additional Bonds, or (2) if there shall not be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve 
Account proceeds of such Additional Bonds in an amount so there shall then be on credit to the Reserve 
Account an amount equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect immediately after 
the issuance of such Additional Bonds, there shall be credited to the Reserve Account from time to time such 
amounts as the County may determine, of the moneys available therefor after all credits referred to in 
paragraphs (1) and (2) above have been met, so that no later than five (5) years from the date of such 
Additional Bonds there shall be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount 
equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect after the issuance of such Additional 
Bonds. The moneys in the Revenue Fund to the credit of the Reserve Account shall be applied solely for the 
purpose of paying the interest on Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes and the principal of and premium, if any, 
on the Bonds when due, whether at their maturity or upon the redemption or purchase thereof, and shall be so 
used and applied whenever there are insufficient moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Interest 
Account, Principal Account and Sinking Fund Account for such purposes. 

FOURTH,  To such other Accounts which may be created:  In the event any payments on hedge 
agreements, support agreements or other financial agreements, other than payments constituting principal of, 
premium, if any, and interest on, Bonds, shall be secured by a lien on and pledge of Revenues on a parity with 
the lien on and pledge of the Revenues created for the payment and security of the Bonds, a separate account 
shall be established in the Revenue Fund for the payment thereof and payments to such account shall be made 
from Revenues at the time and after Revenues are disbursed to the Interest, Principal and Sinking Fund 
Accounts in the Revenue Fund. 

FIFTH, To Other purposes:  Money on deposit in the Revenue Fund not required to make the 
payments or credits referred to in paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (4) above shall constitute surplus funds and may 
be used to make all renovations, replacements, renewals and repairs to the System as are necessary to maintain 
the System in good condition. Such moneys may, however, also be used for making up insufficiencies in any 
account in the Revenue Fund; for paying the costs of acquisition or construction of plants and properties to 
comprise part of the System; for paying the cost of reconstructions, improvements, enlargements or extensions 
to the System; for redeeming or purchasing Bonds; for accelerating the payments required to be made into the 
Reserve Account; for the making of advances, in anticipation of repayment from evidences of indebtedness or 
other moneys, for the purpose of acquiring and constructing plants and properties for the storage, supply and 
treatment of water or the treatment and disposal of sewage, including associated transmission facilities, which 
the County has elected to acquire, construct and operate as separate utility systems; for the carrying out of any 
other provisions of the Bond Resolution; for the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest 
on Bond Anticipation Notes; for the payment of bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or other evidences of 
indebtedness secured by a lien on and pledge of the Revenues of the System junior to the payment and security 
of the Bonds; for the payment of taxes, assessments or other governmental charges; or for any other lawful 
purpose of the County with respect to the System. 

Rate Covenant 

The County covenants in the Bond Resolution to establish, maintain, revise and collect rates and 
charges with respect to the System in each year sufficient to provide Net Operating Revenues (the calculation 
of which excludes connection fees, income from investments and certain other nonrecurring revenues), equal 
to not less than 1.25 times the aggregate of the Debt Service Requirement during such year on all Bonds 
outstanding under the Bond Resolution and the interest during such year on outstanding bond anticipation 
notes, if any, payable on a parity with the Bonds.  See “APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF 

THE RESOLUTIONS – Covenant as to Rates and Charges”.  See also “APPENDIX A – HISTORICAL DEBT 
SERVICE COVERAGE – Debt Service Coverage Ratio Under the Resolution”. 
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Reserve Account 

The Series 2016 Bonds, together with the Outstanding Parity Bonds, Additional Bonds and interest on 
bond anticipation notes, will be additionally secured by a Reserve Account established and maintained by the 
County pursuant to the terms of the Resolutions.  As described in “APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 

PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS – Collection and Disposition of Revenues – Reserve Account”, the 
Resolutions require the County to maintain on deposit in the Reserve Account an amount, or a surety bond, 
insurance policy or letter of credit (or any combination of the foregoing), equal to the maximum annual Debt 
Service Requirement for any year on the Series 2016 Bonds, Outstanding Parity Bonds and Additional Bonds, 
in order to provide a reserve for the payment of the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Series 
2016 Bonds, Outstanding Parity Bonds and Additional Bonds and for the payment of interest on bond 
anticipation notes.  There is currently no surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit on deposit in the 
Reserve Account with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds or any Outstanding Parity Bonds.  A portion of the 
Reserve Account is held under an Investment Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, 
expiring on May 1, 2028. 

Bondholders’ Remedies in Event of Default 

In case of an Event of Default under the Resolutions (see “APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 

PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS – Events of Default, Bondholder Remedies”), the holders of not less than 
25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds may proceed to protect and enforce their rights by declaring 
the entire unpaid principal of and interest on the Bonds due and payable or by instituting a mandamus or other 
suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, including an action for specific performance of any agreement 
contained in the Resolutions.  The mandamus remedy, however, may be impracticable and difficult to enforce.  
Furthermore, the right to enforce payment of the Series 2016 Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium and similar laws and equitable principles, which may limit the specific 
enforcement of certain remedies. 

Additional Bonds 

The County may issue Additional Bonds for capital projects and improvements, if, among other 
things, one-half of the Net Operating Revenues during any twenty-four (24) consecutive months (the “Base 
Period”) out of the thirty (30) months immediately preceding the issuance of the Additional Bonds, shall have 
been not less than 1.25 times the maximum Debt Service Requirement to accrue during any year on the Bonds 
then Outstanding and such Additional Bonds. 

The County may issue Refunding Bonds to refund Bonds if, among other things, the Debt Service 
Requirement on the Refunding Bonds and the Bonds which are not refunded shall not be greater in any year in 
which the Bonds not refunded are to be Outstanding than the Debt Service Requirement would have been in 
such year if the Bonds to be refunded were not so refunded. 

See “APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS – 
Issuance of Additional Obligations” for additional information regarding the conditions for the issuance of 
Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds. 

TAX MATTERS 

Opinion of Bond Counsel 

In the opinion of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the 
County, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming compliance with certain tax covenants 
described herein, interest on the Series 2016 Bonds (i) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) and (ii) is not treated as a 
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preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the 
Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes 
of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations.  In rendering its opinions, Bond 
Counsel has relied on certain representations, certifications of fact and statements of reasonable expectations 
made by the County in connection with the Series 2016 Bonds, and Bond Counsel has assumed compliance by 
the County with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the Code to assure the 
exclusion of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code. 

In addition, in the opinion of Bond Counsel to the County, under existing statutes of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia, interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is not includable in computing the Virginia 
income tax. 

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other federal or State tax consequences with respect 
to the Series 2016 Bonds.  Bond Counsel renders its opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of 
the issue date, and assumes no obligation to update, revise or supplement its opinion to reflect any action 
thereafter taken or not taken, or any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to its attention, or changes 
in law or in interpretations thereof that may thereafter occur, or for any other reason.  Bond Counsel expresses 
no opinion on the effect of any action thereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of other counsel 
on the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds, or 
under State and local tax law. 

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants 

The Code establishes certain ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and 
delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2016 Bonds be and remain excluded from 
gross income under Section 103 of the Code.  These requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements 
relating to use and expenditure of gross proceeds of the Series 2016 Bonds, yield and other restrictions on 
investments of gross proceeds and the arbitrage rebate requirement that certain excess earnings on gross 
proceeds be rebated to the federal government.  Noncompliance with such requirements may cause interest on 
the Series 2016 Bonds to become included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to their 
issue date, without regard to the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is discovered.  The County has 
covenanted to comply with certain applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on 
the Series 2016 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code. 

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences 

The following is a brief discussion of certain collateral federal income tax matters with respect to the 
Series 2016 Bonds.  It does not purport to address all aspects of federal taxation that may be relevant to a 
particular owner of a Series 2016 Bond.  Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to 
special rules, are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the federal tax consequences of owning 
and disposing of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

Prospective owners of the Series 2016 Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations 
may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to various categories of persons, such as corporations 
(including S corporations and foreign corporations), financial institutions, property and casualty and life 
insurance companies, individual recipients of Social Security and railroad retirement benefits, individuals 
otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit and taxpayers deemed to have incurred or continued 
indebtedness to purchase or carry obligations the interest on which is not included in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes.  Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds may be taken into account in determining the tax 
liability of foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code. 
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Bond Premium 

In general, if an owner acquires a Series 2016 Bond for a purchase price (excluding accrued interest) 
or otherwise at a tax basis that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Series 2016 
Bond after the acquisition date (excluding certain “qualified stated interest that is unconditionally payable at 
least annually at prescribed rates), that premium constitutes “premium” on that Series 2016 Bond (a “Premium 
Bond”).  In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a Premium Bond must amortize the premium 
over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner’s yield over the remaining term of the 
Premium Bond, determined based on constant yield principles (in certain cases involving a Premium Bond 
callable prior to its stated maturity date, the amortization period and yield may be required to be determined on 
the basis of an earlier call date that result in the lowest yield on such Bond).  An owner of a Premium Bond 
must amortize the premium by offsetting the qualified stated interest allocable to each interest accrual period 
under the owner’s regular method of accounting against the premium allocable to that period.  In the case of a 
tax-exempt Premium Bond, if the premium allocable to an accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest 
allocable to that accrual period, the excess is a nondeductible loss.  Under certain circumstances, the owner of 
a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain upon disposition of the Premium Bond even though it is sold or 
redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner’s original acquisition cost.  Owners of any Premium 
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of premium for federal income tax 
purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and State and local tax consequences, in connection 
with the acquisition, ownership, amortization of premium on, sale, exchange or other disposition of Premium 
Bonds. 

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

Information reporting requirements apply to interest on tax-exempt obligations, including the Series 
2016 Bonds.  In general, such requirements are satisfied if the interest recipient completes, and provides the 
payor with, a Form W-9, “Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification”, or unless the 
recipient is one of a limited class of exempt recipients, including corporations.  A recipient not otherwise 
exempt from information reporting who fails to satisfy the information reporting requirements will be subject 
to “backup withholding”, which means that the payor is required to deduct and withhold a tax from the interest 
payment, calculated in the manner set forth in the Code.  For the foregoing purpose, a “payor” generally refers 
to the person or entity from whom a recipient receives its payments of interest or who collects such payments 
on behalf of the recipient. 

If an owner purchasing a Series 2016 Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9 in 
connection with the establishment of such account, as generally can be expected, no backup withholding 
should occur.  In any event, backup withholding does not affect the excludability of the interest on the Series 
2016 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Any amounts withheld pursuant to backup 
withholding would be allowed as a refund or a credit against the owner’s federal income tax once the required 
information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service. 

Miscellaneous 

Tax legislation, administrative actions taken by tax authorities, or court decisions, whether at the 
federal or State level, may adversely affect the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2016 Bonds under 
federal or State law or otherwise prevent beneficial owners of the Series 2016 Bonds from realizing the full 
current benefit of the tax status of such interest.  In addition, such legislation or actions (whether currently 
proposed, proposed in the future, or enacted) and such decisions could affect the market price or marketability 
of the Series 2016 Bonds.  For example, budgets proposed by the Obama Administration from time to time 
have recommended a 28% limitation on “certain itemized deductions and other tax benefits” including 
“tax-exempt interest”.  The net effect of such a proposal, if enacted into law, would be that an owner of a 
tax-exempt bond with a marginal tax rate in excess of 28% would pay some amount of federal income tax with 
respect to the interest on such tax-exempt bond, regardless of issue date. 
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Prospective purchasers of the Series 2016 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the 
foregoing matters. 

VERIFICATION 

Bingham Arbitrage Rebate Services, Richmond, Virginia, will verify certain mathematical 
computations (a) as to the sufficiency of the moneys and investments deposited in the escrow deposit fund 
under the Escrow Deposit Agreement (i) to pay, when due, the interest on the Refunded Bonds accruing to 
their respective dates fixed for the redemption and (ii) to pay the redemption prices of the Refunded Bonds on 
the respective dates fixed for the redemption, and (b) as to the yield on the Series 2016 Bonds and on the 
Government Securities to be purchased with the proceeds of sale of the Refunding Bonds and deposited into 
the escrow deposit fund pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Deposit Agreement.  See “PLAN OF REFUNDING” 
above. 

UNDERWRITING 

Raymond James & Associates Inc., on behalf of itself and as Representative of the Underwriters, 
BB&T Capital Markets, a division of BB&T Securities LLC, Davenport & Company LLC and J.P. Morgan 
Securities LLC (collectively, the “Underwriters”) have agreed to purchase the Series 2016 Bonds , pursuant to 
the terms of a bond purchase agreement (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), by and between the County and the 
Underwriters, at an aggregate purchase price of $151,424,975.92 which is equal to the par amount of the Series 
2016 Bonds of $123,625,000, plus original issue premium of $28,023,157.60, less an underwriting discount in 
the amount of $223,181.68.  The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the obligation of the Underwriters is 
subject to certain conditions precedent and that the Underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of the Series 
2016 Bonds if any of the Series 2016 Bonds are purchased.  The Bonds may be offered to certain dealers 
(including dealers depositing such Series 2016 Bonds into investment trusts, account or funds) and others at 
prices lower than the initial public offering prices.  After the initial public offering the public offering prices of 
the Series 2016 Bonds may be changed from time to time by the Underwriters. 

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JPMS”), one of the Underwriters of the Series 2016 Bonds, has entered 
into negotiated dealer agreements (each, a “Dealer Agreement”) with each of Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. 
(“CS&Co.”) and LPL Financial LLC (“LPL”) for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings at the 
original issue prices.  Pursuant to each Dealer Agreement, each of CS&Co. and LPL may purchase Bonds from 
JPMS at the original issue price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any Series 
2016 Bonds that such firm sells. 

RATINGS 

Fitch Ratings, One Street Plaza, New York, New York, Moody’s Investors Service, 7 World Trade 
Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York, and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, 55 Water 
Street, New York, New York, have assigned ratings of “AAA” , “Aa1” and “AAA” , respectively, to the Series 
2016 Bonds.  An explanation of the significance of such ratings may only be obtained from the rating agency 
furnishing the same.  The County furnished to such rating agencies the information contained in this Official 
Statement and certain publicly available materials and information about the County.  Generally, rating 
agencies base their ratings on such materials and information, as well as investigations, studies, and 
assumptions of the rating agencies.  Such ratings may be changed at any time, and no assurance can be given 
that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by any such rating agencies if, in the judgment of 
such agency, circumstances so warrant.  Such circumstances may include, without limitation, changes in or 
unavailability of information relating to the County.  Any such downward revision or withdrawal of any of 
such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2016 Bonds. 
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CERTIFICATE CONCERNING OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The County will furnish to the underwriters a certificate dated the date of delivery of the Series 2016 
Bonds, signed by the County Manager and the Director of Finance of the County, and stating that, both as of 
the date of this Official Statement and the date of delivery of the Series 2016 Bonds, the information of or 
pertaining to the County contained in this Official Statement does not contain an untrue statement of a material 
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated herein or necessary to make such statements, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and that no material adverse change 
has occurred in the financial condition of the County between the date of this Official Statement and the date 
of delivery other than as contemplated in this Official Statement.  Such certificate will state, however, that the 
County Manager and the Director of Finance did not independently verify the information in this Official 
Statement indicated as having been obtained or derived from sources other than the County and its officers but 
that they have no reason to believe that such information is not accurate. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The County will execute and deliver to the Underwriters a Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the form 
of which is included as Appendix F to this Official Statement, pursuant to which the County will covenant and 
agree, for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2016 Bonds, consistent with the Rule 15c2-12 promulgated 
by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, to provide to the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board annual financial information and operating data for the County, 
including audited financial statements of the County, within nine (9) months after the end of each fiscal year 
beginning on and after July 1, 2016, and, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the 
occurrence thereof, notices of certain events with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds, whether relating to the 
County or otherwise, including (i) principal and interest payment delinquencies, (ii) non-payment related 
defaults, if material, (iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties, 
(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties, (v) substitution of credit or 
liquidity providers, or their failure to perform, (vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue 
Service of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or 
other material notices of determinations with respect to the tax status of the Series 2016 Bonds, or other 
material events affecting the tax status of the Series 2016 Bonds, (vii) modifications to rights of Series 2016 
Bondholders, if material, (viii) Series 2016 Bond calls, if material, and tender offers, (ix) defeasances, 
(x) release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Series 2016 Bonds, if material, (xi) rating 
changes, (xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County, (xiii) the consummation of a 
merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the County or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of 
the County, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake 
such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to 
its terms, if material, and (xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material; and, in a timely manner, notice to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board of any 
failure of the County to provide required annual financial information referred to above to the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board.  The continuing obligation of the County to provide annual financial 
information and notices referred to above will terminate with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds when the Series 
2016 Bonds are no longer outstanding.  Any failure by the County to comply with the foregoing will not 
constitute a default with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds. 

The County has entered into continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to its outstanding Water 
and Sewer System Revenue Bonds (the “Water and Sewer System Undertakings”) whereby the County has 
agreed to update certain annual financial and operating data relating to County and its Water and Sewer 
System of the general type identified in the Official Statements relating to the outstanding Water and Sewer 
System Bonds (hereinafter, the “Annual Report”) within six months after the end of each fiscal year.  The 
Annual Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 was filed late with respect to the Water and Sewer 
System Bonds and was posted on the MSRB’s EMMA website on September 12, 2012.  The County 
represents that, in the five previous years, except as described in this paragraph, it has not failed to comply in 
any material respect with any of its continuing disclosure undertakings. 
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APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Certain legal matters relating to the authorization and validity of the Series 2016 Bonds are subject to 
the approval of Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the County, whose 
opinion with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds will be furnished at the expense of the County upon delivery of 
the Series 2016 Bonds. Bond Counsel has not prepared this Official Statement and has not verified its 
accuracy, completeness, or fairness.  Accordingly, Bond Counsel will express no opinion of any kind to buyers 
of the Series 2016 Bonds as to this Official Statement, and the opinion of Bond Counsel will be limited to 
matters relating to the authorization and validity of the Series 2016 Bonds and the treatment of the interest on 
the Series 2016 Bonds under present federal and Virginia income tax laws as more fully described under “TAX 

MATTERS” above.  Certain matters for the County will be passed on by the County Attorney and for the 
Underwriters by McGuireWoods LLP, Richmond, Virginia. 

The proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel to the County is set forth as Appendix G to this 
Official Statement. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The financial statements of the County of Henrico, Virginia, Water and Sewer Revenue Fund, as of 
and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, included in this Official Statement as Appendix B have been 
audited by KPMG LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing herein. 

The auditors have not been requested to consent, nor have they rendered any consent, to the inclusion 
of the financial statements in this Official Statement, nor have the auditors been engaged to perform any 
procedures relating to this Official Statement or the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds. 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

The County has retained Public Financial Management, Inc., Arlington, Virginia, as financial advisor 
(the “Financial Advisor”), in connection with the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds.  Although the Financial 
Advisor assisted in the preparation and review of this Official Statement, the Financial Advisor is not obligated 
to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an independent verification or to assume responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information contained in the Official Statement.  The Financial 
Advisor is a financial advisory, investment management and consulting organization and is not engaged in the 
business of underwriting municipal securities. 

LITIGATION 

The County Attorney advises that there is no litigation pending or, to the best of his knowledge, 
threatened, in any way questioning or affecting the validity of the Series 2016 Bonds, or the power and 
authority of the County to fix and collect rates and charges for the services, facilities and commodities sold, 
furnished or supplied through the System or the power and authority of the County to pledge the Revenues 
therefrom to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

The purpose of this Official Statement is to supply information to prospective buyers of the Series 
2016 Bonds.  All quotations from and summaries and explanations of laws contained in this Official Statement 
do not purport to be complete and reference is made to such laws for full and complete statements of their 
provisions.  Any questions concerning the contents of this Official Statement should be directed to the 
following:  Eugene H. Walter, Director of Finance, (804) 501-5200; or Kevin Rotty, Managing Director, 
Public Financial Management, Inc. (703) 741-0175. 
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The Board of Supervisors has authorized the execution and delivery of this Official Statement on 
behalf of the County. 

 COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 

 

/s/ John A. Vithoulkas 
 JOHN A. VITHOULKAS 

County Manager 

 

/s/ Eugene H. Walter 
 EUGENE H. WALTER 

Director of Finance 
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The County of Henrico, Virginia (the “County”) is situated in central Virginia and surrounds the City 
of Richmond (the “City” or “Richmond”) on the north side of the James River.  Although much of the 
County’s 244 square miles consists of highly developed urban and suburban areas, there is also a considerable 
amount of undeveloped agricultural and forest land.  In Virginia, cities and counties are distinct units of 
government and do not overlap.  Thus, the County is responsible for providing all local government services to 
its residents.  The population of the County was 325,238 for 2014 (the most recent available data from the 
Henrico County Department of Planning) and is expected to grow for the foreseeable future. For a more 
detailed description of the County, see Appendix C. 

THE SYSTEM 

History and Development 

Prior to October 1968, water and sewer services in the more densely populated areas of the County 
were provided by sanitary districts.  As the County developed and its population increased, the Board of 
Supervisors determined that water and sewer services could be provided more economically on a County-wide 
basis and that extension of and improvements to public water and sewer facilities needed to be made without 
regard to sanitary district boundaries.  In October 1968, the County entered into an agreement with the sanitary 
districts in the County, which was supplemented in 1975 (together, the “Unification Agreement”), to provide a 
unified County-wide system. Under the Unification Agreement, the County consolidated the water and sewer 
facilities of the sanitary districts into a single County-wide system (the “System”) and also consolidated the 
revenues derived from such water and sewer facilities. 

Organization and Administration 

The County Department of Public Utilities (the “Department”) is responsible for the operation and 
maintenance of the System and for the construction of additions and improvements thereto.  The Department is 
under the direction of Arthur D. Petrini, P.E., Director of Public Utilities, who reports through the Deputy 
County Manager for Community Operations to the County Manager.  Mr. Petrini has been in his position with 
the County for 15 years.  Mr. Petrini is a graduate of the University of Connecticut, where he earned a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering, and a Master’s degree in Environmental Engineering.  
Mr. Petrini holds the Professional Engineer (P.E.) licensure.  

For resumes of key officials, see the section “COUNTY GOVERNMENT - Certain County Staff 
Members” in Appendix C.  As of June 30, 2015, there were 306 positions in the Department for activities 
directly relating to providing water and sewer services.  The County is prohibited by law from recognizing a 
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labor union as a bargaining agent for any County employees, and is prohibited from collectively bargaining 
with any such union or its agents concerning any matter relating to those employees or their employment with 
the County. 

In addition to providing water and sewer service within the County, the Department is responsible for 
County-operated refuse collection and disposal, the operation of one County-owned transfer station, two public 
use areas, and the administration of street lighting service provided to five sanitary districts, these services are 
collectively known as the Solid Waste Operation.  As of June 30, 2015, there were 69 positions in the 
Department for activities directly related to Solid Waste Operation.  The Public Utilities Department accounts 
for the receipts and disbursements related to providing solid waste services separately from revenues and 
expenses of the Water and Sewer System.  Expenses and revenues for the Solid Waste Operation are 
segregated from funds of the Water and Sewer System.  A portion of the administrative costs, which are paid 
by the Water and Sewer System, are charged to the Solid Waste Operation as an overhead expense. 

In providing water and sewer services in the County, the Department receives support from other 
County departments.  The Department (and, therefore, the System) is charged by the County for the actual cost 
incurred by it, on a pro rata basis, for data processing services, accounting services, vehicle maintenance 
services, risk management, office space, and the use of certain County-owned vehicles.  The County has 
chosen not to charge the Department a payment-in-lieu of taxes for real property assets of the Water and Sewer 
system. 

The Department does not provide any free water or sewer service within the County and all customers, 
including the County government, are subject to the same schedule of rates and charges. 

Properties and Services 

The primary functions of the System are water supply, storage and distribution and wastewater 
collection, transmission, treatment and disposal.  The System provides service to approximately 65 percent of 
the geographical area of the County and 95 percent of the population. 

The County provides water service to approximately 96,000 residential, commercial, and industrial 
customers.  The County also has service agreements to supply limited amounts of water to Hanover County 
and Goochland County.  Currently about 38 percent of the County’s water supply is purchased from the City 
of Richmond. The remainder is supplied by the County’s recently upgraded 80 MGD Water Treatment Plant, 
which is supplied by the James River. The plant was completed in April 2004, and the expansion from 
55 MGD to 80 MGD was completed in May 2015.  The System’s water facilities consist of approximately 
1,595 miles of water distribution mains, 9 pump stations with storage tanks and 2 elevated storage tanks for a 
total tank storage capacity of approximately 31 million gallons. 

The County provides wastewater service to approximately 93,000 residential, commercial, and 
industrial customers.  The County also has service agreements to treat a limited quantity of wastewater from 
Hanover County, Goochland County, and the City of Richmond.  The County operates a 75 MGD wastewater 
treatment facility.  

Wastewater is transmitted to the County Wastewater Treatment Facility where it is treated pursuant to 
a Virginia Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit.  Limited volumes of wastewater from the County 
continue to be treated at Richmond’s wastewater treatment facility, and limited volumes of wastewater from 
Richmond are treated at the County’s Wastewater Treatment Facility under a wastewater agreement that 
became effective November 1, 1989.  Wastewater from Hanover County and Goochland County is treated at 
the County Wastewater Treatment Facility under agreements between the County and Hanover and Goochland 
Counties. 
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Operations and Maintenance Procedures 

The County has implemented modern operation and maintenance procedures with respect to the 
System.  The City tests the water it sells to the County, and the County maintains its own laboratory to conduct 
daily tests of the water quality of the distribution system. The County maintains ongoing educational programs 
to keep employees of the System aware of new developments in water and wastewater technology.  In 
addition, all treatment plant operators are required to attend technical schools and to obtain proper certification. 

Mechanical equipment is maintained in County-owned shops, and operating facilities are regularly 
inspected and maintained by System employees.  The County completed a six-year automated meter reading 
(AMR) and meter replacement project which is described below.  Employees of the System throughout the 
County are linked together by a County-owned radio communication system which is interlinked with the 
County police and fire departments.  Maintenance of County sewer lines is enhanced by the use of trucks 
equipped with high velocity water jets and vans equipped with closed circuit television cameras which can be 
maneuvered through the sewer mains to inspect the sewer system.  Operation of the water distribution and 
sewage collection and pumping systems is enhanced by use of a modern supervisory distribution control and 
data acquisition (SCADA) system. 

Two major projects have been completed in the last couple of years that increased the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Public Utilities Department (DPU).  The $17.3 million Automated Meter Reading (AMR) 
project, replaced approximately 99,000 meters.  This project enables meter reading via radio transmission to a 
van traveling through County neighborhoods.  AMR has eliminated manual meter reading errors, reduced the 
number of estimated bills and enabled the Department to serve additional customers without adding staff.  This 
project was substantially completed in November 2013.  Henrico County’s Public Utilities Department also 
implemented Cityworks, a new GIS-centric, asset management system (AMS).  The new AMS was 
implemented by Woolpert, Inc. for a cost of $1.6 million.  This includes the implementation services, the 
initial software costs as well as 10 years of annual maintenance costs.  Cityworks brings many enhancements 
to the Department with the operations division, (which includes the metering section), solid waste division and 
the business division using the work management system.  All 3 divisions are now using mobile computing 
thus making real time updates to work orders in Cityworks.  This allows for the faster flow of information 
between the Department and its customers as well as between divisions.  This eliminates the need to have hand 
written data from paper work orders entered into a system by office staff.  Cityworks interfaces with the 
Department’s billing system, CIS Infinity, as well as Flexidata (sewer line CCTV).  The GIS-centric nature of  
Cityworks allows the Department to realize its goal of having GIS as its central asset registry.  The system was 
fully implemented in the operations division in the summer of 2014 and the other divisions were added in 
August of  2015.  Future plans are to bring other DPU divisions (construction and design) and other Henrico 
County departments online including Public Works, General Services, and Recreation and Parks. 

Rates and Charges 

The most recent rate increase, effective July 1, 2015, was approximately a 3 percent increase in water 
and sewer rates. The Board of Supervisors also increased connection fees by approximately 3 percent effective 
October 1, 2015. 

Water and sewer rates are based on a forecast model compiled annually by the County.  Fiscal year 
2017 budgeted revenues are based on an approved 5 percent rate increase. Estimates for succeeding years are 
based on 5 percent annual rate increases and customer base growth rates starting at 0.75% in 2016 and growing 
to 1.5% by 2020, anticipating continued improvement in the construction industry.  A schedule of rates, fees, 
and charges effective as of the date of this Official Statement is included in the following tables. 



A-4 

WATER AND SEWER RATES 
(Effective since July 1, 2015) 

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS 

Water and sewer customers are billed every two months and pay both a service charge and a volume 
charge for water and sewer services. 

Bi-Monthly Service Charge Water Sewer 
   
 Service Charge for Residences   
 (5/8" meter) .............................................................................................................................   $ 12.85  $ 25.95 
 (If water is not metered there is a flat charge of $68.20 for sewer service)   
   
Volume Charge(3) Water Sewer 
   
    
 The charge for each hundred cubic feet (CCF) of water used(1) ..............................................   $ 2.95  $ 3.13 
 If 6 CCF or less  ......................................................................................................................  1.84 1.92 
   

COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS   
   
Bi-Monthly Service Charge(2) Water Sewer 
   
 5/8" Meter ...............................................................................................................................   $ 12.85  $ 25.95 
 1" Meter  .................................................................................................................................  30.45 42.95 
 1½" Meter ...............................................................................................................................  55.90 62.95 
 2" Meter ..................................................................................................................................  85.90 90.90 
 3" Meter ..................................................................................................................................  141.65 153.75 
 4" Meter ..................................................................................................................................  227.50 243.15 
 6" Meter ..................................................................................................................................  448.85 484.05 
 8" or 10" Meter .......................................................................................................................  880.20      828.60 
   
Volume Charge Per CCF(2) Water Sewer 
   
 First 10,000 CCF.....................................................................................................................    $   2.95  $ 3.13 
 Next 70,000 CCF ....................................................................................................................  2.02 2.24 
 Over 80,000 CCF ....................................................................................................................  1.45 2.02 
  
(1) One hundred cubic feet is a CCF and is approximately 748 gallons. 
(2) Industrial customers are subject to surcharges for discharge of strong wastes in addition to sewer service and volume charges 

listed above. 
(3) The average combined bi-monthly residential water and sewer bill for FY2015-16 is $125.44, based on 14.25 CCF 

consumption.  



A-5 

WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION FEES 
(Effective since October 1, 2015) 

 Water Sewer 

 
Connection 

Fees 

Local 
Facilities

Fees(A) 
Connection 

Fees 

Local 
Facilities

Fees(A) 
     
Single Family Residential with existing 

well and/or septic system .............................  $ 2,415+ $2,710 $2, 960+ $3,990 
Single Family Residential including semi- 

detached dwellings .......................................  $4,850+ $2,710 $5,930+ $3,990 
Multi-Family Residential Apts., 

Townhouses, Condos, & Cluster 
Homes; Duplexes .........................................  $4,850 (per unit) (B) $5,930 (per unit) (C) 

Motel and Hotel ................................................  $2,900 (per room) (B) $3,560(per room) (C) 
Hospital ............................................................  $6,700 (per bed) (B) $8,190 (per bed) (C) 
Nursing Homes and Dormitories ......................  $4,465 (per bed) (B) $5,465 (per bed) (C) 
Facilities providing permanent housing for 

elderly or handicapped persons and 
operated by charitable, non-stock, non- 
profit organizations which are exempted 
by § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code .............................................................  $1,720 (per unit) (B) $2,110 (per unit) (C) 

     
All other business, industrial & public 

buildings based on meter size 
as follows:     

     
5/8" .....................................   $    4,850 (B)  $       5,930 (C) 
1" ........................................  17,340 (B) 23,120 (C) 
1½"  ....................................  34,605 (B) 46,250 (C) 
2" ........................................  68,680 (B) 91,505 (C) 
3" ........................................  137,375 (B) 184,215 (C) 
4" ........................................  239,335 (B) 321,430 (C) 
6" ........................................  514,100 (B) 687,225 (C) 
8" ........................................  1,285,250 (B) 1,717,410 (C) 
10" ......................................  2,060,800 (B) 2,756,915 (C) 

  
(A) Local facilities fee will be due where local facilities are available to connector’s property and the costs have not been 

previously assessed against the property. Local facilities are those portions of the County’s water and sewer systems 
which are used to, respectively, deliver water to or collect wastewater from individual users in local areas, subdivisions 
and developments.  Included are local water distribution mains and valves, local wastewater collection mains, water 
service lines, meter setters, meter boxes, wastewater lateral lines to the user’s premises and fire hydrants. 

(B) Local facilities fee is $2,710 for 5/8" meter, $3,305 for 1" meter, $5,250 for 1½" meter and $5,250 for 2" meter.  The 
Director of Public Utilities will determine this fee for meter size in excess of 2". 

(C) Local facilities fee is $3,990 for sewer when applicable. 
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INSTALLATION CHARGES 
(Effective since October 1, 2015) 

WATER INSTALLATION CHARGE TABLE 
(Not including cost of meter) 

METER SIZE SERVICE SIZE INSTALLATION CHARGE 
   

5/8" ¾" $2,710 
5/8" 1" 2,710 
5/8" 1½" 3,305 
1" 1" 2,870 
1" 1½" 3,305 
1" 2" 3,305 
1½" 1½" 5,250 
1½" 2" 5,250 
2" 2" 5,250 

SEWER INSTALLATION CHARGE TABLE 

1) 4" or 6" sewer lateral installation charge = $3,990 

2) County Sewer & Water Main Extension Costs: 

Sewer. $50 per foot for vacant lot or $25 per foot for existing single family residence, plus 
sewer installation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee. 

Water: $30 per foot for vacant lot or $15 per foot for existing single family residence, plus 
water installation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee. 

Billing and Collection Procedures 

The County renders a monthly bill to certain industrial accounts for water and sewer services and to 
Hanover County and Goochland County for water and sewer service.  All other customers of the System are 
billed once every two months.  If an account remains unpaid 30 days after the billing date, a notice is mailed to 
the customer whose account is delinquent and a late payment fee is imposed on the account.  Fifteen days 
thereafter, if the account still has not been paid, service may be discontinued by the County.  The County is 
authorized to enforce the collection of delinquent accounts by judicial proceedings, if necessary. 

Largest Accounts 

The following table lists the 10 largest accounts of the System (excluding Hanover County and 
Goochland County, which purchase water and sewer service from the County on a wholesale basis, and 
excluding the County government) during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 
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Customer Industry 
Fiscal Year  

2015 Billings 
% of Total System 
Operating Revenue 

Coca-Cola Refreshments Beverages $ 427,839 0.42% 

St. Mary's Hospital Healthcare 425,715 0.42% 
Parham Road Apartment Association Real Estate Development, Management 410,737 0.40% 

Fareva Richmond, Inc. Packaging and Labeling Services 403,076 0.40% 
Essex VA Investors LLC DBA Essex Apartments Real Estate Development, Management 381,754 0.37% 

US Residential Real Estate Development, Management 377,582 0.36% 

Crofton Square Association Real Estate Development, Management 352,112 0.35% 

Henrico Doctor's Hospital Healthcare 324,520 0.32% 

Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield Healthcare 305,487 0.30% 
Capital Region Airport Commission Transportation 281,170 0.28% 

Total 
  

$ 3,689,992 3.62% 

 

Budget Fiscal Year 2015-16 

The County closely monitors the System’s financial performance, with specific focus on operating 
revenues and expenditures. The current fiscal year’s budget calls for operating resources of approximately 
$108.6 million, operating expenses of approximately $80.4 million (including debt service), and capital 
spending of approximately $77.1 million. See “WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN” below.  As of this date, the County is expecting that it will finish the 2016 fiscal 
year with revenues and expenses overall substantially as budgeted. 

Budget Fiscal Year 2016-17 

The fiscal year 2017 approved budget includes operating resources of approximately $117.1 million, 
operating expenses of approximately $84.7 million (including debt service), and capital spending of 
approximately $93.7 million. 

Agreements with the City of Richmond 

As mentioned above, the County purchases some of the System’s water requirements from the City of 
Richmond. Approximately 62 percent of the County’s demand is met by the County’s 80 MGD water 
treatment facility which opened in April 2004 at 55 MGD, and was expanded to 80 MGD in May 2015.  In 
FY 2015 the County purchased 6,298,459 CCFs from the City of Richmond and treated 10,105,210 CCFs at 
the County’s plant.  The City treats a limited quantity of wastewater originating from the System.  Both water 
supply and wastewater treatment are provided by the City pursuant to agreements with the County described 
below. 

Water Supply 

On September 28, 1994 (effective as of September 29, 1994), the Board of Supervisors approved a 
water supply contract (the “Contract”) under which the City of Richmond supplies the County with treated 
water, which replaced a contract which was effective July 1, 1985, between the City and the County.  The 
Contract provides that the City will supply the County with water from the City’s distribution system at 
various points around the City, and that the County will distribute the water to the customers of its System.  
The Contract also provides that the County may resell the water to customers of the System located outside the 
County (e.g., Hanover County and Goochland County).  The County has exercised its option under the 
Contract requesting that, after January 1, 2007, the City provide the County up to 35 MGD of capacity.  
Pursuant to the Contract, the County must provide the City with an annual projection of its water requirements 
for the next 10 years and the City must advise the County within 90 days of any modifications or 
improvements to its water system necessary to supply the County’s projected requirements. The County must 
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concur in the making of any modifications or improvements if the costs of such modifications or 
improvements are to be borne by the County.  The Contract provides that the County shall be responsible for 
providing water distribution facilities within the County and that the County will maintain water storage and 
pumping facilities adequate to provide service in the County under the Contract.   

The volume of water supplied by the City to the County is measured by meters and the City renders a 
monthly bill to the County.  Charges payable by the County are determined as set forth in the Contract, based 
on a mutually agreed upon cost of service study which is updated each year.  The Contract is for a term until 
July 1, 2040 and, thereafter, until cancelled upon five years’ notice by either party. See also the section 
“WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN”.  In fiscal year 2015, the County 
paid $11,118,884 to the City under this agreement. 

Wastewater Treatment  

Between 1976 and November 1989, the County undertook the development of the Wastewater 
Treatment Facility in the County which opened in November 1989.  Since then, the County and the City have 
operated under the terms of an agreement effective November 1, 1989.  This agreement provides for the City 
to treat limited flows from the County and for the County to treat limited flows from the City. See also the 
subsection “Properties and Services” located above. 

Agreements with the Counties of Goochland and Hanover 

The County has a water and wastewater agreement with Hanover County to provide water up to 
0.775 MGD and to treat wastewater up to 5.4 MGD. The water agreement was signed April 10, 1995 and is in 
full force and shall continue in full force thereafter, until terminated by either County Manager or County 
Administrator (of respective localities) by giving the other party ten (10) years written notice.  No notice has 
been given to terminate this agreement.  In fiscal year 2015, Hanover County paid the County $2,245,441 
under these agreements. 

Henrico also has a water and wastewater agreement with Goochland County to provide water up to 
5.25 MGD and to treat wastewater up to 0.69 MGD. Both agreements with Goochland were signed June 11, 
2002 and are in full force until June 30, 2032 and shall continue in full force thereafter, until terminated by 
either County Manager or County Administrator (of respective localities) by giving the other party ten (10) 
years written notice.  No notice has been given to terminate this agreement.  In fiscal year 2015, Goochland 
County paid the County $1,127,965 under these agreements. 

Agreement with the County of Cumberland 

A Memorandum of Understanding, dated August 10, 2010, between Henrico and Cumberland 
counties established the terms and conditions for Henrico to proceed with the construction of the reservoir in 
Cumberland County.  Under these terms and conditions, Henrico shall pay the full costs of permitting, 
engineering, and acquiring property for constructing, maintaining and operating the reservoir.  Henrico shall 
reimburse Cumberland County for all costs previously paid by Cumberland for permitting the reservoir 
($2,104,646.09) and all payments Cumberland previously made for the wetland mitigation bank ($505,383).  
In accordance with the MOU, these were paid to Cumberland in August and November 2010, respectively.  

For 50 years from the date of this Memorandum, Henrico shall make an annual contractual payment to 
Cumberland in the amount of $1,131,900.  After this 50 year period, Henrico shall make a payment-in-lieu of 
taxes under the methodology set forth in the Code of Virginia for calculating payments-in-lieu of property 
taxes. 
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System Statistics 

 
  
(1) (mgd) million gallons/day. Average daily flow is based on metered consumption as billed. Wastewater flow is based on 

metered water consumption and calculated as provided by the County ordinance for billing. Calculation of residential sewer 
billing is based on a fixed charge, plus a volume charge. Additional allowance is made for increased consumption of water 
in the summer, which is not related to sewer service. 

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM STATISTICS (unaudited)

Fiscal years ended June 30

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Water:
Number of customers 92,243   92,946   94,006   95,097   95,994   
Miles of water mains 1,547.71   1,558.25   1,572.07   1,581.81   1,594.82   
Hydrants in service 12,091   12,242   12,399   12,529   12,692   
Average daily flow

(mgd)
(1)

33.5   31.7   30.4   28.5   29.8   
Wastewater:

Number of customers 89,355   90,068   91,110   92,125   93,087   
Miles of sewer mains 1,450.13   1,456.11   1,462.95   1,470.16   1,481.36   
Average daily flow

(mgd)
(1)

25.3   25.7   26.2   24.1   23.6   
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SUMMARY OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE SYSTEM 

The following schedule sets forth the revenues and expenses (excluding depreciation and interest 
expenses) of the System for the five fiscal years ended June 30, 2015. The financial data for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2011 through June 30, 2015 has been derived from the audited financial statements of the 
System. The financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with the System’s financial 
statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and notes thereto and the report on the 2015 financial 
statements of independent auditors, which are included as Appendix B. 

Summary of Revenues and Expenses of the System 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Operating Revenue 
Water System $ 44,585,836 $ 45,313,525 $ 45,693,810 $ 45,791,013 $ 50,719,860 
Sewer System $ 42,746,043 $ 45,091,566 $ 46,645,946 $ 49,502,721 $ 51,137,470 
Other $ 782,871 $ 997,791 $ 1,098,202 $ 995,127 $ 1,163,227 

Total Operating Revenue $ 88,114,750 $ 91,402,882 $ 93,437,958 $ 96,288,861 $ 103,020,557

Operating Expenses           
Water System 

Source of Supply $ 10,104,850 $ 12,058,082 $ 10,244,253 $ 13,065,979 $ 12,250,784 
Pumping and Treatment $ 8,344,810 $ 7,650,376 $ 7,912,987 $ 7,571,518 $ 8,205,773 
Transmission and Distribution $ 5,501,309 $ 4,708,065 $ 4,982,879 $ 4,739,981 $ 4,846,808 
Customer Billing and Services $ 1,270,614 $ 1,294,948 $ 1,187,465 $ 1,235,504 $ 1,163,098 
General and Administrative $ 5,674,607 $ 5,257,328 $ 4,936,934 $ 5,233,880 $ 5,088,561 

Total Water System $ 30,896,190 $ 30,968,799 $ 29,264,518 $ 31,846,862 $ 31,555,024

Sewer System           
Treatment and Disposal $ 9,242,817 $ 9,284,743 $ 10,235,149 $ 11,612,144 $ 11,192,998 
Collection $ 3,086,277 $ 2,866,492 $ 3,509,346 $ 3,308,042 $ 3,473,055 
Pumping $ 7,362,407 $ 6,487,009 $ 6,214,770 $ 8,250,913 $ 7,578,880 
Customer Billing and Services 5 1,195,368 $ 1,254,852 $ 1,150,883 $ 1,196,892 $ 1,127,876 
General and Administrative $ 5,246,778 $ 4,657,568 $ 4,895,617 $ 5,463,642 $ 5,135,155 

Total Sewer System $ 26,133,647 $ 24,550,664 $ 26,005,765 $ 29,831,633 $ 28,507,964 
Total Operating Expenses $ 57,029,837 $ 55,519,463 $ 55,270,283 $ 61,678,495 $ 60,062,988 
Net Operating Revenue $ 31,084,913 $ 35,883,419 $ 38,167,675 $ 34,610,366 $ 42,957,569 

Non-Operating Income           
Investment Income $ 714,317 5 1,051,604 $ 1,024,146 $ 2,074,889 $ 799,161 
Connection Fee $ 4,495,522 $ 6,912,447 $ 8,658,539 $ 6,100,959 $ 9,096,093 

Add debt service contribution by County GF(1) $ 435,975 $ 435,975 $ 435,976 $ 1,610,976 $ 1,607,475 

Miscellaneous(2) $ 1,391,414 $ (2,092,742) $ (103,495) $ (456,562) $ (3,003,808) 
Total Other Income $ 7,037,228 $ 6,307,284 $ 10,015,166 $ 9,330,262 $ 8,498,921 
Total Amounts Available for Debt Service  $ 38,122,141 $ 42,190,703 $ 48,182,841 $ 43,940,628 $ 51,456,490 

 

  
(1) Represents reimbursement from the County’s General Fund to Public Utilities for certain infrastructure and road 

improvements related to economic development projects at White Oak Technology Park.  These transfers from the 
General Fund are made in connection with financing agreements relating to these particular projects.  See Note 7 to the 
System’s audited financial statements attached hereto as “APPENDIX B.”  The County does not routinely transfer 
amounts from the General Fund to the System for its general operations or to pay debt service on the Bonds issued 
under the Bond Resolution. 

(2) Miscellaneous includes amortization, loss or gain on early retirement of fixed assets, sale of vehicles, sale of 
equipment, grant funds, VA nutrient credits, and entries from Central Automotive Maintenance (CAM) 
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HISTORICAL DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio under the Resolution 

FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 

Total Operating Revenue  $88,114,750  $91,402,882  $93,437,958  $96,288,861  $ 103,020,557  
Total Operating Expenses  (57,029,837) (55,519,463) (55,270,283) (61,678,495) (60,062,988) 
Debt Service Contribution from 
County General Fund(1) 435,975  435,975  435,976  1,610,976  1,607,475  

Less Specific Excluded Revenues(2)              —-                —  (220,200)  (31,166) (50,044) 
Revenues Available for Debt 
Service 31,520,888  36,319,394  38,383,451  36,190,176  44,515,000  

Debt Service 14,731,819 16,652,853 15,365,027 15,069,891 16,997,118 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio Under 
the Resolution 2.14 2.18 2.50 2.40 2.62 

(1) Represents reimbursement from the County’s General Fund to Public Utilities for certain infrastructure and road improvements related 
to economic development projects at White Oak Technology Park.  These transfers from the General Fund are made in connection 
with financing agreements relating to these particular projects.  See Note 7 to the System’s audited financial statements attached hereto 
as “APPENDIX B.”  The County does not routinely transfer amounts from the General Fund to the System for its general operations or 
to pay debt service on the Bonds issued under the Bond Resolution. 

(2) Miscellaneous includes amortization, loss or gain on early retirement of fixed assets, sale of vehicles, sale of equipment, grant funds, 
VA nutrient credits, and entries from Central Automotive Maintenance (CAM) 

Source:  County Department of Utilities.  See “APPENDIX D-SUMMARY OF RESOLUTIONS” hereto. 

 

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio Using All System Revenues 

FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 

Revenues Available for Debt 
Service under Resolution $31,520,888 $36,319,394 $38,603,651 $36,221,342  $ 44,565,044 
Plus: 
Connection Fees 4,495,522 6,912,447 8,658,539 6,100,959  9,096,093 
Investment Earnings 714,317 1,051,604 1,024,146 2,074,889  799,161 
Miscellaneous (1) 1,391,414  (2,092,742) (103,495) (456,562) (3,003,808) 

All System Revenues 38,122,141 42,190,703 48,182,841 43,940,628  51,456,490 

Debt Service 14,731,819 16,652,853 15,365,027 15,069,891 16,997,118 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.59 2.53 3.14 2.92 3.03 

(1) Miscellaneous includes amortization, loss or gain on early retirement of fixed assets, sale of vehicles, sale of 
equipment, grant funds, VA nutrient credits, and entries from Central Automotive Maintenance (CAM) 

 
Source:  County Department of Utilities. 

 

 



 

A-12 

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS  

The following table sets forth for each fiscal year ending June 30 the approximate amounts payable from the revenues of the System as principal of and interest on its 
Outstanding Parity Bonds. 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ending June 30, Debt Service on Outstanding Parity Bonds(2) Series 2016 Bonds 

Outstanding Series 2009B Recovery Zone 
Economic Development Revenue Bonds 

Total Debt  
Service 

 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Subsidy(3) Total  

2016 $7,705,000  $8,702,075  $16,407,075  $0 $0 $0 $0 $598,003 -$245,689 $352,314 $16,759,389 
2017 7,930,000  5,983,819  13,913,819   1,810,000 4,996,274 6,806,274 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,072,407  
2018 8,185,000  5,723,444  13,908,444  1,275,000 5,747,825 7,022,825 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,283,583  
2019 8,490,000  5,421,944  13,911,944  1,300,000 5,722,325 7,022,325 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,286,583  
2020 4,115,000  5,118,269  9,233,269   5,885,000 5,699,575 11,584,575 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,170,158  
2021 4,270,000  4,954,919  9,224,919   6,015,000 5,464,125 11,479,125 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,056,358  
2022 4,430,000  4,802,944  9,232,944   6,285,000 5,196,675 11,481,675 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,066,933  
2023 4,645,000  4,581,444  9,226,444  6,580,000 4,897,925 11,477,925 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,056,683  
2024 4,880,000  4,349,194  9,229,194   6,885,000 4,591,625 11,476,625 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,058,133  
2025 5,110,000  4,124,194  9,234,194   7,140,000 4,337,500 11,477,500 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,064,008  
2026 5,320,000  3,909,794  9,229,794  7,500,000 3,980,500 11,480,500 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,062,608  
2027 5,510,000  3,717,594  9,227,594   7,875,000 3,605,500 11,480,500 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,060,408  
2028 5,725,000  3,508,394  9,233,394   8,275,000 3,211,750 11,486,750 0 598,003 -245,689 352,314 21,072,458  
2029 5,950,000  3,279,394  9,229,394  2,020,000 2,831,000 4,851,000 1,090,000 598,003 -245,689 1,442,314 15,522,708  
2030 6,190,000  3,041,394  9,231,394   2,120,000 2,730,000 4,850,000 1,125,000 534,205 -219,478 1,439,727 15,521,121  
2031 6,435,000  2,793,794  9,228,794   2,225,000 2,624,000 4,849,000 1,160,000 466,705 -191,746 1,434,959 15,512,752  
2032 6,695,000  2,536,394  9,231,394  2,340,000 2,512,750 4,852,750 1,200,000 395,330 -162,421 1,432,909 15,517,052  
2033 6,960,000  2,268,594  9,228,594   2,455,000 2,395,750 4,850,750 1,240,000 321,494 -132,086 1,429,408 15,508,751  
2034 7,235,000  1,990,194  9,225,194   2,575,000 2,273,000 4,848,000 1,285,000 245,197 -100,739 1,429,458 15,502,651  
2035 7,530,000  1,700,794  9,230,794  2,705,000 2,144,250 4,849,250 1,330,000 166,131 -68,255 1,427,876 15,507,919  
2036 7,790,000  1,440,325  9,230,325   2,840,000 2,009,000 4,849,000 1,370,000 84,296 -34,633 1,419,663 15,498,988  
2037 3,105,000  1,170,725  4,275,725   2,985,000 1,867,000 4,852,000     9,127,725  
2038 3,230,000  1,046,525  4,276,525   3,130,000 1,717,750 4,847,750     9,124,275  
2039 3,360,000  917,325  4,277,325   3,290,000 1,561,250 4,851,250     9,128,575  
2040 3,495,000  782,925  4,277,925   3,455,000 1,396,750 4,851,750     9,129,675  
2041 3,640,000  638,756  4,278,756   3,625,000 1,224,000 4,849,000     9,127,756  
2042 3,790,000  488,606  4,278,606   3,805,000 1,042,750 4,847,750     9,126,356  
2043 3,945,000  332,269  4,277,269   4,000,000 852,500 4,852,500     9,129,769  
2044 4,110,000  169,538  4,279,538   4,195,000 652,500 4,847,500     9,127,038  
2045       4,405,000 442,750 4,847,750     4,847,750  
2046        4,630,000 222,500 4,852,500     4,852,500  

Totals(1) $159,775,000 $89,495,80 $249,270,75 $123,625,000 $87,951,099 $211,576,099 $9,800,000 $10,585,000 ($4,349,004) $16,036,396 $476,883,067 
 
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding. 
(2) Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds Series 2014, dated March 20, 2014; and Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2013, dated February 20, 

2013, Series 2009A, dated December 22, 2009, and Series 2009, dated March 6, 2009; Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2006A (final maturity  May 1, 
2016); and excludes the Refunded Bonds. 

 (3) Federal subsidy adjusted per sequestration, subject to change.  
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WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

The Board of Supervisors annually adopts a Five Year Capital Improvement Program for the System 
(the “CIP”), approving the first year of the CIP for implementation and the remaining four years for planning 
purposes.  The projects set forth in the CIP provide for extensions of service by the System and improvements 
to the System to upgrade existing service.  The 2015-16 through 2019-2020 CIP anticipates the following 
appropriations, as described in the following subsections: 

 

The County expects that net revenues and debt proceeds will fund the CIP, with “pay as you go” 
funding accounting for approximately 46 percent ($290,713,000) and with debt proceeds accounting for 
approximately 54 percent ($346 million) of construction spending over the next six years FY 2016 through 
FY 2020.  It should be noted that many of the projects and improvements in the CIP are in the planning stages, 
with construction cost estimates that are preliminary and contracts that have not been awarded. Hence, the 
overall timing and sizing of the CIP is subject to change.  Only the first year of the CIP is appropriated.  The 
County will carefully consider its funding needs and whether debt is needed each year when preparing a new 
CIP.  

Sewer System 

In January 1977, the County completed a comprehensive study of the County’s wastewater treatment 
system (the “Wastewater Treatment Study”) to evaluate existing facilities and to provide a specific plan of 
development for wastewater transportation and treatment needs for the County.  The study explored various 
alternatives and recommended that the County design and build a regional wastewater transport and treatment 
system. In response to that study, the County constructed the County Wastewater Treatment Facility which 
was placed in service in November 1989.  As County wastewater collection and pumping systems were 
connected to the County Wastewater Treatment Facility, wet-weather flows increased significantly due to 
infiltration and inflow (“I&I”).  The increased I&I resulted in the County entering into a consent agreement in 
June 1993 with the State Water Control Board that requires the County to take certain actions to identify and 
mitigate I&I.  To meet its obligations under the consent agreement, the County expanded its Wastewater 
Treatment Facility from 30 mgd to 45 mgd and constructed nutrient removal facilities to meet new permit 
limits for phosphorus, ammonia and nitrogen.  In addition, The County replaced and expanded its effluent 
filters.  The filter replacement and expansion was substantially completed August 19, 1996 and the expansion 
and nutrient removal project was substantially completed March 14, 1997. 

On January 28, 1998, the Board of Supervisors authorized a contract to design improvements and 
expansion of the Water Reclamation Facility to 75 MGD.  The expansion of the facility to 75 MGD was 

FY 2016-2020 Capital Improvement Plan 

FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 Total

Wastewater $36,450,000 $83,900,000 $52,375,000 $35,825,000 $50,500,000 $259,050,000

Water (exclusive of Cobbs Creek) $9,050,000 $6,150,000 $13,150,000 $5,050,000 $26,725,000 $60,125,000
Cobbs Creek Reservoir Project

 (1)
$20,000,000 $120,000,000 $140,000,000

Total $65,500,000 $210,050,000 $65,525,000 $40,875,000 $77,225,000 $459,175,000
Previous Years Appropriations

 (2)
$177,538,000 $177,538,000

Combined Capital Improvement Plan $243,038,000 $210,050,000 $65,525,000 $40,875,000 $77,225,000 $636,713,000

Planned Bond Issues
 (3) 

$90,000,000 $148,000,000 $108,000,000 $346,000,000

(1)
 See additional information on the Cobbs Creek Reservoir project on A-14.

(2) 
Planned Bond Issues include funding for projects approved in prior capital budgets.

(3) 
Current estimate of future bond issues.
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completed in August 2005 at a cost of $101,000,000. The current facility is designed to comply with the 
nutrient requirements of the 2007 Chesapeake Bay Act. 

The County entered into a second consent order in January 2003 with the State Water Control Board 
that required the County to submit certain manuals and reports relating to the operation of the wastewater 
collection and treatment systems as well as setting a completion schedule for 30 infiltration and inflow 
removal projects.  All manuals and reports were submitted and all projects in the January 2003 schedule were 
completed. 

In March 2005, the consent order was amended to set the completion of the Water Reclamation 
Facility expansion to 75 MGD  and to set a schedule for the completion of the Fourmile Creek Trunk Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project.  The Water Reclamation Facility expansion to 75 MGD was completed, on time, in the 
fall of 2015 and the Fourmile Creek Trunk Sewer Rehabilitation Project was continued on a third consent 
order. 

The County entered into a third consent order in December 2010 with the State Water Control Board 
that required the County to submit a standard operating procedure manual relating to the operation of the 
Wastewater Reclamation Facility and completion of the Fourmile Creek Trunk Sewer Rehabilitation Project as 
well as setting a completion schedule for 32 additional infiltration and inflow removal projects.  The standard 
operating procedure manual and the Fourmile Creek project were completed on time.  The 32 infiltration and 
inflow projects are on schedule and are included in the CIP. 

Water System 

The County’s decision to build the Water Treatment Facility began in August 1987, when a 
comprehensive study of the County’s water system (the “Comprehensive Water Study”) was completed by 
Wiley & Wilson, consulting engineers for the County.  The Comprehensive Water Study evaluated existing 
facilities for water supply, storage and distribution, including an updating of a model for use in evaluating the 
County’s existing facilities and projecting the need for future improvements. 

The Comprehensive Water Study recommended that the County construct a water treatment facility to 
meet the long-term needs of the County.  In 1988, the Board of Supervisors approved inclusion of the Water 
Treatment Facility in the CIP and in June 1988, the County submitted an application for the required permits 
from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (the “Corps of Engineers”) and State Water Control Board to 
construct a water supply intake structure and to withdraw water from the James River for treatment at the 
Water Treatment Facility.  The Corps of Engineers prepared an environmental impact statement and issued the 
required permit for the water supply intake structure in the James River on October 18, 1996. 

The Water Treatment Facility was completed in April 2004. The total cost of the plant and all related 
infrastructure was $185,000,000.  Annual operating and maintenance costs are budgeted at approximately 
$8,195,000 for fiscal year 2016.  Since the plant startup, the facility has met all State and Federal requirements. 

The expansion of the Water Treatment Facility to 80 MGD was completed in May 2015 at an 
approximate cost of $13,800,000.  

Cobbs Creek Reservoir 

Spurred by a major state-wide drought in 2002, the Cobbs Creek Reservoir project is designed to 
create an environmentally sensitive way to provide a regional raw water supply that is expected to 
accommodate the projected growth of all three counties through the year 2055 and to decrease potential water 
usage restrictions.  
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The Cobbs Creek Reservoir Project is a river flow augmentation facility that will discharge up to 100 
million gallons per day of raw water into the James River during periods of low flow in the river.  Flow 
augmentation will have a beneficial impact on aquatic and finfish species that might be stressed during a low 
flow period.  In return for augmentation of flow in the river, the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality 
has increased the water withdrawal permit by 30 MGD (to 75 MGD) from the James River for Henrico County 
and will issue withdrawal permits to Powhatan and Cumberland Counties for water supply purposes.  The 
County does not yet have an agreement with Powhatan but expects to enter into a capacity and commodity 
charge agreement consistent with its arrangements with other neighboring jurisdictions. 

With an estimated cost of $280,000,000, the reservoir is owned and will be operated by Henrico 
County while located adjacent to the James River in Cumberland County.  The reservoir will be designed to 
provide 14.8 billion gallons of raw water storage within 1,117 acre normal pool area.  The project consists of 
several major components: a river intake structure, raw water pump station, transfer pipeline lines, inlet/outlet 
tower and one major and one saddle dam.  With this system, raw water will be pumped from the James River 
into the reservoir when river flow is adequate.  Controlled releases from the reservoir during low flow periods 
in the James River will benefit aquatic resources and recreation.  

Design and Schedule 

The County has acquired all of the land necessary for the Cobbs Creek Reservoir project.  The first 
phase of construction is on the utility realignment corridor. Relocation of overhead electric utility and 
underground gas lines has begun and is scheduled to be completed during the summer of 2016.  Construction 
on the reservoir and associated facilities is expected to begin in 2017, with an anticipated completion date in 
2021.  It is anticipated that it will take approximately 2 years to fill the reservoir, accordingly the reservoir 
should be completed and ready for use by 2023. 

Budget and Expenditures 

Through January 2016, approximately $62,270,000 has been expended for payments to Cumberland 
County, and for engineering, legal requirements, permits, staff time, land acquisitions, and the beginning 
construction on the realignment corridor.  

Other Water and Sewer CIP Projects  

In addition to the Cobbs Creek Reservoir project, the remaining projects set forth in the CIP are 
needed to address system rehabilitation requirements and to provide services for future growth.  These projects 
are defined in the Department’s master plan titled 2007 Water and Sewer Facilities Plan dated December 2007.  
The projects can be summarized in the following categories with their projected five year appropriation 
estimates: 

FY 2016 to FY 2020 Capital Improvement Plan
Project Appropriation 

Water Transmission and Distribution $34,125,000 
Water System Rehabilitation $16,000,000 
SCADA System Replacement $10,000,000 
Sewer Treatment $28,700,000 
Sewer Collection and Pumping $115,900,000 
Sewer Rehabilitation $114,450,000 

 
Water Transmission and Distribution projects provide for improvements to water pumping and storage 

facilities, extension of water distribution mains, and construction of planned water transmission pipelines.  
Water System Rehabilitation addresses needed replacement of aging infrastructure necessary to insure 
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reliability of the water supply system.  SCADA System Replacement will provide state of the art supervisory 
control and data acquisition system to manage the water and sewer systems and allow remote operation of 
water and sewer facilities.  Sewer Treatment provides for improvements and upgrades to the Water 
Reclamation Facility to ensure compliance with federal and state requirements for this facility.  Sewer 
Collection and Pumping includes pumping station upgrades and improvements, construction of flow 
equalization basins and provision of collector and trunk sewers to provide capacity to serve growth needs of 
the County.  Sewer Rehabilitation implements a Wet Weather Control Plan for rehabilitation and replacement 
of existing sewers necessary to reduce wet weather overflows and ensure capacity for service to existing and 
future customers. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Honorable Members of the Board of Supervisors 

County of Henrico, Virginia: 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Water and Sewer Revenue Fund (the Fund), 

an enterprise fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia (the County), as of and for the year ended June 30, 

2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, 

and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Water and Sewer Revenue Fund, an enterprise fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia, as of 

June 30, 2015, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
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Emphasis of Matters 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Fund’s financial statements present only the Fund and 

do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the County of Henrico, Virginia as of 

June 30, 2015, the changes in its financial position, or where applicable, its cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our opinion is not modified with 

respect to this matter. 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2015, the Fund adopted Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions 

– an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, and GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for 

Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date, which provide new accounting guidance that 

addresses accounting and financial reporting for pensions that are provided to the employees of state and 

local governmental employers through pension plans that are administered through trusts. Our opinion is not 

modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the Management’s Discussion and Analysis on 

pages 3 through 10 and the Schedules of Required Supplementary Information, including the Schedule of 

the Fund’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Employer Contributions, on 

pages 30 and 31 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not 

a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 

considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 

appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 

required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 

information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, 

the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 

statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 

procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Fund’s financial statements. The 

accompanying supplementary information listed as Other Supplementary Information in the table of contents 

included in Exhibits I through VIII is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part 

of the basic financial statements. The Other Supplementary Information has not been subjected to the 

auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express 

an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

 

November 23, 2015 
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND 

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (unaudited) 

June 30, 2015 

 (Continued) 

The following discussion and analysis of the County of Henrico, Virginia (the County) Water and Sewer Revenue 

Fund’s (the Fund) financial performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal year 

ended June 30, 2015. Please read it in conjunction with the Fund’s financial statements and related notes to the 

financial statements which follow this discussion and analysis. 

Financial Highlights for FY 2015 

The Fund’s Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position reported an increase in total net 

position of $21.8 million in fiscal year 2015 compared to an increase of $16.5 million in fiscal year 2014. 

The Fund’s total net capital assets were $1,191.0 million at June 30, 2015, compared to $1,162.7 million at June 30, 

2014. The Fund’s total net position was $1,071.0 million as of June 30, 2015, up from $1,063.6 million as of 

June 30, 2014. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Fund’s basic financial statements. The 

Fund’s basic financial statements are comprised of the following three statements, as well as the notes to the 

financial statements: (1) balance sheet; (2) statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position; and 

(3) statement of cash flows. 

The balance sheet presents information on all of the Fund’s assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities 

and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. The Fund’s net position is one way 

to measure the Fund’s financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful 

indicator of whether the financial position of the Fund is improving or deteriorating. Nonfinancial factors should 

also be considered when evaluating the Fund’s financial condition, such as the physical condition of the Fund’s 

infrastructure, potential for growth of the customer base, and the stability of the local economy. 

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position presents information on revenues, expenses, 

and how the Fund’s total net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are 

reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the changes occurs, regardless of the timing of the related 

cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in the statement for some items that will only result in cash 

flows in future fiscal periods. The increase or decrease in net position may serve as an indicator of the effect of the 

Fund’s current-year operations on its financial position. 

The statement of cash flows summarizes all of the Fund’s cash flows into three categories: cash flows from 

operating activities; cash flows from capital and related financing activities; and cash flows from investing 

activities. The statement of cash flows, along with the related notes and information in the other financial 

statements, can be useful in assessing the following: 

 The Fund’s ability to generate future cash flows, 

 The Fund’s ability to pay its debt as it matures, 

 Reasons for the difference between the Fund’s operating cash flows and operating income, and 
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (unaudited) 

June 30, 2015 

 (Continued) 

 The effect on the Fund’s financial position from cash and noncash transactions from investing, capital, 

and financing activities. 

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the 

information provided in the financial statements. 

Financial Analysis of the Water and Sewer Fund 

The following table reflects the condensed balance sheet information for the Fund as of June 30, 2015 and 2014 

(in millions): 

Dollar Percentage

2015 (1) 2014 Change Change

Current assets - unrestricted $ 78.0 $ 46.8 $ 31.2 66.7 %

Restricted assets 68.1 111.2 (43.1) (38.8)
Capital assets, net 1,191.0 1,162.7 28.3 2.4

Other assets 8.9 9.5 (0.6) (6.3)

Total assets 1,346.0 1,330.2 15.8 1.2

Deferred outflows of resources:

Deferred loss on debt refunding, net 6.8 7.1 (0.3) (4.2)

Pension contributions after 

     the measurement date 2.0 — 2.0 —

Total deferred outflows of resources 8.8 7.1 1.7 (4.2)

Total assets and

deferred outflows $ 1,354.8 $ 1,337.3 $ 17.5 1.3 %

Current liabilities $ 26.4 $ 22.9 $ 3.5 15.3 %

Unearned revenues 17.9 18.4 (0.5) (2.7)

Net pension liability 12.1 — 12.1 —

Long-term liabilities 223.8 232.4 (8.6) (3.7)

Total liabilities 280.2 273.7 6.5 2.4

Deferred inflow of resources:        

Net difference between projected and actual

   earnings on pension plan investments 3.6 — 3.6 —
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 (Continued) 

PY Dollar Percentage

2015 (1) 2014 Change Change

Fund net position:  

Net investment in capital assets $ 1,004.9 1,013.6 (8.7) (0.9)

Restricted 17.0 17.0 —  

Unrestricted 49.1 33.0 16.1 48.8

Total fund net position 1,071.0 1,063.6 7.4 0.7

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of     

resource and fund net position $ 1,354.8 $ 1,337.3 $ 17.5 1.3 %

 

(1) The Fund implemented GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 in fiscal year 2015. See Notes 1 and 5 of the notes to the financial statements 

for more information. Fiscal year 2014 was not restated herein. 

The Fund’s total net position increased to $1,071.0 million from $1,063.6 million as a result of the change in net 

position of $7.4 million comprised mainly of: $10.8 million from operations, $9.1 million from connection fees, 

$10.2 million from donated infrastructure assets, $1.6 million contribution from the general fund for debt service 

and $0.8 million from investment income, offset by $7.7 million in interest expense, $3.0 million in other non-

operating expenses mostly the loss of the retirement of assets and a restatement of the beginning balance due to 

the implementation of GASB 68 of $14.4 million.  See Note 1 to the financial statements. 
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 (Continued) 

The following table shows the revenues and expenses of the Fund’s activities for the years ended June 30, 2015 

and 2014 (in millions):
Dollar Percentage

2015 (1) 2014 Change Change

Revenues:

Operating revenues:

Water system $ 50.7 $ 45.8 $ 4.9 10.7 %

Sewer system 51.1 49.5 1.6 3.2

Other 1.2 0.9 0.3 33.3

Nonoperating income:  

Connection fees 9.1 6.1 3.0 49.2

Donated assets 10.2 7.3 2.9 39.7

Debt service contributions 1.6 1.6 — 0.0

Investment income 0.8 2.1 (1.3) (61.9)

Total revenues 124.7 113.3 11.4 10.1

Expenses:  

Water system operating expenses 31.6 31.8 (0.2) (0.6)

Sewer system operating expenses 28.5 29.8 (1.3) (4.4)

Depreciation and amortization 32.1 30.3 1.8 5.9

expense

Interest expense, net of capitalized   

interest 7.7 4.5 3.2 71.1

Other non-operating expense 3.0 0.4 2.6 650.0

Total expenses 102.9 96.8 6.1 6.3

Change in fund net position 21.8 16.5 $ 5.3 32.1 %

Total fund net position, beginning, as  

restated for 2015 1,049.2 1,047.1   

Total fund net position, ending $ 1,071.0 $ 1,063.6   

 
(1) The Fund implemented GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 in fiscal year 2015. See Notes 1 and 5 of the notes to the financial statements 

for more information. Fiscal year 2014 was not restated herein. 

Revenues 

For fiscal year 2015, operating revenues from the sale of water and sewer services totaled $103.0 million. This is 

an increase in water and sewer operating revenues of $6.8 million, or approximately 7.1%, from fiscal year 2014. 

Revenues have increased for fiscal year 2015 due to a 5% rate increase, and additional water revenues generated 

from irrigation as a result of a dry late summer 2014 and a relatively normal winter and spring 2015 compared to 

an extremely wet winter and spring in FY2014. 

For fiscal year 2015, non-operating income, net was $18.7 million, an increase of $2.0 million, or 12.0%. This 

increase is mainly due to a $3.0 million increase in connection fees and a $2.9 million increase in donated assets 
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as a result of the continued modest rebound in the construction industry, partially offset by a decrease in investment 

income due to the spending of bond proceeds during the year on CIP projects.  

Expenses 

For fiscal year 2015, operating expenses totaled $60.1 million, a $1.5 million or 2.4% decrease from the prior fiscal 

year. The decrease is mainly due to the $400,000 decrease in water pumping expenses since no water tanks were 

painted in 2015. Funds are being carried forward into 2016 to combine with 2016 budgeted funds to paint one of 

the Utilities’ larger tanks, and the $800,000 decrease in the payment to the City of Richmond for water. 

Depreciation expense increased $1.8 million or 5.9% based on the $70.5 million in assets added to capital assets 

over the fiscal year. Interest expense increased due to a full year of interest on the $74.2 million in bonds issued in 

April of FY2014. 

Budgetary Analysis of the Water and Sewer Revenue Fund 

For fiscal year 2015, the Fund reflects a total fund net position of $1,071 million. Included in the fund net 

position are $21.8 million of revenues in excess of expenses. The primary reason for the Fund’s increase in fund 

net position mirrors those highlighted in the financial analysis:
Water and Sewer Revenue Fund Budget

Original Revised Actual
(In millions)

Revenues:
Water system operating revenues $ 49.0 $ 49.0 $ 50.7
Sewer system operating revenues 49.2 49.2 51.1
Other operating revenues 2.1 2.1 1.2
Nonoperating income, net 6.6 6.6 18.7

Total revenues 106.9 106.9 121.7

Expenses:
Operating expenses 60.1 64.8 60.1
Depreciation — — 32.1
Interest expense, net of capitalized 17.5 17.1 7.7

interest

Total expenses 77.6 81.9 99.9

Change in fund net position $ 29.3 $ 25.0 $ 21.8

 

Donated assets and connection fees are not budgeted in non-operating income; however, they are included in actual 

revenues ($19.3 million for 2015). The entire debt service payment including principal is budgeted in expenses; 

however, only interest expense less capitalized interest costs were included in the actual expenses. Also, the Fund 

does not budget for depreciation but it is included in the actual expenses. 
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 (Continued) 

Water and Sewer Revenue Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Revenue and other income exceeded expenditures by $21.8 million for fiscal year 2015. Actual Fund revenues 

exceeded original budgeted revenues by $14.8 million during fiscal year 2015. This increase is attributable in part 

to development, resulting in $10.2 million in donated assets and $3.0 million increase in connection fee revenue. 

The Fund does not budget for donated assets as they are noncash transactions. Actual operating revenues were 

more than the original budget by $3.6 million or 3.7% due in a large part to the 5% rate increase. Actual fiscal year 

2015 operating expenses were equal to the budgeted expenses of $60.1 million. The revised budget includes 

purchase orders that are carried forward into the next fiscal year.  

Capital Assets 

At the end of fiscal year 2015, the Fund had net capital assets totaling $1,191.0 million, which represents a net 

increase of $28.3 million or 2.4% over the fiscal year 2014 balance. The majority of this increase is due to capital 

spending on construction projects, some of which were completed during the year while others are still in 

construction in progress. The fiscal year 2015 additions to capital assets, including capitalized interest costs of $1.9 

million, and included improvements to pump stations and the plants, construction of mains and basins, a new work 

management system in the operations division, and water and sewer pipe rehabilitation projects. The Fund 

recognized $10.2 million in donated infrastructure from developers. The increase in accumulated depreciation is a 

result of depreciation expense of $32.1 million, partially offset by retirements. For more detailed information on 

the Fund’s capital assets, see note 2 of the notes to the financial statements. 

The following table shows a summary of the changes in capital assets during fiscal year 2015 (in millions): 

June 30, 2014 Dollar Change June 30, 2015

Nondepreciable capital assets:

Land $ 18.7 $ 0.1 $ 18.8

Construction in progress 103.0 (6.8) 96.2

Depreciable capital assets:

Building 358.3 14.8 373.1

Infrastructure 1,033.8 28.8 1,062.6

Equipment 134.5 20.1 154.6

Improvements other than buildings 1.4 — 1.4

Accumulated depreciation (487.0) (28.7) (515.7)

Total $ 1,162.7 $ 28.3 $ 1,191.0
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Long-Term Debt and Restriction on Resources 

At the end of fiscal year 2015, the Fund had total revenue bonds payable outstanding of approximately 

$222.9 million.  

On April 10, 2014, the Fund issued $74,165,000 of Water and Sewer Revenue bonds. The interest rate on these 

bonds is between 1% and 5% and the final maturity will occur on May 1, 2044. The annual principal payments 

rage from $1,315,000 to $4,110,000. The Series 2014 Bonds were issued to provide the funds needed to finance 

improvements, additions and extensions to the Water and Sewer System of the County. 

On March 7, 2013, the Fund issued $68,410,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund a portion of the 

outstanding balance of the 2006 Refunding Bonds. The interest rate on these bonds is between 1.0% and 5.0% and 

the final maturity will occur on May 1, 2036. The annual principal payments range from $100,000 to $4,800,000. 

On December 22, 2009, the Fund issued $22,915,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the entire 

outstanding balance of the Variable Rate Series 1997 VRA Bonds. The interest rate on these bonds is between 2% 

and 5% and the final maturity will occur on June 30, 2028. The annual principal payments range from $1,175,000 

to $2,050,000. 

The Fund also issued $9,800,000 of Taxable-Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds. Pursuant to the 

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, the Fund will receive a cost subsidy payment from the United 

States Treasury equal to 45% of the interest payable on the Series 2009B Bonds on each interest payment date. 

These bonds were issued at an interest rate of between 5.853% and 6.153%. The bonds mature on June 30, 2036. 

On February 19, 2009, the Fund issued $70,360,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the entire 

outstanding balance of the 1999 bond series. The interest rate on these bonds is between 2.25% and 5% and the 

final maturity will occur on May 1, 2028. The annual principal payments range from $315,000 to $5,065,000. 

The Fund’s revenue is pledged as collateral for components of its long-term debt, including the 2014 and 2009B 

Revenue Issue, the 2013, 2009B and 2009 Refunding Issues, and the 2006 Revenue and Refunding Issue 

(collectively, the Bonds). 

The covenants of the Bonds require that in each year the net operating revenues of the Fund be at least equal to 

1.25 times the debt service requirement for the year. In addition, the covenants prohibit the Fund from issuing any 

bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, or other evidence of indebtedness having in any way a lien and charge 

on the revenues of the water and sewer system prior to the lien and charge created by the covenants for the payment 

of and collateral for the outstanding Bonds. 

Also, the interest due on the Bonds as of July 1, 2015 has been accrued as of June 30, 2015, as required by the 

related covenants. Cash has been restricted for these accruals. In addition, net position has been restricted, and 

equity in County cash and cash equivalents has been restricted in an amount equal to the maximum annual debt 

service requirements for the Bonds. See note 3 of the notes to the financial statements for more information 

concerning the Fund’s long-term debt. 
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Economic Factors 

In the last three years, the Fund has added approximately 3,050 water and 3,020 sewer customers with the total 

water and sewer customers being just over 95,990 and 93,080, respectively, as of June 30, 2015. Most of this gain 

is attributable to residential customers. Growth in customers for fiscal year 2015 was approximately 1.0% and for 

fiscal year 2014 and 2013 it was approximately 1.1% each and for fiscal year 2012 was 0.8%, all of which are low 

compared to the pre-recession annual increases of approximately 2%-2.5%. The recent steady increases reflect the 

slight improvements in residential and commercial growth in the County. The growth for fiscal year 2015 has 

remained consistent with fiscal years 2014 and 2013 which is supported by the similar donated asset values in 

fiscal years 2015, 2014 and 2013, $10.2 million, $7.3 million and $7.8 million, respectively. 

Contacting the Fund’s Financial Management 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a 

general overview of the Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the revenues it collects. 

Questions concerning this report or requests for additional financial information should be directed to the Director 

of Public Utilities, P.O. Box 27032, Henrico, VA 23273-7032. 
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Balance Sheet

June 30, 2015

Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources

Current assets - unrestricted:
Equity in County cash and cash equivalents $ 55,689,150  

Accounts and notes receivable:
Water and sewer 20,233,875  
Due from other County funds 322,964  
Other 479,927  
Less allowance for doubtful accounts and notes (283,900)  

Net accounts and notes receivable 20,752,866  

Inventory – materials and supplies 1,500,891  
Prepaids 20,000  

Total current assets - unrestricted 77,962,907  

Current assets - restricted:
Equity in County cash and cash equivalents restricted for:

Maximum annual debt service 17,002,141  
Long-term debt principal – current portion 7,705,000  
Long-term debt interest 1,199,174  
Cash held by custodian 10,695,235  
Cash held by trustee 427,500  

Total current assets - restricted 37,029,050  

Total current assets 114,991,957  

Restricted asset - unspent bond proceeds 31,116,508  

Capital assets:
Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings 373,040,303  
Improvements other than buildings 1,426,652  
Infrastructure 1,062,588,512  
Equipment 154,601,182  
Less accumulated depreciation (515,727,040)  

Net depreciable capital assets 1,075,929,609  

Nondepreciable capital assets:
Construction in progress 96,188,246  
Land 18,838,931  

Total capital assets, net 1,190,956,786  

Other assets:
Capacity rights, net 3,816,423  
Due from other County funds 3,526,963  
Other 1,649,335  

Total assets 1,346,057,972  

Deferred outflows of resources:
Change in pension proportionate share allocation 19,718  

Pension contributions after the measurement date 1,954,902  

Deferred loss on debt refunding, net 6,759,255  

Total deferred outflows of resources 8,733,875  

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 1,354,791,847  

(Continued)
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Balance Sheet

June 30, 2015

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources and Fund Net Position

Current liabilities payable from current assets:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 15,434,087   
Deposits payable 963,087   
Compensated absences – current portion 1,127,060   
Capital lease obligation – current portion 16,445   

Total current liabilities payable from current assets 17,540,679   

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Long-term debt – current portion 7,705,000   
Accrued interest payable 1,199,174   

Total current liabilities payable from restricted assets 8,904,174   

Unearned revenues 17,898,073   

Long-term liabilities:
Net pension liability 12,079,717   
Capital lease obligation – noncurrent portion 18,728   
Compensated absences – noncurrent portion 117,551   
Long-term debt – noncurrent portion 223,655,899   

Total liabilities 280,214,821   

Deferred inflow of resources:

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 3,558,988    

Fund net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,004,934,938   
Restricted 17,002,141   
Unrestricted 49,080,959   

Total fund net position 1,071,018,038   

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources and fund net position  1,354,791,847    

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

B-12



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Year ended June 30, 2015

Operating revenues:
Water system $ 50,719,860   
Sewer system 51,137,470   
Other 1,163,227   

Total operating revenues 103,020,557   

Operating expenses:
Water system:

Source of supply 12,250,784   
Pumping and treatment 8,205,773   
Transmission and distribution 4,846,808   
Customer billings and services 1,163,098   
General and administrative 5,088,561   

Total water system operating expenses 31,555,024   

Sewer system:
Treatment and disposal 11,192,998   
Collection 3,473,055   
Pumping 7,578,880   
Customer billings and services 1,127,876   
General and administrative 5,135,155   

Total sewer system operating expenses 28,507,964   

Operating income before depreciation expense 42,957,569   

Depreciation expense 32,153,051   

Operating income 10,804,518   

Nonoperating income (expense):
Connection fees 9,096,093   
Donated assets 10,247,565   
Debt service contribution by County General Fund 1,607,475   
Investment income 799,161   
Other expense (3,003,808)  

Total nonoperating income, net 18,746,486   

Income before interest expense 29,551,004   

Interest expense – net of capitalized interest 7,756,793   

Change in fund net position 21,794,211   

Total fund net position – June 30, 2014, as restated (note 1) 1,049,223,827   

Total fund net position – June 30, 2015 $ 1,071,018,038   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

B-13



COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA
WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia)

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended June 30, 2015

Operating activities:
Receipts from customers $ 102,662,440   
Payments to suppliers (42,485,348)  
Payments to employees (19,781,667)  

Net cash provided by operating activities 40,395,425   

Capital and related financing activities:
Interest payments (9,776,769)  
Principal payments (7,230,000)  
Debt service contribution by County General Fund 1,928,108   
Contractors – connection fees 9,058,819   
Purchase of capital assets (47,868,937)  
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 108,698   
Virginia Nutrient Removal Credits 312,038   

Net cash provided by capital and related financing activities (53,468,043)  

Investing activities – investment income received 799,161   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (12,273,457)  

Total equity in County cash and cash equivalents – June 30, 2014 136,108,165   

Total equity in County cash and cash equivalents – June 30, 2015 $ 123,834,708   

Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet:
Equity in County cash and cash equivalents $ 55,689,150   
Restricted equity in County cash and cash equivalents 68,145,558   

Total equity in County cash and cash equivalents – June 30, 2014 $ 123,834,708   

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income $ 10,804,518   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 32,153,051   
Decrease in accounts and notes receivable 47,459   
Increase in inventory (24,168)  
Increase in pension contributions after measurement date (21,451)  
Increase in change in proportionate share allocation (19,718)  
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,553,875)  
Increase in difference between projected and actual earnings on pension investments 3,558,988   
Increase in deposits and wages payable 135,071   
Increase in compensated absences 39,442   
Decrease in net pension liability (4,262,171)  
Decrease in unearned revenues (461,721)  

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 40,395,425   

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and capital and related financing activities:
The Water and Sewer Revenue Fund received donated assets in the form of water and sewer
infrastructure provided by developers of new subdivisions throughout the County. The value of
these capital assets and others received for the year ended June 30, 2015 was $10,247,565. The
amount of capital asset purchases accrued in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at
June 30, 2015 was $3,570,934. The amount of interest costs capitalized for the year ended
June 30, 2015 was $1,949,320.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND 

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

  (Continued) 

(1) Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Fund Structure and Purpose – The Water and Sewer Revenue Fund (the Fund) of the County of Henrico, 

Virginia (the County) is accounted for as an enterprise fund of the County. Enterprise funds account for 

operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The intent of 

the Fund is that the cost of providing services will be financed or recovered through charges to users of such 

services. The accrual basis of accounting is used for the enterprise fund wherein revenues are recognized in 

the accounting period in which they are earned, while expenses are recognized in the accounting period in 

which they are incurred. The purpose of this Fund is to account for the construction, operations, and 

maintenance of the County-owned water and wastewater utility. 

Capital Assets and Depreciation – Capital assets are recorded at cost or estimated historical cost, net of 

accumulated depreciation. Cost of capital assets at the creation of the Fund was determined by an appraisal 

firm based on original documents when, such documents were available, and an appraised value adjusted for 

price levels at the date of purchase of the particular asset involved, when original documents were not 

available. Capital asset additions since that date have been recorded at original cost. Capital asset additions 

received through gifts or contributions are recorded as nonoperating income at their estimated fair value at 

the date of receipt. When capital assets are sold or retired, their cost and the related accumulated depreciation 

are removed from the accounts and any gains or losses are reflected in the statement of revenues, expenses 

and changes in fund net position. Depreciation expense is determined using the straight-line method over the 

estimated useful lives of the assets (ranging from 4 to 65 years). The Fund’s capitalization threshold is $5,000 

for land and equipment and $25,000 for buildings, improvements, and infrastructure. 

Inventory – Materials and Supplies – Materials and supplies inventory consists mainly of supplies held for 

consumption, which are costed by methods that approximate average cost. 

Equity in County Cash and Cash Equivalents – Certain cash balances of the Fund are pooled and invested 

with other County funds. Substantially all cash and cash equivalents represent investments in securities 

guaranteed by a United States government agency, bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial 

paper, and repurchase agreements, which have maturities of 90 days or less, which in accordance with U.S. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair 

value. 

In accordance with GAAP, a statement of cash flows has been presented for the Fund. For purposes of this 

statement, restricted cash, which meets the definition of cash and cash equivalents as noted above, has been 

included. Equity in County cash and cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of 90 days or less. 

Other Assets – During fiscal year 2006, the Fund purchased capacity in the Goochland Force Main and Pump 

Station. The carrying amount as of June 30, 2015 was $5,836,660, less $2,020,237 of accumulated 

amortization. The underlying assets are owned by the County of Goochland and the Fund has purchased the 

rights to a certain capacity based on an agreement dated June 11, 2002 that is in effect until June 30, 2032. 
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND 

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia) 
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  (Continued) 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - The Fund reports deferred outflows of resources on its balance 

sheet. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future 

period(s) and is not recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until the applicable period. Employer 

pension contributions made after the actuarial measurement date of June 30, 2014 but before the reporting 

date of June 30, 2015 have been reported as a deferred outflow of resources in the amount of $1,954,902 at 

June 30, 2015. The Fund also reported $19,718 as a deferred outflow of resources, which related to a change 

in the Fund’s proportionate share allocation related to pensions at June 30, 2015. 

The Fund also reports the deferred loss on debt refunding, net as a deferred outflow of resources. The 

deferred loss on refunding, net results from the net difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its 

reacquisition price of the refunding debt. This net difference amount is deferred and amortized over the 

shorter of the life of the refunded debt or the refunding debt. 

The Fund reports deferred inflows of resources on its balance sheet. Deferred inflows of resources represent 

an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 

resources (revenue) until a future period. The Fund reports the difference between the projected and actual 

earnings on pension plan investments as of the actuarial measurement date as a deferred inflow of resources.  

The Fund has reported $3,558,988 at June 30, 2015 as a deferred inflow of resources. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan - For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of 

resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 

fiduciary net position of the Fund’s participation in the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) plan (Plan) and 

additions to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as 

they are reported by VRS.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 

are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair 

value. 

Interest – In accordance with GAAP, the cost of properties for the Fund includes net interest costs on funds 

borrowed to finance the acquisition or construction of major facilities. These net interest costs are capitalized 

during the period of construction only. The Fund incurred interest costs of $9,706,113 in fiscal year 2015, 

of which $1,949,320 was capitalized. 

Compensated Absences – Annual leave is granted to all permanent County employees. County employees 

can earn annual leave at the rate of 4 hours for every 80 standard hours worked up to a maximum of 9 hours 

for every 80 standard hours after 25 years of service. While there is no requirement that annual leave be 

taken, the maximum permissible accumulation is 468 hours for County employees. Accumulated annual 

leave vests and the County is obligated to make payment even if the employee terminates. The liability for 

unused and unpaid annual leave attributable to the Fund is charged to expense and the corresponding liability 

established in the Fund. 

County employees can earn sick leave at the rate of 4 hours for every 80 standard hours worked. Sick leave 

is nonvesting, with the exception of employees retiring from County service. Retiring employees are vested 

at a rate of $2.50 for every hour of sick leave earned with a maximum payment of $5,000. Sick leave is 

accrued under the vesting method which estimates the expected eligibility of all employees to receive 

termination payments. 
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Unearned Revenues – This balance represents advance payments from current customers for future capacity 

to be used of the water treatment plant. 

Connection Fees – All new customers connecting to the Fund’s water and wastewater system are required 

by code to pay connection fees and local facilities fees before being connected to the system. These fees 

cover the cost of water and wastewater facilities to serve new customers. In accordance with GAAP, these 

fees are recorded as nonoperating income. 

Inspection and Engineering Costs – Certain inspection and engineering costs related to private development 

have been capitalized by the Fund in order to account for these costs in the same manner as the private 

development assets contributed to the County. The costs are capitalized based on an hourly rate for time 

spent by County employees on these projects. For the year ended June 30, 2015, the amount capitalized 

approximated $1,656,439. 

Operating Revenues – The Fund’s operating revenues include charges for water and sewer services. 

Operating Expenses – The Fund’s operating expenses include all expenses for providing water and sewer 

services to its customers. 

Estimates – The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and deferred outflows of resources 

and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosures of commitments and contingencies at the 

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

New Accounting Pronouncement - In June 2012, GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial 

Reporting for Pensions – an amendment of GASB No. 27, (the Statement). The objective of the GASB 68 is 

to improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for pensions. It also improves 

information provided by state and local government employers about financial support for pensions that is 

provided by other entities. The Statement results from a comprehensive review of the effectiveness of 

existing standards of accounting and financial reporting for pensions with regard to providing decision-useful 

information, supporting assessments of accountability and creating additional transparency. The Statement 

replaces the requirements of Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pension by State and Local Government 

Employers, as well as the requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures. GASB 68 requires 

employers to recognize a net pension liability (asset) on the statement of net position as employees earn their 

pension benefits and recognize annual pension cost under an “earnings” approach. The net recognized 

pension liability at June 30, 2014 was $16,341,888. 

In November 2013, GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent 

to the Measurement Date – an amendment of GASB 68.  The objective of GASB 71 is to resolve an issue 

regarding application of the transition provisions of GASB 68.  The issue relates to amounts associated with 

contributions, if any, made by a state or local government employer or non-employer contributing entity to 

a defined benefit pension plan after the measurement date of the government’s beginning net pension 

liability.  It also eliminates a potential source of understatement of restated beginning net position and 

expense in a government’s first year of implementing GASB 68. Contributions made subsequent to the 
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measurement date, June 30, 2013, but before the reporting date, June 30, 2014, have been reclassified as a 

deferred outflow of resources of $1,933,451 on the statement of net position of June 30, 2014. 

Restatement of Beginning Net Position

Net position as of June 30, 2014, as previously reported 1,063,632,264$    

Recognition of net pension liability (16,341,888)         

Reclassification of employer contributions to deferred outflow of resources 1,933,451             
Net position as of June 30, 2014, as restated $1,049,223,827

 

(2) Capital Assets and Capacity Rights 

A summary of changes in capital assets and capacity rights for the year ended June 30, 2015 follows: 

Balance Balance

June 30, 2014 Increases Decreases June 30, 2015

Nondepreciable capital assets:

Land $ 18,723,931   115,000   —  18,838,931  

Construction in progress 103,015,183   52,834,775   (59,661,712) 96,188,246  

Depreciable capital assets:

Buildings 358,300,356   17,524,167   (2,784,220) 373,040,303  

Equipment 134,510,400   23,586,286   (3,495,504) 154,601,182  

Improvements other than buildings 1,426,652   —  —  1,426,652  

Infrastructure 1,033,790,772   29,238,241   (440,501) 1,062,588,512  

Total capital assets 1,649,767,294   123,298,469   (66,381,937) 1,706,683,826 

Accumulated depreciation (487,099,542) (32,153,051) 3,525,553   (515,727,040) 

Total – net of

accumulated

depreciation $ 1,162,667,752   91,145,418   (62,856,384) 1,190,956,786 

  

Capacity rights, net $ 4,040,918   —  (224,495) 3,816,423  
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(3) Long-Term Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations 

A summary of changes in long-term debt, including net pension liability for fiscal year 2015 and the 

individual components of long-term debt at June 30, 2015, follows: 

Balance Balance

June 30, 2014 Issuances Payments June 30, 2015

2006 Revenue Issue, refunding  

and new money    

$86,265,000; 4.25% to 5.00% $ 3,735,000   —  (1,820,000) 1,915,000  

2009 Refunding Issue, $70,360,000;

2.25% to 5.0% 50,460,000   —  (2,685,000) 47,775,000  

2009B Recovery Zone Economic 

Development Bonds, New Money,   

$9,800,000; 5.853% to 6.153% 9,800,000   —  —  9,800,000  

2009A Refunding Issue,

$22,915,000;  2% to 5% 21,740,000   —  (1,195,000) 20,545,000  

2013 Refunding Issue,

$68,410,000; 1.0% to 5.0% 68,200,000   —  (215,000) 67,985,000  

2014 Revenue Issue, New Money

$75,000,000; 1.0% to 5.0% 74,165,000   —  (1,315,000) 72,850,000  

Total bonds 228,100,000   —  (7,230,000) 220,870,000  

Premium on debt issued 11,136,344   —  (645,445) 

 

10,490,899  

Current portion of long-term debt

payable from restricted assets (7,230,000) (7,705,000) 

$ 232,006,344   $ 223,655,899  

 

 

Balance due

Balance Balance within

June 30, 2014 Additions Retirements June 30, 2015 one year

Other long-term obligations:  

Compensated absences $ 1,205,169   1,094,456   (1,055,014) 1,244,611   1,127,060  

Pension liability 16,341,888   6,312,767   (10,574,938) 12,079,717   —    

Capital lease obligation 28,148   20,163   (13,138) 35,173   16,445  

17,575,205   7,427,386   (11,643,090) 13,359,501   1,143,505  

 

On April 10, 2014, the Fund issued $74,165,000 of Water and Sewer Revenue bonds. The interest rate on 

these bonds is between 1% and 5% and the final maturity will occur on May 1, 2044. The annual principal 
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payments rage from $1,315,000 to $4,110,000. The Series 2014 Bonds were issued to provide the funds 

needed to finance improvements, additions and extensions to the Water and Sewer System of the County. 

On March 7, 2013, the Fund issued $68,410,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund a portion 

of the outstanding balance of the 2006 Refunding Bonds, $65,945,000. The interest rate on these bonds is 

between 1.0% and 5.0% and the final maturity will occur on May 1, 2036. The annual principal payments 

range from $100,000 to $4,800,000. 

On December 22, 2009, the Fund issued $22,915,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the 

entire outstanding balance of the Variable Rate Series 1997 VRA Bonds. The interest rate on these bonds is 

between 2% and 5% and the final maturity will occur on June 30, 2028. The annual principal payments range 

from $1,175,000 to $2,050,000. 

The Fund also issued $9,800,000 of Taxable-Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds. Pursuant to the 

American Recovery and Investment Act of 2009, the Fund will receive a cost subsidy payment from the 

United States Treasury equal to 45% of the interest payable on the Series 2009B Bonds on each interest 

payment date. These bonds were issued at an interest rate of between 5.853% and 6.153%. The bonds mature 

June 30, 2036. 

On February 19, 2009, the Fund issued $70,360,000 of Water and Sewer Refunding Bonds to refund the 

entire outstanding balance of the Series 1999 Bonds. The interest rate on these bonds is between 2.25% and 

5% and the final maturity will occur on May 1, 2028. The annual principle payments range from $315,000 

to $5,065,000. 

On July 6, 2006, the Fund sold Revenue Bonds Series 2006A $81,470,000 of new money bonds and Series 

2006B $4,795,000 of refunding bonds. Series 2006B refunded the Fund’s then outstanding Series 1994 

bonds. The proceeds of the bonds were used to finance capital additions and extensions to the water and 

sewer system. The bonds mature on May 1st in each of the years 2007 through 2036. 

Defeased Debt – In prior years, the Fund defeased certain Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds by placing the 

proceeds of new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old 

bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the 

Fund’s financial statements. At June 30, 2015, $65,945,000 of Water and Sewer System Revenue and 

Refunding Bonds, which were considered defeased in prior years, remained outstanding. 

Debt Service and Covenants – The Fund’s revenue is pledged as collateral for the 2014 Revenue Issue, 2013 

Refunding Issue, the 2009 Refunding Issue, and the 2006 Revenue and Refunding Issue (collectively, the 

Bonds). 

The General Fund of the County assumed responsibility of certain project costs and was obligated to pay 

debt service in the amount of $23,101,314 or 72.19% of the $32 million revenue bond issue from 1997. Since 

the 1997 debt was refunded in December 2009, the General Fund is now paying 72.19% of the debt service 

on 2009A refunding bond issuance, which was $1,928,108 for fiscal year 2015. The General Fund transferred 

$1,928,108 to the Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, to cover its portion of the debt service 

requirements. In accordance with GAAP, these transfers were recorded as other nonoperating income by the 
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Fund and as an expenditure in the County’s General Fund. Specifically, the $1,607,475 was recorded as a 

contribution from the General Fund and $320,633 was recorded as a principal payment on the loan amount 

due from County explained in note 7. 

The covenants of the bonds require that in each year the net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined by 

the covenants, which in the opinion of Bond Counsel do not include depreciation expense or payments in 

lieu of taxes as an expense, be at least equal to 1.25 times the debt service requirements for the year (principal 

and interest on the bonds and interest on any outstanding Bond Anticipation Notes). In addition, the 

covenants prohibit the County from issuing any bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, or other evidences 

of indebtedness having in any way a lien and charge on the revenues of the Water and Sewer System prior 

to the lien and charge created by the covenants for the payment of and collateral for the outstanding bonds. 

The Fund may issue additional bonds payable, which may be collateralized equally with the outstanding 

bonds for any purpose connected with or pertaining to the Fund, upon compliance with the following 

conditions, among others: 

 One-half of the net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined during any 24 consecutive months out of 

the 30 months immediately preceding the issuance of the additional bonds, shall have been not less than 

1.25 times the maximum annual debt service requirement on all bonds then outstanding and the proposed 

additional bonds; and 

 The net operating revenues of the Fund, as defined during the first full fiscal year following the date 

upon which the project or undertaking for which the proposed additional bonds are being issued is 

anticipated to be completed, shall be estimated by a nationally recognized consulting engineer to be not 

less than 1.25 times the maximum annual debt service requirement on account of all bonds then 

outstanding and the proposed additional bonds. 

Net operating revenues were 2.62 times the annual debt service requirement for the year ended June 30, 

2015. 

Also, the interest due on the bonds as of July 1, 2014 has been accrued as of June 30, 2015, as required by 

the related covenants. Equity in County cash and cash equivalents has been restricted for this accrual. In 

addition, fund net position has been restricted, and equity in County cash and cash equivalents has been 

restricted, in an amount equal to the maximum annual debt service requirements for the bonds. 

Arbitrage – The 2009A and 2009B Revenue Issues were subject to a possible rebate under the federal 

arbitrage rebate regulations. The bond proceeds were on deposit with the Virginia State Non-Arbitrage 

Program and an annual estimate of the arbitrage liability was performed at the end of the fiscal year. The 

Fund estimated that there is no arbitrage liability owed by the Fund as of June 30, 2015. 
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Principal and interest payments on the bonds for the five fiscal years subsequent to June 30, 2015, and thereafter 

are as follows: 

Principal Interest
Years ending June 30:

2016 $ 7,705,000    9,054,388   
2017 7,930,000    8,822,001   
2018 8,185,000    8,561,626   
2019 8,490,000    8,260,126   
2020 8,800,000    7,956,452   
2021 – 2025 50,320,000    33,397,044   
2026 – 2030 50,535,000    21,050,083   
2031 – 2035 41,070,000    12,229,379   
2036 – 2040 22,350,000    5,407,489   
2041 – 2045 15,485,000    1,629,169   

Total $ 220,870,000    116,367,757   

 

(4) Nonmonetary Contributions 

Nonmonetary contributions consist of contributions from developers for water and sewer infrastructure 

constructed by the developer and donated to the County. The value is calculated based on an average cost 

per foot of pipe donated. The County Inspector determines the footage of pipe. Cost of pipe is determined as 

the cost that the County would incur if the County had constructed the asset. In accordance with GAAP, the 

value of these donated capital assets is included in nonoperating income. 

(5) Defined Benefit Pension Plan – Agent Multiple-Employer 

The Fund employees participate in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by 

the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) through the County of Henrico’s participation in the VRS. The 

County allocates net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 

related to pensions, and pension expense to the Fund for its proportionate share based on annual plan 

contributions by the Fund in relation to the County’s annual plan contributions. As a result of the Fund 

participating in the VRS through the County and the County’s allocation of pension amounts, the Fund is 

required by GASB 68 to present its VRS pension disclosures as if it is a cost-sharing employer. 

All full-time, salaried permanent employees must contribute 5 percent of their annual salary to the VRS. 

Benefits vest after five years of service. Plan 1 employees (hired before July 1, 2010) are eligible for an 

unreduced retirement benefit at age 65 with five years of service, or at age 50 with at least 30 years of service 

if elected by the employer payable monthly for life in an amount equal to 1.7% of their average final salary 

(AFS) for each year of credited service. Plan 2 employees (hired on or after July 1, 2010) are eligible for an 

unreduced retirement benefit at the social security normal retirement age with five years of service, or at age 

60 with at least 30 years of service if elected by the employer, payable monthly for life in an amount equal 

to 1.65% of their AFS for each year of credited service. Benefits are actuarially reduced for retirees who 

retire prior to becoming eligible for full retirement benefits. In addition, retirees qualify for annual 

cost-of-living increases limited to 5% per year beginning in their second year of retirement. AFS is defined 
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as the highest consecutive 36 months of salary for Plan 1 members and 60 months of salary for Plan 2 

members. The VRS also provides death and disability benefits. Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as 

amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General Assembly of 

Virginia. The System issues a publicly available CAFR that includes financial statements and required 

supplementary information for VRS. A copy of that report may be obtained by submitting a request to P.O. 

Box 2500, Richmond, VA 23218-2500 or download from the VRS website at 

http://www.varetire.org/pdf/publications/2014-annual-report.pdf. 

The Fund’s contributions to VRS for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014 were $1,954,902 and 

$1,933,451, respectively. As the Fund is a proprietary fund of the County, the employees of the Fund are 

paid through the County’s payroll system. Information concerning the County’s participation in the VRS 

agent-multiple employer defined benefit pension plan can be reviewed in the County’s CAFR. A copy of 

that report may be obtained by writing the County Director of Finance at P.O. Box 90775, Henrico, 

VA 23273-0775 or download from the County’s website at http://henrico.us/finance/divisions/accounting/. 

A. Actuarial assumptions: 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2013 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 

actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Valuation Date  June 30, 2013                    

Measurement Date   June 30, 2014                           

Discount Rate   7.0%                          

Inflation    2.5%          

Payroll Growth   2.0%                  

Projected Salary Increases  3.50% to 5.35% per year 

Investment Rate of Return  7.0%, net of pension plan investment expense                                                   

Cost of Living Adjustment  2.5% per year for Plan 1 employees and 2.25% for Plan 2 employees 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for Males or Females, as appropriate, 

with adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale AA to 2020. The mortality tables are adjusted 

forward and/or back depending on the plan and the group covered. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2013 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 

experience study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. The actuarial cost method used 

was the Entry Age Method and the amortization method used was the Level percent closed method. The 

remaining amortization period is 30 years and the asset valuation method used was the 5-year smoothed 

market. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension investments was determined using a log-normal distribution 

analysis in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 

investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to 

produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 

target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. 
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The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class as 

provided by VRS for use in the last actuarial experience study for the four-year period ending June 30, 2012 

are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Arithmetic Long-Term 

Expected Real Rate of 

Return

Weighted Average 

Long-Term Expected 

Real Rate of Return

U.S. Equity 19.50% 6.46% 1.26%
Developed Non U.S. Equity 16.50% 6.28% 1.04%
Emerging Market Equity 6.00% 10.00% 0.60%
Fixed Income 15.00% 9.00% 0.01%
Emerging Debt 3.00% 3.51% 0.11%
Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 3.51% 0.16%
Non-Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 5.00% 0.23%
Convertibles 3.00% 4.81% 0.14%
Public Real Estate 2.25% 6.12% 0.14%
Private Real Estate 12.75% 7.10% 0.91%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.41% 1.25%
Cash 1.00% -1.50% -0.02%

Total 100.00% 5.83%

Inflation 2.50%
* Expected arithmetic nominal return 8.33%

 

* Using stochastic projection results provides an expected range of real rates of return over various time 

horizons.  Looking at one year results produces an expected real return of 8.3% but also has a high 

standard deviation, which means there is high volatility. Over larger time horizons, the median return 

does not change much but the volatility declines significantly. The median return is 7.44%. 

B. Discount rate:   

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7 percent.  The projection of cash flows 

used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made per the VRS 

Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates 

equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of 

Trustees and the member rate.  The rates contributed by the employer will be subject to the portion of 

the Board rates as adopted by the Virginia legislature through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018.  From 

July 1, 2018 on, it is assumed 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates will be payable for 

all the VRS plans. Based on those assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 

available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-

term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 

payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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C. Net Pension Liability, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related 

to Pensions 

At June 30, 2015, the Fund reported a net pension liability of $12,079,717 for its proportionate share of 

the collective net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2014, and the 

total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 

as of June 30, 2013 that was rolled-forward that date.  The Fund’s proportion of the collective net pension 

liability was based on a projection of the Fund’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan 

relative to the projected contributions for all participating political subdivisions, actuarially determined.  

At June 30, 2015, the Fund’s proportion of the County of Henrico was 5.71 percent, which was an 

increase of 0.01 percent over the prior measurement date. 

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the Fund recognized pension expense of $1,230,268.  At June 30, 

2015, the Fund reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflow of resources related to 

pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred 

Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred Inflow 

of Resources

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension

plan investments -$                        3,558,988$         

Change in pension proportionate share allocation 19,718 —    
Pension contributions after the measurement date 1,954,902 —    

Total 1,974,620$         3,558,988$         

 

Deferred outflow of resources of $1,954,902 resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ending 

June 30, 2016. The net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 

change in pension proportionate share allocation will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30:

2016 $ (883,174)        
2017 (883,174)        
2018 (883,174)        
2019 (889,748)        

Total $ (3,539,270)     
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D. Sensitivity of the Fund’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount 

rate: 

The following presents the Fund’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 

discount rate of 7 percent, as well as what the Fund’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would 

be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1- percentage point lower (6 percent) or 1- percentage 

point higher (8 percent) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 

(6.0%)

Discount Rate 

(7.0%)

1% Increase 

(8.0%)

Fund's proportionate share of the net

pension liability $21,141,083 $12,079,717 $4,559,795

 

(6) Other Postemployment Benefits 

Plan Description 

In addition to the pension benefits described in note 5, the County provides two types of other 

postemployment health care benefits (“OPEB”) for retired employees through a single-employer defined 

benefit plan (“Plan”). The benefit levels, employee contributions and employer contributions are governed 

by the County and can be amended by the County. 

The County participates in the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund (“Trust Fund”), an irrevocable trust 

established for the purpose of accumulating assets to fund postemployment benefits other than pensions. The 

Trust Fund issues a separate report, which can be obtained by requesting a copy from the plan administrator, 

Virginia Municipal League (“VML”) at P.O. Box 12164, Richmond, Virginia 23241. 
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Plan Provisions 

The County provides health and dental care benefits during retirement for retirees and their dependents. 

Employees who wish to have County sponsored health and dental care coverage must enroll within 31 days 

of the date their employment coverage ends. Employees retiring with an immediate VRS monthly retirement 

payment may elect to be covered under the County sponsored medical and dental plan at the time they retire. 

Eligible retires under the age of 65 and their dependents, can remain in the County’s health and dental plans. 

Medicare eligible retirees at age 65, move to a Medicare carve-out plan which is coordinated with Medicare. 

Upon the death of the retiree, surviving spouses may elect to remain in the County’s plan. 

Current Henrico County retirees who qualify for health benefits receive an implicit rate subsidy by 

participating in the active employee health care risk pool. The County also provides a retiree health care 

supplement for retirees who meet the following eligibility conditions: 

1. Retirees who are not eligible for the VRS health care credit. 

2. Retirees must have a minimum of 20 full years of VRS service, 10 of which must be with the 

County. 

3. The supplement will be paid only to eligible retirees who choose to remain in the County’s 

group plan. 

4. Employees retiring on a VRS disability will receive the monthly supplement for the greater 

of 30 years or their actual years of VRS service. 

Effective January 1, 2006, the monthly supplement is $3.00 for each full year of service. The plan is not 

capped; therefore, all VRS service will be recognized for the supplement. 

Membership  

At June 30, 2015, membership consisted of: 

Number of 
members

Retirees and beneficiaries 1,747    
Active employees 10,685    

Total participants 12,432    
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND 

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

  (Continued) 

Funding Policy 

The County currently plans to contribute amounts to the Virginia Pooled OPEB Trust Fund sufficient to fully 

fund the Annual Required Contribution (“ARC”), an actuarially determined contribution amount in 

accordance with the parameters of GAAP. 

In accordance with GAAP, an actuarial study was prepared calculating the County’s postemployment health 

care cost as of June 30, 2015. The actuarial study estimated an $46,414,314 million Unfunded Actuarial 

Accrued Liability (UAAL) and a $9,761,726 million Annual Required Contribution (ARC) for the County. 

This calculation was based on a discount rate of 7.0 percent and a 30-year amortization of the unfunded 

actuarial liability. The actuarial evaluation reflects that the “Employer Contribution as a Percent of OPEB 

Cost” was 100% as of June 30, 2015. The County has a Net OPEB Asset of $2,365,897 million at June 30, 

2015. 

(7) Related-Party Transactions  

The County furnishes the Fund with data processing services, accounting services, vehicle maintenance 

services, risk management, office space, and the use of certain County-owned vehicles by the Fund. For 

these services, the County charged the Fund approximately $5,209,000 in fiscal year 2015. 

The Fund received $2,133,340 in fiscal year 2015 from the County for water and sewer services provided at 

established billing rates.  

The Fund loaned the County $9,618,989 to be repaid over a 30-year term with interest equal to the average 

rate paid on the bonds to mature on June 30, 2028. The County pays 1/30 of the loan principal annually with 

interest applied to the remaining principal balance. Since the note plus interest was to cover the debt service 

on the 1997 bond issuance and the 1997 bonds were refunded in December 2009, the General Fund will 

continue to pay principal on this note. The remainder of the debt service on the refunding 2009B bonds will 

be paid as stated in note 3, Long Term Debt. At June 30, 2015, the principal balance was $3,847,595. The 

County recognized the principal payment of $320,633 as an expenditure, and the Fund recognized the 

principal as a reduction to notes receivable. 

(8) Commitments and Contingencies 

Commitments 

At June 30, 2015, the Fund had contractual commitments for engineering of the Cobbs Creek Reservoir 

project and the moving of utilities and site work of approximately $86,639,000 and for the Lakeside to 

Strawberry Hill Flow Equalization Pipeline project and the Strawberry Hill Basin Sewer Rehabilitation 

project $11,019,000 and $10,734,000, respectively. Additionally, the Fund had contractual commitments for 

water and sewer rehabilitation of approximately $4,635,000 and $3,769,000, respectively, and for the Upham 

Brook Storage Facility project $4,544,000.  
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COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND 

(An Enterprise Fund of the County of Henrico, Virginia) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2015 

  

Risk Management 

The County maintains a self-insurance program ("Program") for workers' compensation claims, certain 

property and casualty risks, health care and other claims. Insurance carriers cover workers’ compensation 

claims in excess of $1,000,000 per occurrence. VaCOR, through the Travelers Insurance Company, covers 

property claims in excess of $1,000,000 per occurrence. VaCOR, through Genesis Insurance Company 

covers liability claims between $2,000,000 and $7,000,000 per occurrence. The County's estimated and 

recorded liability for claims payable at June 30, 2015 includes actuarial estimates of probable losses on 

claims received and claims incurred but not reported. The liability also includes non-incremental claims 

adjustment expenses. The County has recorded expenditures of $1,691,624 in the General Fund to reflect the 

liability for the estimated settlement value of all reported workers' compensation and property and casualty 

claims covered by the Program at June 30, 2015, that are expected to be liquidated with current resources. 

The amount of settlements has not exceeded insurance coverage in each of the past three years. 

Effective January 1, 2008, the County began participating in a self-funded health care program covering 

medical and prescription drug costs. The County pays all covered claims up to $500,000 per individual per 

year. Individual claims that exceed $500,000 per year are covered by specific excess risk insurance. 

Additionally, claims in the aggregate that exceed 125% of projected claims for the year are covered by 

aggregate excess risk insurance. The carrier of the excess risk policy is Coventry Health and Life Insurance 

Company. The Fund has recorded $97,783 for health care claims incurred but not reported in the Health Care 

Fund at June 30, 2015. 
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SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Other than Management’s Discussion and Analysis (unaudited) 

Year ended June 30, 2015 
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COUNTY OF HENRICO VIRGINIA

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

Schedule of the Fund’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (unaudited)

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2015

2015

Proportion of the net pension liability  5.71%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 12,079,717   

Covered – employee payroll $ 14,320,370   

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as percentage of covered-employee

payroll 84.60%

Plan’s fuduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liablity 82.82%

*Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of GASB 68 implementation, therefore, only one year is shown.
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COUNTY OF HENRICO VIRGINIA

WATER AND SEWER REVENUE FUND

2015

Actuarially determined contribution of employer $ 1,954,902        

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

determined contributions 1,954,902        

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                       

Covered - employee payroll $ 14,279,221

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 13.69%

* Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of GASB 68 implementation, therefore only one year is shown herein.

Schedule of Contributions (unaudited)

Last 10 Fiscal Years*
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Exhibit I

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER RATES (unaudited)

(Effective July 1, 2014)

Single-Family Residential Customers

Water and sewer customers are billed every two months and pay both a service  charge and a volume
charge for water and sewer services.

Bi-monthly service charge: Water Sewer

Service charge for residences:
(5/8" meter) $ 12.50    $ 25.20   
(If water is not metered there is a flat charge of $66.20 for

sewer service )

Volume charge:

The charge for each hundred cubic feet:

CCF
(1)

 of water used $ 2.87    $ 3.04   
If 6 CCF or less 1.78    1.86   

Commercial and Industrial Customers

Bi-monthly service charge: Water Sewer

5/8" meter $ 12.50    $ 25.20   
1" meter 29.55    41.70   
1½" meter 54.25    61.10   
2" meter 83.40    88.25   
3" meter 137.50    149.25   
4" meter 220.85    236.05   
6" meter 435.80    469.95   
8" or 10" meter 835.15    804.45   

Volume charge per CCF:

First 10,000 CCF 2.87    3.04   
Next 70,000 CCF 1.96    2.17   
Over 80,000 CCF 1.41    1.96   

(1)
Hundred cubic feet. One hundred cubic feet is approximately 748 gallons.

(2)
Industrial customers are subject to surcharges for discharge of strong wastes in addition to sewer

service and volume charges listed above.
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Exhibit II

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION FEES (unaudited)

(Effective October 1, 2014)

Water Sewer
Local Local

Connection facilities Connection facilities
fees fees(A) fees fees(A)

Single Family Residential
with existing well and/or
septic system $ 2,345+ 2,630    2,875+ 3,875   

Single Family Residential
including semi-detached
dwellings 4,710+ 2,630    5,755+ 3,875   

Multi-Family Residential
Apts., Townhouses,
Condos, & Cluster
Homes; Duplexes 4,710   (per unit) (A) 5,755   (per unit) (B)

Motel and Hotel 2,815   (per room) (A) 3,455   (per room) (B)
Hospital 6,505   (per bed) (A) 7,950   (per bed) (B)
Nursing Homes and

Dormitories 4,335   (per bed) (A) 5,305   (per bed) (B)
Facilities providing

permanent housing for
elderly or handicapped
persons and operated by
charitable, non-stock,
non-profit organizations
which are exempted by
§ 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code 1,670   (per unit) (A) 2,050   (per unit) (B)

All other business, industrial
& public buildings based
on meter size as follows:

5/8" $ 4,710   (A) 5,755   (B)
1" 16,835   (A) 22,445   (B)
1-1/2" 33,595   (A) 44,905   (B)
2" 66,680   (A) 88,840   (B)
3" 133,375   (A) 178,850   (B)
4" 232,365   (A) 312,070   (B)
6" 499,125   (A) 667,210   (B)
8" 1,247,815   (A) 1,667,390   (B)
10" 2,000,775   (A) 2,676,615   (B)

(A) Local facilities fee will be due where local facilities are available to connector’s property and the costs
have not been previously assessed against the property. This fee is to be $2,630 for 5/8" meter,
$3,210 for 1" meter, $5,095 for 1½" meter and $5,095 for 2" meter. The Director of Public Utilities
will determine this fee for meter size in excess of 2". Local facilities are those portions of the
County’s water and sewer systems which are used to, respectively, deliver water to or collect
wastewater from individual users in local areas, subdivisions and developments. Included are local
water distribution mains and valves, local wastewater collection mains, water service lines, meter
setters, meter boxes, wastewater lateral lines to the user’s premises and fire hydrants.

(B) Local facilities fee is $3,875 for sewer when applicable.
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Exhibit III

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER INSTALLATION CHARGES (unaudited)

(Effective October 1, 2014)

Water Installation Charge Table
(Not including cost of meter)

Service Installation
Meter size size charge

5/8" ¾" 2,630   
5/8" 1" 2,630   
5/8" 1-1/2" 3,210   
1" 1" 2,785   
1" 1-1/2" 3,210   
1" 2" 3,210   

1-112" 1-1/2" 5,095   
1-1/2" 2" 5,095   

2" 2" 5,095   

Sewer Installation Charge Table

1) 4" or 6" sewer lateral installation charge = $3,875
2) County sewer & water main extension costs:

Sewer. $50 per foot for vacant lot or $25 per foot for existing single family residence, plus sewer
  installation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee.

Water: $30 per foot for vacant lot or $15 per foot for existing single family residence, plus water
  installation charge for each connection, plus basic connection fee.
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Exhibit IV 

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER LARGEST ACCOUNTS 

(Unaudited) 

 

The following table lists the 10 largest accounts of the System (excluding Hanover County and Goochland County, 

which purchase water and sewer service from the County on a wholesale basis, and excluding the County 

government) during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 

% of total

system

Fiscal year operating

Customer 2015 billings revenue 
(1)

Coca-Cola Refreshments $ 427,839    0.42%

St. Mary's Hospital 425,715    0.42%

Parham Road Apartment Association 410,737    0.40%

Fareva Richmond, Inc. 403,076    0.40%

Essex VA Investors LLC DBA Essex Apartments 381,754    0.37%

US Residential 377,582    0.36%

Crofton Square Association 352,112    0.35%

Henrico Doctor's Hospital 324,520    0.32%

Anthem Blue Cross and Blue Shield 305,487    0.30%

Capital Region Airport Commission 281,170    0.28%

Total $ 3,689,992    3.62%

(1)
System operating revenue does not include other revenue.
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Exhibit V 

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER AGREEMENTS WITH 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

(Unaudited) 

 (Continued) 

The County purchases some of the System’s water requirements from the City of Richmond. Approximately 62% 

of the County’s current demand is met by the newly expanded 80 MGD water treatment facility.  The expansion 

from 55 MGD to 80 MGD was substantially complete in March 2015. In FY 2015 the County purchased an average 

of 12.9 MGD from the City of Richmond and treated an average of 20.7 MGD at the County’s plant. The City also 

treats a limited quantity of wastewater originating from the System. Both water supply and wastewater treatment 

are provided by the City pursuant to agreements with the County described below. 

Water Supply 

On September 28, 1994 (effective as of September 29, 1994), the Board of Supervisors approved a water supply 

contract (the Contract) under which the City supplies the County with treated water, which replaced a contract 

which was effective July 1, 1985, between the City and the County. The Contract provides that the City will supply 

the County with water from the City’s distribution system at various points around the City, and that the County 

will distribute the water to the customers of its System. The Contract also provides that the County may resell the 

water to customers of the System located outside the County (e.g., Hanover County and Goochland County). The 

Contract requires the County to purchase substantially all of its water requirements from the City until the Henrico 

water treatment plant opened, which occurred contractually on July 1, 2004. The Contract allowed the County to 

construct a water treatment facility to begin operation on or after January 1, 2003 to meet increased County 

demands. The County has exercised its option under the Contract requesting that, after January 1, 2007, the City 

provide the County up to 35 MGD of capacity. Pursuant to the Contract, the County must provide the City with an 

annual projection of its water requirements for the next 10 years and the City must advise the County within 90 days 

of any modifications or improvements to its water system necessary to supply the County’s projected requirements. 

The County must concur in the making of any modifications or improvements if the costs of such modifications or 

improvements are to be borne by the County. The Contract provides that the County shall be responsible for 

providing water distribution facilities within the County and that the County will maintain water storage and 

pumping facilities adequate to provide service in the County under the Contract. 

The volume of water supplied by the City to the County is measured by meters and the City renders a monthly bill 

to the County. Charges payable by the County are determined as set forth in the Contract, based on a mutually 

agreed upon cost of service study which is updated each year. The Contract is for a term until July 1, 2040 and, 

thereafter, until cancelled upon five years’ notice by either party. 

In 2012, the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DE Q) authorized the County’s withdrawal from the 

James River to increase from 45 to 75 MGD based upon development of the Cobbs Creek flow augmentation 

reservoir to be located in Cumberland County, VA. Construction of the reservoir is scheduled for completion in 

2021. 
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Exhibit V 

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER AGREEMENTS WITH 

THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

(Unaudited) 

  

Wastewater Treatment 

Prior to July 1, 1976, wastewater originating in the County was treated by the City pursuant to an agreement dated 

July 1, 1968, between the County and the City. Such agreement was to have been effective for a term of 20 years. 

Between 1976 and November 1989, the County undertook the development of the Wastewater Treatment Facility 

(Facility) in the County which opened in November 1989 with a capacity of 30 MGD.  Since then, the County and 

the City have operated under the terms of an agreement effective November 1, 1989. This agreement provides for 

the City to treat limited flows from the County and for the County to treat limited flows from the City. The Facility 

was expanded to 45 MGD in March 1997.  As part of the expansion, nutrient removal facilities were added to meet 

the then new permit limits for phosphorus, ammonia and nitrogen. The Facility was expanded to 75 MGD in May 

2011.  The current Facility is designed to comply with the nutrient requirements of the 2007 Chesapeake Bay Act. 
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Exhibit VI

HENRICO COUNTY WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM STATISTICS (unaudited)

Fiscal years ended June 30

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Water:
Number of customers 94,186    94,886    91,776    92,243    92,946    94,006    95,097    95,994   
Miles of water mains 1,492.48    1,515.09    1,528.36    1,547.71    1,558.25    1,572.07    1,581.81    1,594.82   
Hydrants in service 11,442    11,751    11,846    12,091    12,242    12,399    12,529    12,692   
Average daily flow

(mgd)
(1)

36.5    33.9    30.9    33.5    31.7    30.4    28.5    29.8   
Wastewater:

Number of customers 90,936    91,631    88,854    89,355    90,068    91,110    92,125    93,087   
Miles of sewer mains 1,414.29    1,432.22    1,443.11    1,450.13    1,456.11    1,462.95    1,470.16    1,481.36   
Average daily flow

(mgd)
(1)

30.6    28.6    26.0    25.3    25.7    26.2    24.1    23.6   

(1)
(mgd) million gallons/day. Average daily flow is based on metered consumption as billed. Wastewater flow is based on metered water consumption and calculated as

provided by the County ordinance for billing. Calculation of residential sewer billing is based on a fixed charge, plus a volume charge. Additional allowance is made for
increased consumption of water in the summer, which is not related to sewer service.
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Exhibit VII

Capital Improvement Program FY2014-15 through FY2018-19

Enterprise Fund – Public Utility Requests by Fiscal Year and Priority Number
Approved Request Request Request Request Request Total

Project Priority Project Type Source District FY14-15 FY14-15 FY15-16 FY16-17 FY17-18 FY18-19 Five Year

Public Utilities – Sewer

00782 New Sewer Connections 1 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    250,000   
00772 Sewer Line Extensions 2 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    500,000    500,000    500,000    500,000    500,000    2,500,000   
00732 Sewer Line Rehabilitation 3 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    4,000,000    3,000,000    3,000,000    3,000,000    3,000,000    16,000,000   
00743 Sewer Pump Station Improvements 4 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    2,800,000    100,000    100,000    100,000    1,500,000    4,600,000   
00737 Sewer Reloc., Adjustments & Crossings 5 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    200,000    200,000    200,000    200,000    200,000    1,000,000   
00725 Plan Review and Inspection 6 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    1,600,000    1,600,000    1,600,000    1,600,000    1,600,000    8,000,000   
06492 Roof Replacement 7 Sewer Enterprise Fund Countywide —    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    250,000   
01076 Strawberry Hill Basin Sewer Rehab 8 Sewer Enterprise Fund B, F, T, TC —    7,000,000    11,500,000    11,150,000    1,400,000    11,200,000    42,250,000   
06139 Gillies Creek Basin Sewer Rehabilitation 9 Sewer Enterprise Fund V, F —    4,300,000    —    —    —    —    4,300,000   
06447 Route 33 To Lakeside Sewer Main 10 Sewer Enterprise Fund B, F —    14,000,000    —    —    —    —    14,000,000   
00735 Water Reclamation Facility Improvements 11 Sewer Enterprise Fund Varina —    2,560,000    1,825,000    —    18,988,125    538,125    23,911,250   
06445 Strawberry Hill SPS Capacity Improv. 12 Sewer Enterprise Fund Fairfield —    5,458,590    —    —    —    —    5,458,590   
06569 Upham Brook Storage Facilities 13 Sewer Enterprise Fund Fairfield 9,000,000    9,000,000    —    35,000,000    —    —    44,000,000   
06152 Gambles Mill SPS FEB Modification 1 Sewer Enterprise Fund Tuckahoe —    —    15,525,000    —    —    —    15,525,000   
06446 Strawberry Hill FM Creighton Rd Vent Fclty. 2 Sewer Enterprise Fund Fairfield —    —    2,649,600    —    —    —    2,649,600   
06459 Broadwater Creek I SPS & FEB 3 Sewer Enterprise Fund Varina —    —    4,547,790    —    —    —    4,547,790   
06131 Gambles Mill Basin Sewer Rehabilitation 4 Sewer Enterprise Fund Tuckahoe —    —    720,000    1,150,000    7,650,000    —    9,520,000   
06449 White Oak SPS Improvements 5 Sewer Enterprise Fund Varina —    —    750,000    —    2,300,000    —    3,050,000   
06450 White Oak SPS FM 6 Sewer Enterprise Fund Varina —    —    1,345,500    —    4,171,050    —    5,516,550   
06667 Tuckahoe Creek Trunk Sewer Rehab 1 Sewer Enterprise Fund TC, T —    —    —    5,000,000    —    9,225,000    14,225,000   
06153 Lakeside to Route 301 Sewer Line 2 Sewer Enterprise Fund Fairfield —    —    —    1,000,000    2,101,250    —    3,101,250   
06666 Horsepen Br Sew - Broad Street to Rte 33 3 Sewer Enterprise Fund Brookland —    —    —    2,000,000    —    5,125,000    7,125,000   
06838 Allens and Rooty Branch Force Main Upgrade 1 Sewer Enterprise Fund B, TC —    —    —    —    —    1,500,000    1,500,000   
06444 Hungary Road Vent Facility 2 Sewer Enterprise Fund Brookland —    —    —    —    —    1,000,000    1,000,000   

9,000,000    51,518,590    44,362,890    60,800,000    42,110,425    35,488,125    234,280,030   

Public Utilities – Water

00771 New Water Connections 1 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    50,000    250,000   
00770 Water Line Extensions 2 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    300,000    300,000    300,000    300,000    300,000    1,500,000   
00768 Water Line Rehabilitation 3 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    5,000,000    5,000,000    3,000,000    2,000,000    3,000,000    18,000,000   
00769 Water Pumping Station Improvements 4 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    750,000    2,700,000    600,000    75,000    1,750,000    5,875,000   
00780 Water Meters 5 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    350,000    350,000    350,000    350,000    350,000    1,750,000   
00767 Water Reloc., Adjustments & Crossings 6 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    200,000    200,000    200,000    200,000    200,000    1,000,000   
00811 Information Technology Projects 7 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide —    5,000,000    —    —    —    —    5,000,000   
06125 Cobbs Creek (Cumberland) Reservoir 8 Water Enterprise Fund Countywide 20,000,000    20,000,000    140,000,000    —    —    —    160,000,000   
06382 Creighton Road Water Line 1 Water Enterprise Fund F, V —    —    950,000    —    —    —    950,000   
06383 Dabbs House Road Water Line 2 Water Enterprise Fund Varina —    —    600,000    —    —    —    600,000   
06118 Sadler Road 12" Water Line 1 Water Enterprise Fund Three Chopt —    —    —    1,700,000    —    —    1,700,000   
06513 Bacova Road PS & Tank 1 Water Enterprise Fund Three Chopt —    —    —    —    1,250,000    3,200,000    4,450,000   
06515 Water Transmission Mains Ph 2 1 Water Enterprise Fund B, V, F —    —    —    —    —    14,000,000    14,000,000   

20,000,000    31,650,000    150,150,000    6,200,000    4,225,000    22,850,000    215,075,000   

Grand Total – Enterprise Fund 29,000,000    83,168,590    194,512,890    67,000,000    46,335,425    58,338,125    449,355,030   

Sewer Subtotal

Water Subtotal
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The County of Henrico, Virginia (the “County”) is situated in central Virginia and surrounds the 
City of Richmond (the “City” or “Richmond”) on the north side of the James River.  Although much of the County’s 
244.06 square miles consists of highly developed urban and suburban areas, there is also a considerable amount of 
undeveloped agricultural and forest land.  In Virginia, cities and counties are distinct units of government and do not 
overlap.  Thus, the County is responsible for providing all local government services to its residents.  The population 
of the County was 325,238 for 2014 (according to Henrico County housing and population reports) and is expected 
to grow for the foreseeable future. 

COUNTY GOVERNMENT 

Form of Government 

The County is governed by a five member Board of Supervisors, which establishes policies for the 
administration of the County.  Each member of the Board of Supervisors is elected by the voters of the magisterial 
district in which such member resides. The Chairman of the Board of Supervisors is elected annually by the 
members.  Members of the Board of Supervisors serve four-year terms with no re-election limit. 

The County elected in 1934 to operate under the County Manager Form of Government (as 
defined under Virginia law).  Under this form of government, the Board of Supervisors appoints a County Manager 
to serve as the chief executive officer of the County.  The County Manager serves at the pleasure of the Board of 
Supervisors, implements its policies, appoints department heads, and directs business and administrative procedures.  
Also under the County Manager Form of Government, a County Code, and modern zoning ordinances are 
administered and enforced. 

Elected Officials 

Tyrone E. Nelson, Chairman, was elected from the Varina Magisterial District in November of 
2011 and reelected in 2015. Mr. Nelson has received degrees from J. Sergeant Reynolds, Virginia Commonwealth 
University, and Virginia Union University.  He is the Pastor of Sixth Mount Zion Baptist Church, and he serves as a 
board member on several community and government boards. 
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Richard W. Glover, Vice Chairman, was elected from the Brookland Magisterial District in 
November of 1987 and was re-elected in 1991, 1995, 1999, 2003, 2007, 2011, and 2015.  Mr. Glover received his 
education from Virginia Commonwealth University and J. Sargent Reynolds Community College, and is a retired 
marketing consultant. 

Frank J. Thornton was elected to the Board of Supervisors in 1995 and re-elected in 1999, 2003, 
2007, 2011, and 2015 to represent the Fairfield Magisterial District.  Mr. Thornton is a graduate of Virginia Union 
University in Richmond and The American University in Washington, D.C.  Mr. Thornton is a retired professor of 
French from Virginia Union University.  

Patricia S. O’Bannon, was elected from the Tuckahoe Magisterial District in 1995 and re-elected 
in 1999, 2003, 2007, 2011, and 2015.  Ms. O’Bannon is a graduate of Virginia Commonwealth University. She was 
formerly an English teacher in the Henrico County school system and an editor of a local newspaper. 

Thomas Branin was elected from the Three Chopt Magisterial District in November of 2015. Mr. 
Branin is a graduate of Ferrum College and represented the Three Chop Magisterial District on the Henrico County 
Planning Commission from 2005 to 2015. Mr. Branin is the Vice President of National and International Sales for 
Colonial Construction Materials.  

Certain County Staff Members 

John A. Vithoulkas was appointed County Manager effective January 17, 2013.  He has served the 
County as Deputy County Manager for Administration, Special Economic Advisor to the County Manager, Director 
of Finance, Director of the Office of Management and Budget, and a Budget Analyst.  Prior to joining the County in 
1997, Mr. Vithoulkas served Chesterfield County, Virginia, as the Lead Analyst in the Department of Budget and 
Management.  Mr. Vithoulkas holds a Bachelor’s degree from Virginia Commonwealth University and a Master’s of 
Public Administration from the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. 

Joseph P. Casey, Ph.D., CPA, was appointed Deputy County Manager for Administration 
effective January 28, 2013. Prior to joining the County, Mr. Casey worked for Hanover County, Virginia as a 
Deputy County Administrator and Director of Finance and Management Services. Prior to his employment with 
Hanover County, Mr. Casey worked as a staff accountant for KPMG Peat Marwick.  Mr. Casey holds a Bachelor of 
Science in Accounting from the University of Richmond, a Master of Public Administration degree from Virginia 
Commonwealth University (VCU) and a Ph.D. in Public Policy from VCU. 

Randall R. Silber was appointed Deputy County Manager for Community Development effective 
January 5, 2008. He has served Henrico County as an employee since 1985. Prior to his current position with the 
County, Mr. Silber served as the Planning Director, Assistant Director of Planning, Principal Planner and County 
Planner.  Mr. Silber holds a Bachelor’s degree from the University of Maryland and a Master’s degree from the 
University of Northern Colorado. 

Timothy A. Foster was appointed Deputy County Manager for Community Operations effective 
January 28, 2012.  He has served the County since 1989.  He previously has served the County as the Director of 
Public Works, Assistant Director of Public Works, Traffic Engineer, and Assistant Traffic Engineer.  He holds a 
Bachelor’s degree from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. Mr. Foster is a registered Professional 
Engineer in the Commonwealth as well as a member of the American Public Works Association and the Institute of 
Transport Engineers. 

Douglas A. Middleton was appointed Deputy County Manager for Public Safety in February of 
2016. Mr. Middleton previously served as the Chief of Police for five years.  Since being sworn in as a police officer 
in 1972 Mr. Middleton has served in Patrol, the Special Action Force, as a Pilot in the Aviation Unit, Police 
Personnel Investigator and Unit Commander, Inspectional Services, Police Planning Unit Commander, 
Commanding Officer of Communications & Records Section, and Assistant Chief of Police over Support 
Operations. Prior to his service with Henrico County, Mr. Middleton served in the United States Army 229th assault 
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helicopter battalion. Mr. Middleton holds an Associate’s of Science degree in Criminal Justice and a Bachelor’s of 
Science in Organizational Management.  

  W. Brandon Hinton was appointed Assistant Deputy County Manager for Community Services, in 
addition to his responsibilities as Budget Director, effective April 30, 2016.  He has worked for Henrico County 
since 2003 as Budget Director, Budget Supervisor, and Budget Analyst. Mr. Hinton holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Business Administration from East Carolina University and a Master of Business Administration from 
Virginia Commonwealth University. 

  Eugene H. Walter, Director of Finance, was appointed May 1, 2012.  He previously served the 
County as the Director of the Office of Management and Budget and as a Budget Analyst.  Prior to his service with 
Henrico County, Mr. Walter served as a Budget Analyst in the Office of Budget and Resource Analysis at Virginia 
Commonwealth University.  He holds a Bachelor’s degree from the University of South Carolina.  

Joseph P. Rapisarda, Jr., Esquire, County Attorney, was appointed in 1982.  He served as an 
Assistant County Attorney for Henrico County for five years before being appointed County Attorney.  Prior to his 
service with Henrico County, he served for two years as an associate attorney with May, Miller & Parsons.  He is a 
graduate of the University of Virginia Law School.  Mr. Rapisarda is a current member and past president of the 
Local Government Attorneys of Virginia and the Henrico County Bar Association. He is also a Fellow of the 
Virginia Law Foundation and a former member of the Professionalism Faculty of the Virginia State Bar. 

CERTAIN FINANCIAL PROCEDURES 

Annual Financial Statements 

The County’s general purpose financial statements have been audited and reported on by 
independent certified public accountants for over 30 fiscal years.  The County’s Water and Sewer Revenue Fund’s 
General Purpose Financial Statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015, included in this Official Statement 
as Appendix B, have been audited and reported on by independent auditors. The County has been awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting by the Government Finance Officers Association 
(“GFOA”) of the United States and Canada for its annual financial statements each year since the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 1981.  The Certificate of Achievement is awarded annually for excellence, clarity, and comprehensiveness 
in financial reporting.  The County has also been awarded the Distinguished Budget Award by the GFOA of the 
United States and Canada for its Annual Fiscal Plan for the past 26 fiscal years. 

The County’s comprehensive annual financial reports and fiscal plans are available for inspection 
at the office of the Director of Finance, County of Henrico, Parham and Hungary Spring Roads, Post Office Box 
90775, Henrico, Virginia 23273-0775, and are also available at:       
http://henrico.us/finance/divisions/accounting/ and; http://henrico.us/finance/divisions/office-of-management-
and-budget/ 

Description of Funds 

The accounts of the County are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered to be 
a separate accounting entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate set of 
self-balancing accounts, which comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues, and expenditures.  The 
following is a description of the funds included in the financial records of the County. 

General Fund.  The General Fund accounts for all revenues and expenditures of the County, 
which are not accounted for in the other funds.  Revenues are primarily derived from general property taxes, local 
sales taxes, meals tax, license and permit fees, and revenues received from the Commonwealth.  A significant part of 
the General Fund’s revenues is used to maintain and operate the general government, which is accounted for in the 
General Fund or is transferred to other funds principally to fund debt service requirements and capital projects.  
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Expenditures include, among other things, those for general government, education, public safety, highways and 
streets, welfare, culture, and recreation. 

Special Revenue Funds. Special Revenue Funds account for the proceeds of specific revenue 
sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes.  These funds account for the resources 
obtained and used relating to state and federal grants, mental health and developmental services programs, social 
services, the utility department’s solid waste and street lighting operations, and school cafeterias. 

Enterprise Funds.  Enterprise Funds account for operations financed in a manner similar to private 
business enterprises, where the intent of the County is that the cost of providing services to the general public be 
financed or recovered through charges to users of such services.  These funds account for the operation, 
maintenance, and construction of the County-owned water and sewer system (considered a single segment for 
financial reporting purposes) and the operation of a County-owned golf course. 

Debt Service Fund. This fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment 
of interest and principal on all long-term debt other than that accounted for in the Enterprise Funds.  Debt Service 
Fund resources are derived from transfers from the General Fund. 

Internal Service Fund.  An Internal Service Fund accounts for the financing of goods or services 
provided by one department to other departments of the government on a cost-reimbursement basis.  The Internal 
Service Fund accounts for the County’s Central Automotive Maintenance operations, Technology Replacement 
Fund operations, and self-funded health insurance fund.  Resources for these funds come from interdepartmental 
charges. 

Agency Funds.  Agency Funds account for fiduciary funds administered by the County, custodial 
in nature, and do not involve measurement of results of operations. 

Capital Projects Fund.  The Capital Projects Fund accounts for all capital projects other than those 
accounted for within Enterprise Funds. 

Budgetary Procedure 

Virginia law requires the County to maintain a balanced budget in each fiscal year.  The County 
lacks legal authority to borrow in anticipation of future years’ revenues, except by the issuance of bonds or bond 
anticipation notes. 

Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, the Board of Supervisors adopts a fiscal plan or budget 
consisting of contemplated expenditures and estimated revenues for such fiscal year.  On the basis of the approved 
fiscal plan, the Board of Supervisors appropriates funds for expenditures and establishes tax rates sufficient to 
produce the revenues contemplated in the fiscal plan. 

The annual budgeting process for a fiscal year begins early in the second quarter of the previous 
fiscal year with the issuance by the County Manager to all department heads and other key officials of the pertinent 
guidelines to be observed.  Each department or division head will submit all desired personnel change requests and 
detailed budget requests. 

The County Manager and his staff hold hearings with the various departments, and after review, 
submit a proposed budget to the Board of Supervisors.  The Board of Supervisors also holds hearings with the 
departments, and after revisions, authorizes a final budget for publication and public hearing.  After the public 
hearing, further changes may be made before final adoption, which generally occurs in the month of April preceding 
the start of the fiscal year on July 1. 

Appropriations are then made on an annual basis to the various departments, offices, and agencies 
based on annual requests reviewed by the Department of Finance for conformity with the approved annual plan. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

General Fund Revenues and Disbursements  

The General Fund is maintained by the County to account for revenue derived from County-wide 
ad valorem taxes, other local taxes, licenses, fees, permits, certain revenue from federal and state governments, and 
interest earned on invested cash balances in the General Fund.  General Fund disbursements include the costs of 
general County government, School Operations, and transfers to the Debt Service and Capital Projects Funds to pay 
debt service on the County’s general obligation bonds and certain capital improvement projects. 

The following is a discussion of the General Fund revenue structure and major classifications of 
General Fund disbursements.  Following this discussion is a five-year summary of General Government revenues, 
expenditures, fund balances, and a summary of the fiscal plan for fiscal year 2016.  Please refer to the County’s 
audited General Purpose Financial Statements for a detailed review of General Fund revenues and expenditures for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.The County’s audited financial statements are available within the County’s 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) at  http://henrico.us/pdfs/finance/pdfs/2015CAFR.pdf. 

Revenues 

Property Taxes.  An annual ad valorem tax is levied by the County on the assessed value of real 
and tangible personal property located within the County as of January 1.  The ratio of the assessed value of property 
to its appraised value is 100 percent in the case of real property and varies for the several classes of personal 
property but generally is 100 percent.  Both real and personal property taxes are collected on June 5 and 
December 5.  There is no limit at the present time on the property tax rates which may be established by the County.  
In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, property taxes (including penalties for late payment of prior years’ taxes) 
represented 40.5 percent of total General Fund and School Operating receipts.  Property taxes attach as an 
enforceable lien on property as of January 1. The County bills and collects its own property taxes.  Property taxes 
are levied in April and recorded as receivables, net of allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts, to the extent 
that they are currently due. 

In April 1998, the Virginia General Assembly passed the Personal Property Tax Relief Act of 
1998.  The Act provides for the Commonwealth to reimburse a portion of the tangible Personal Property Tax levied 
on personal use cars, motorcycles, and trucks. Initially, the reimbursement was 12.5 percent of the tax on the first 
$20,000 of the value of the qualifying vehicle in tax year 1998.  The reimbursement rate was 27.5 percent for tax 
year 1999 and increased to 47.5 percent for tax year 2000, and 70 percent for tax years 2001 through 2005.  
Beginning in 2006, the reimbursement funds were capped at $950 million statewide with those funds being 
distributed to localities on a prorated basis. Henrico County is allocated $37.0 million of those funds per year.  The 
percentage of tax relief allocated to each qualifying vehicle is annually determined by each locality based on the 
value of qualifying vehicles within that locality.  Revenue for the State reimbursement is recorded as non-categorical 
aid from the State.  Localities will continue to assess and administer the Personal Property Tax program. 

Other Local Taxes.  The County levies various other local taxes including a 1 percent sales tax 
(collected by the State and remitted to the County), a 4 percent meals tax, various business, professional and 
occupational license taxes, property transfer recordation taxes, motor vehicle and other vehicle taxes.  These receipts 
represented 16.9 percent of total General Fund and School Operating receipts in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.  
On February 28, 2014 the Board of Supervisors approved a 4 percent meals tax, which was authorized by Henrico 
voters in the November 2013 referendum. It is anticipated that the meals tax will generate $20 million in revenues 
for the County in FY2015-16.  During its first full fiscal year of implementation, the meals tax generated over $26 
million in revenues.  

Revenues from the Commonwealth of Virginia and Federal Aid.  The County is reimbursed by the 
Commonwealth of Virginia for a portion of shared expenses including certain expenditures for the Sheriff’s office, 
courts, the office of the Commonwealth Attorney and the Clerk of the Circuit Court.  The County also receives a 
significant amount of State aid in support of public school operations.  Revenue from the Commonwealth of 
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Virginia (inclusive of Personal Property Tax reimbursement) and Federal Aid represented approximately 39.5 
percent of total General Fund and School Operating receipts in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 

Other Revenue.  Other sources of revenue including charges for services, recovered costs, permits, 
privilege fees, regulatory licenses, fines and forfeitures, and revenues from the use of money and property accounted 
for approximately 3.1 percent of total General Fund and School Operating revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015. 

Disbursements 

Costs of Education.  The County pays from the General Fund the costs of operating the public 
school system.  Federal government and Commonwealth of Virginia funds are credited to the Schools’ revenue 
accounts and used exclusively to finance Schools’ operating expenditures. No debt service on School general 
obligation bonds is paid from funds from the federal government or the Commonwealth of Virginia.  This 
classification represented approximately 52.4 percent of the total General Fund and School Operating expenditures 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 

Costs of General County Government.  The County pays from the General Fund the costs of 
general County government.  These costs include expenditures for public safety (police, fire, sheriff, etc.), courts, 
administration and support, libraries, health, recreation, community development and street and highway 
maintenance.  This classification represented approximately 46 percent of total estimated General Fund and School 
Operating expenditures in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.   

Transfer to Debt Service Funds.  The County transfers from the General Fund to the Debt Service 
Fund an amount sufficient to pay principal and interest on County general obligation bonds.  Transfers to the Debt 
Service Fund represented approximately 7.2 percent of total General Fund and School Operating disbursements in 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 

Transfer to Capital Projects Funds.  The County transfers from the General Fund to the Capital 
Projects Fund moneys to pay the cost of certain capital improvements.  The General Fund transfer to the Capital 
Projects Fund represented approximately 4.5 percent of total General Fund disbursements in the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2015. 
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Summary of General Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Fund Balances 

The financial data shown in the following table represents a summary for each of the five fiscal 
years ended June 30 of the County’s General and School Operating Fund revenues, expenditures and fund balances. 
This summary has been derived from the audited financial statements of the County for fiscal years ended June 30, 
2011 through June 30, 2015 and should be read in connection with the financial statements and notes for those years.  

              Source: County of Henrico Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports, Fiscal years ended 2011-2015. 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Revenues:
General Property Taxes 350,724,287$  348,585,062$  349,424,833$  364,605,079$  374,188,737$  
Other Local Taxes 124,770,450    127,091,069    123,489,491    122,666,775    155,950,527    
Permits,  Fees & Licenses 3,390,839        3,882,290        3,636,462        4,164,815        6,496,071        
Fines & Forfeitures 3,186,609        2,957,579        3,414,841        2,649,202        2,522,510        
Revenues from Use of Money & Property 3,084,422        2,485,053        2,037,514        2,919,631        2,937,232        
Charges for Services 4,136,490        3,979,463        4,178,419        4,192,535        3,911,411        
Miscellaneous 5,204,945        5,953,648        7,505,338        7,690,620        7,144,746        
Recovered Costs 6,307,852        6,715,214        5,791,310        5,593,209        5,550,640        
Intergovernmental 333,161,243    345,423,028    359,111,642    366,365,853    365,372,763    

Total Revenues 833,967,137$  847,072,406$  858,589,850$  880,847,719$  924,074,637$  

Expenditures:
General Govt. Admin. 62,008,270$    62,610,677$    64,070,896$    63,416,972$    65,415,131$    
Judicial Admin. 10,018,154      10,184,905      9,900,571        9,997,137        10,139,649      
Public Safety 159,450,439    161,575,521    163,376,659    164,736,112    168,642,858    
Public Works 37,798,541      42,639,184      40,941,464      47,341,324      52,474,492      
Health & Social Services 25,059,596      22,544,626      19,098,636      19,729,503      1,902,174        
Education 395,443,346    397,081,474    406,776,850    444,486,768    417,547,939    
Parks, Recreation & Cultural 29,865,193      30,803,865      30,496,493      30,022,207      30,510,203      
Community Development 18,986,462      20,111,777      20,561,422      20,555,421      22,022,280      
Miscellaneous 15,594,617      17,349,779      14,682,146      15,482,597      16,638,773      
Debt Service Principal Retirement 11,813,766      10,387,477      8,633,648        7,891,303        11,483,512      
Debt Service Interest 323,120          165,354          66,157            82,660            110,797          

Total Expenditures 766,361,504$  775,454,639$  778,604,942$  823,742,004$  796,887,808$  

Excess of Revenue over Expenditures 67,605,633      71,617,767      79,984,908      57,105,715      127,186,829    

Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of Cap. Lease Obligation 13,224,339$    1,223,573$      4,051,212$      43,060,674$    71,907$          
Operating Transfers In
  To Debt Service Fund (49,832,472)     (52,854,043)     (58,644,890)     (58,747,033)     (57,676,779)     
  To Capital Project Fund (27,829,203)     (11,720,480)     (31,950,366)     (10,997,490)     (35,685,101)     
  To Other Funds (19,246,660)     (17,152,468)     (17,539,956)     (17,394,060)     (20,259,359)     

Total Other Financing Sources (83,683,996)$   (80,503,418)$   (104,084,000)$ (44,077,909)$   (113,549,332)$ 
(Uses)

Excess (deficiency) Revenue & Other
Sources Over Expend. & Other Uses (16,078,363)$   (8,885,651)$     (24,099,092)$   13,027,806$    13,637,497$    
Fund Balance, July 1 246,602,628    230,524,265    221,638,614    197,539,522    210,567,328    

Fund Balance, June 30 230,524,265$  221,638,614$  197,539,522$  210,567,328$  224,204,825$  

Fund Balances:
Reserved & Designated 96,797,689$    107,349,229$  83,364,219$    93,945,413$    104,259,061$  
Undesignated 133,726,576    114,289,385    114,175,303    116,621,915    119,945,764    

TOTAL 230,524,265$  221,638,614$  197,539,522$  210,567,328$  224,204,825$  

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
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Summary of Annual Fiscal Plan for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2015 

The FY16 Approved Budget for Henrico County, which is balanced within the current real estate 
tax rate of $0.87/ $100 of assessed value, marks the 37th consecutive year that Henrico County’s real estate tax rate 
has not been increased.  Maintaining a low real estate tax rate is a critical component of our economic development 
strategy, and the County is beginning to experience some positive economic development results following the most 
recent recession. This focus on maintaining a low real estate tax rate is expected to yield positive results for Henrico 
County for many years to come. 

Over the past eight years, the difficult economy forced Henrico County to make significant budget 
reductions while demands for many of the County’s services increased.  The cost cutting effort involved every 
County agency and the results of the $115 million in budget reductions made during this timeframe have made the 
County stronger.   The FY16 budget represents a return to more fiscal structure allowing Henrico to continue to 
provide the highest level of customer service at the lowest possible cost – a concept known within the Metropolitan 
Area as “the Henrico Way.”  

In addition to maintaining the lowest tax burden of any large, urban locality in Virginia, the FY16 
budget accomplishes three things: 

 Provides additional resources to the core responsibilities of County government – Education, Public Safety, 
and Public Works;  

 Maintains the County’s practice of forward-looking budgeting by making sure every cost increase can be 
covered in FY16 and every reduction made is sustainable in the future; and 

 Rewards employees for their cost-cutting efforts over the past eight years. 

The FY16 Approved Budget is the second consecutive year that reflects positive economic 
growth, and incremental growth in the County’s local resources. The budget allocates additional resources for the 
County’s most pressing needs – Schools, Public Safety, and Roads – while addressing long-term structural priorities 
in the County’s budget. What follows is a short list of structural issues addressed within the FY16 budget: 

 Establishes a Senior Ombudsman, a position that will spend every day working with Henrico’s senior citizen 
population in a variety of manners, including planning, organizing, and coordinating services; 

 Includes funding for ten new police officers – the second year of a five-year staffing plan – and construction 
of a central police station to increase police coverage across the County; 

 Provides funding to Schools in the areas of student safety and security, academic and student performance, 
and maintaining existing average class sizes; 

 Provides necessary funding for critical building maintenance and rehabilitation of the County’s 72 schools, 
half of which are more than 50 years old; and, 

 Provides for a decreased machinery and tools tax from $1.00 to $0.30 per $100 assessed value; and 
 Continues funding for a designated reserve - funded with current year, ongoing revenues - for federally 

mandated costs associated with a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 
permit/Chesapeake Bay Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL). 

The FY16 budget allocated three-fourths of all incremental General Fund revenue growth to 
Henrico County Public Schools..  Part of the spending plan for local schools was made possible through the citizens’ 
support of the Meals Tax Referendum in November 2013.  Every dollar of meals tax receipts anticipated in FY16 
has been allocated to Schools.  Of the $20 million budgeted meals tax revenue, $9.0 million is dedicated to Schools’ 
operating budget and the remainder has been dedicated for school facility maintenance projects within the capital 
budget.  Within the General Fund operating budget, the Henrico County School Board has a high accountability and 
outcome threshold it must adhere to with the significant County resources being allocated to the K-12 function.  
Overall, General Fund expenses are increasing $ 18.4 million.   

Total estimated General Fund revenues for FY16, prior to transfers to other funds, are budgeted at 
$902.2 million, which represents an increase of $22.9 million when compared to FY15. Of the $22.9 million 
increase in FY16, the largest local revenue source - real estate tax collections - reflects an overall increase of $11.9 
million or just under 4.4 percent and assumes a continuation of the current real estate tax rate of $0.87/$100 of 
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assessed valuation.  An additional $2.0 million of the increase is associated with the County’s 4.0 percent meals tax 
implemented on June 1, 2014, of which every dollar has been dedicated to Schools After transfers to other funds, the 
overall increase in the General Fund is budgeted to be 2.4 percent. 

To further encourage reinvestment into existing residential real estate parcels, an enhancement for 
the County’s Residential Reinvest Program was included in the FY15 budget and continued in FY16.  The 
Residential Reinvest Program encourages homeowners with properties at least 40 years old and valued at $250,000 
or less to reinvest in these properties by offering a seven-year tax exemption on any improvement increasing the 
value of the home 20 percent or more.  Prior to the FY15 budget the value threshold was $200,000. In 2015, 
operating under the new threshold, a total of 92 properties were completed with a total tax credit of $49,215. 

All other local revenues in Henrico County are budgeted to increase $6.0 million, or 2.3 percent in 
the FY16 Budget.  Of this amount, personal property tax revenues are increasing $2.4 million.  All other individual 
local revenue sources are estimated to increase $3.6 million.  The following highlights are offered: 

 Personal property tax revenues, which include Personal Property Tax Relief Act (“PPTRA”) reimbursements 
from the State, are projected to increase slightly in FY16 to $113.1 million, an increase of $2.4 million or 2.1 
percent.   

 Local sales and use tax revenues are projected to increase $1.1 million or 1.9 percent 
 Business and professional occupancy license (“BPOL”) receipts are anticipated to grow $600,000, a 2.0 

percent increase over the prior year estimates 
 Hotel and motel tax revenues – all of which is dedicated in the budget to the Greater Richmond Convention 

Center – remained flat at $10,400,000. 

In FY16, $5.6 million in increased State aid is anticipated.  Of this amount, $217,000 reflects 
increased Gasoline Tax revenues. In FY15, the Virginia General Assembly recognized a lane mile calculation that 
more closely reflects actual costs, which has led to significantly more Gasoline Tax funds for Henrico each year.  
State revenues for Schools reflect an increase of $6.1 million as compared to the current fiscal year.   

The budget utilizes both new resources and making further reductions to reestablish budgetary 
structure, allocates funds in the core areas of our local government, maintains our forward-looking approach to 
budgeting, and rewards the County’s hard working employees with a performance-based salary increase.  This 
strategic approach would not be possible if it was not for the continued efforts of County staff to do more with less 
and, of course, the support of the County’s citizens, the Board of Supervisors and the School Board. 

While the County must remain cautious, the positive local economic signs are welcome - real 
estate assessments are growing for the second consecutive year, vehicle sales are positive, and our business 
community continues to be a strength in Henrico. While there is always uncertainty regarding future economic 
conditions, one certainty that exists is that Henrico will strive to cultivate an environment that encourages positive 
economic growth by (among other things) maintaining the lowest real estate tax rate of any urban locality in 
Virginia and providing exceptional services to the citizens and residents of Henrico County.  
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The adopted FY2015-16 Annual Fiscal Plan (available online http://henrico.us/budget/approved-
budget-2016/ ) was approved with the following expectations for General Fund revenues, expenditures and transfers. 

FY2015-16 Annual Fiscal Plan (General Fund) 

     
Revenues and Transfers   Expenditures  

General property taxes $408,950,000 General government administration $40,993,015 

Other local taxes 138,455,000 Financial administration 13,423,106 

Revenue from use of money and Property 7,915,600 Public safety 164,623,084 

Intergovernmental revenue 328,443,775 Public works 48,045,077 

Permits, fees & licenses 4,126,100 Health and welfare 1,779,094 

Fines and forfeitures 2,590,000 Education 441,171,628 

Charges for services 3,585,100 Parks, recreation and cultural 34,596,408 

Miscellaneous 8,170,370 Judicial administration 7,913,112 

Transfers  -116,419,854 Community development 21,120,304 

      Miscellaneous 12,151,263 
Total Projected Revenues and Transfers $785,816,091 Total Budgeted Expenditures $785,816,091 

Source: County of Henrico Approved Budget, Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2016 

The FY2016-2017 Approved Budget for Henrico County, which was adopted by the Board of 
Supervisors on April 26, 2016 and is balanced within the current real estate tax rate of $0.87/ $100 of assessed 
value, marks the 38th consecutive year that Henrico County’s real estate tax rate has not been increased. The FY17 
budget includes reductions in the personal property tax rate on aircraft and water and sewer connection fees. The 
FY17 budget estimates General Fund revenue growth of 3.5 percent, with nearly 80.0 percent of all incremental 
General Fund revenue growth allocated to schools and public safety. The budget also provides for a 2.4 percent 
salary increase for all employees, continues to fund federally mandated Chesapeake Bay TMDL efforts, and creates 
a Revenue Stabilization Reserve in the General Fund to mitigate the impact of future economic contractions. 

The adopted FY2016-17 Annual Fiscal Plan (available online http://henrico.us/budget/approved-
budget-2017/ ) was approved with the following expectations for General Fund revenues, expenditures and transfers. 

FY2015-16 Annual Fiscal Plan (General Fund) 

     
Revenues and Transfers   Expenditures  

General property taxes $421,760,000 General government administration $42,013,184 

Other local taxes 143,485,000 Financial administration 13,798,699 

Revenue from use of money and Property 7,925,600 Public safety 170,483,485 

Intergovernmental revenue 341,820,975 Public works 48,965,254 

Permits, fees & licenses 4,701,100 Health and welfare 1,950,729 

Fines and forfeitures 2,590,000 Education 455,071,628 

Charges for services 3,700,450 Parks, recreation and cultural 36,116,814 

Miscellaneous 8,170,370 Judicial administration 8,102,908 

Transfers  -123,278,262 Community development 22,782,633 

      Miscellaneous 11,589,899 
Total Projected Revenues and Transfers $810,875,233 Total Budgeted Expenditures $810,875,233 

Source: County of Henrico Approved Budget, Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2016 
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Population 

The County’s population has increased steadily since 2005. This information is shown in the 
following chart:  

 

_________ 

Source: Continuing, Comprehensive, and Coordinated Transportation Data for Henrico County, Virginia by 
Traffic Zone (3-C Report), 2000 – 2014.  See page C-29 for estimated 2015 population for the County. 
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Taxable Retail Sales Data 

The following table presents the calendar year taxable retail sales, fiscal year sales tax revenue and 
taxable retail sales per capita.  The County’s taxable retail sales per capita have increased since 2001 with the 
exceptions of declines due to recessions and economic slowdowns.  In general, economic activity in the County has 
matched the population growth noted above.   

 

Year Population (1)

Calendar Year 
Taxable Retail 

Sales (000) (2) 

Fiscal Year 
Local Sales 
Tax Revenue 

(000) (4) 

Calendar Year 
Taxable Retail 

Sales Per Capita

2005 293,382 $4,444,650 (3) $52,850 $15,150

2006 299,443 4,695,500 (3) 56,145 15,681

2007 302,518 5,074,052 57,794 16,773
2008 305,580 4,928,864 57,400 16,130
2009 307,832 4,632,418 56,101 15,049
2010 311,726 4,672,111 54,677 14,987
2011 315,157 4,864,242 57,222 15,434
2012 318,158 5,041,671 57,694 15,846
2013 321,374 5,117,598 57,736 15,924
2014 325,283 5,214,320 57,663 16,030

(1) Continuing, Comprehensive, and Coordinated Transportation Data for Henrico County, 
Virginia, by Traffic Zone (3-C Report), 2001 – 2014. 
(2) Commonwealth of Virginia, Department of Taxation.  Data excludes automobile and 
prescription drug sales.
(3) Estimate from Department of Finance due to computer error at State Department of 
Taxation.

(4) Reflects actual revenue received.
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Construction Activity 

The recessionary economic environment, beginning in fiscal year 2008-2009, impacted the level 
of construction activity in the County.  However, in the last few fiscal years, the number of permits issued, and the 
value of these permits have begun to stabilize. 

Fiscal Total Dwelling Units (1) Total Permits Issued (2)

Year No. Value No. Value
2006 1,733 $302,181,248 20,907 $711,987,201
2007 1,338 258,791,133 18,506 741,847,309
2008 1,122 226,276,115 18,218 913,437,876
2009 602 115,162,605 12,819 450,517,382
2010 630 94,818,517 11,975 327,605,506
2011 639 115,646,120 12,205 387,596,586
2012 675 117,840,439 13,771 528,859,679
2013 742 127,094,852 14,276 411,502,767
2014 779 141,891,636 13,972 411,113,599
2015 707 119,761,275 13,577 582,961,941

Building Permits and Values

  

_________ 

Source:  Henrico County Department of Building Construction and Inspections.  
(1) Dwelling Unit is defined as a single-family residence. 
(2) Includes all residential and commercial construction. 
 
 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Single Family $94,819 $115,646 $117,840 $127,095 $141,892 $119,761 
Multi-Family 1,333 0 381 17,862 1,874 25,437
Office 2,650 6,075 85,218 800 8,972 40,818
Institutional 5,987 10 38 0 18,186 0
Commercial & Etc. 125,765 142,960 129,287 133,053 138,829 197,546

Total $230,554 $264,691 $332,764 $278,810 $309,753 $383,562 

Building Construction Permit Values by Classification
Fiscal Years Ended June 30

(000’s omitted)

 
 

 

_________ 

Source:  Henrico County Department of Building Construction and Inspections. 
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Housing 

The data in the table below present the characteristics of residential housing in the County.  In 
2014, single family housing units represented approximately 65.6 percent of all residential housing.  The percentage 
of housing stock consisting of multifamily units has remained fairly constant throughout the period.   

____________ 

Source:  Continuing, Comprehensive, and Coordinated Transportation Data for Henrico County, Virginia by 
Traffic Zone (3-C Report), 2010 – 2014. 

Commerce, Industry and Employment 

After successfully navigating through several years of economic hardship brought upon by the 
recession, there are several positives being observed that indicate the worst of the downturn may be behind the 
County. Real estate assessments are growing for the second consecutive year, vehicle sales are positive, and our 
business community continues to be a strength in Henrico. 

However, despite the improved economic climate, Henrico County continues to evaluate its 
governmental practices, identifying areas that exist for greater operational efficiencies, and thereby best utilizing 
taxpayer provided resources. As evidenced by a long history of prudent financial management - and the distinction 
of being one of only 36 triple AAA rated localities in the country - Henrico County continues to exemplify 
excellence in local government finance and administration. While there is always uncertainty regarding future 
economic conditions, one certainty that does exist is that Henrico County will continue to do everything within its 
means to create an environment conducive to positive economic growth. 

Henrico County residents live and work in a low-tax, high-quality community with one of the 
premier public school systems in the nation, and the local economy continues to be well positioned to expand on the 
growth enjoyed during the past few years of economic recovery.  The Board of Supervisors has fostered this 
environment through consistently demanding innovation, effective planning and financial prudence when allocating 
public resources, while also incrementally reducing tax rates when economically feasible, and exploring less 
burdensome revenue enhancements when necessary. With an emphasis on superior customer service, sound 
financial management, and sustainable economic development, Henrico County has been and will continue to be a 
community of choice.  

The Richmond Metropolitan Area continues to garner recognition and accolades regarding its 
financial strength, talented workforce, and pro-business environment. For example, the area was ranked among the 
“10 Best Places to Start a Business” by Inc. Magazine in August 2015; ranked among the “Top 10 Mid-Sized Cities 
of the Future” by Foreign Direct Investment (fDi) Magazine in April 2015; was ranked among the “10 Best Cities to 
Relocate To in the U.S.” by the Huffington Post in April 2015; as well as being among the “50 Best Places to live in 
America” by Men’s Journal in April 2015.  In addition, the Richmond area came in 1st on the list of the top 10 most 
popular cities to visit, by American Express Travel in May 2015, while also being named the “southern food 
destination you need to know about” by Conde Nast Traveler in July 2015.   

Acknowledgements such as these would not be possible without a strong infrastructure to support 
the existing business community - such as the 19 Inc. 5000 companies with a significant presence in Henrico 
County, as well as the many small businesses and entrepreneurial endeavors that drive our diverse economy. 
Henrico County is home to 4 of the region’s 10 Fortune 1000 companies, and serves as the corporate headquarters 
for two Fortune 500 companies; Altria and Genworth Financial, while The Brink’s Company and Markel 

Units
%  of 

Housing Units
%  of 

Housing Units
%  of 

Housing Units
%  of 

Housing Units
%  of 

Housing
Single Family 85,659 65.60% 86,019 65.60% 86,405 65.63% 86,817 65.59% 87,249 65.59%
Multi-Family 44,823 34.40% 45,025 34.40% 45,247 34.37% 45,546 34.41% 45,771 34.41%
Total 130,482 100.00% 131,044 100.00% 131,652 100.00% 132,363 100.00% 133,020 100.00%

20142010 2011 2012 2013
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Corporation are both within the Fortune 1000. In addition to these companies, Henrico County is also home to 
Phillip Morris U.S.A. (a subsidiary of Altria), Alfa Laval, Hamilton Beach-Proctor Silex, Southern States 
Cooperative, along with over fifty companies based in twelve nations outside the United States that maintain offices 
in Henrico County.  All of these companies have invested heavily in the County, and the Richmond Metropolitan 
Area has benefitted from their presence.   

The Richmond International Raceway (RIR), located in Henrico County, has a seating capacity of 
71,000 and hosts NASCAR races that attract fans from across the United States. RIR is one of the most popular 
facilities among NASCAR drivers and fans in all of motorsports. Known as America’s Premier Short Track, RIR 
annually hosts two NASCAR Doubleheader weekends, featuring the NASCAR Sprint Cup Series and NASCAR 
Xfinity Series. Only three tracks in the U.S. have continuously hosted NASCAR races at their present locations 
longer than RIR. A unique feature of RIR’s strategic placement within Henrico is that it is accessible within a day’s 
travel to 50 percent of the country’s population, which, along with NASCAR’s loyal fan base and growing 
popularity, makes it a popular destination for race enthusiasts. As a result, the economic impact to the local area is 
significant, with each race generating an estimated $42.5 million through the fans’ patronage of local stores, 
restaurants and hotels.  

While employment statistics are improving, the depth and severity of the recession attributed to a 
significant number of job losses locally. However, despite these job losses, Henrico County’s employment statistics 
continue to compare favorably relative to national and state averages. According to the Virginia Employment 
Commission, as of December 2015 the County’s unemployment rate (not seasonally adjusted) of 3.8 percent is less 
than the Virginia rate of 3.9 percent and, considerably lower than the National rate of 4.8 percent.  This relatively 
low unemployment rate is indicative of the fundamental economic strength of the County, as well as the resiliency 
and perseverance of state and local employers and the County’s educated, talented workforce.  Reinforcing this 
assumption is the strength of wages in Henrico County relative to both the state and the nation.  

While the economic downturn had a significant impact on the real estate market in Henrico in both 
the residential and commercial sectors, recently there have been signs of improvement. As of January 1, 2016, the 
total taxable assessed value of the County was approximately $34.1 billion, representing an increase of about $1.1 
billion compared to January 1, 2015. The increase in residential and commercial properties totaled$ 755 million, or 
2.3 percent, while new residential and commercial construction increased $318 million, or just less than 1 percent. 
The increase represents the fourth consecutive year of real estate tax base growth. While the January 2016 increase 
is encouraging, and indicates an improving economy and local real estate market, the overall real estate tax base 
remains below 2008 levels, as the County continues to recover the over $4.0 billion in tax base lost between 2010 
and 2012.                     

Residential foreclosures increased each year from 2008 to 2010 as compared to the average for the 
previous seven years, which has had a direct impact on residential values. Beginning in 2011, foreclosures began to 
decline slightly, and in 2013 totaled 738, representing 8.1 percent of total transactions. In 2015 the number of 
foreclosures as a percentage of total sales transactions has continued to drop, representing about 5.2 percent of total 
transactions.  The 2015 figure of 481 foreclosures is 297, or 38.1 percent below the prior five year average of 778. 
As evidenced by these statistics, foreclosures have caused distress in the local residential housing market, but 
Henrico is making a strong recovery in this area.   

In addition, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, total construction permit data, including 
permits for the construction of single family, residential and commercial dwellings, is continuing to show signs of 
stability and is increasing slightly.  The County’s business friendly environment, combined with a well-educated 
workforce, should position it well for continued growth.  

Henrico County is still one of the Commonwealth’s leaders in retail sales as it ranks second 
behind only Fairfax County in total annual taxable sales. The most recent annual data from the Virginia Department 
of Taxation shows that Henrico County’s annual taxable sales for 2015 were $5.4 billion, a 3.8 percent increase 
from 2014, and greater than the $5.1 billion of taxable sales for 2007, prior to the onset of the recession.  In addition, 
Henrico continues to be one of the strongest economically performing localities in the Commonwealth. In 2015, 
Henrico ranked 2nd in total taxable sales among all localities, and 1st in total taxable sales per capita when compared 
to the ten largest comparably rated localities in the Commonwealth. These statistics are another indication that the 
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County has grown to be a destination for shoppers locally, regionally and statewide.  Henrico is a destination for 
shoppers with Short Pump Town Center, White Oak Village in Eastern Henrico, and Short Pump Station in Western 
Henrico.   

The County believes that the presence of these business and corporate entities would not be 
possible were it not for the favorable business environment that Henrico County has fostered throughout the years. 
Since 1978, the Board of Supervisors has decreased the Real Estate Tax Rate six times. In addition to these 
decreases, Henrico is also the lowest taxing metropolitan locality in Virginia when compared to the 15 largest 
localities. The low tax burden combined with a record of fiscal management and a commitment to excellent services 
is at the front of the County's economic development plans, 

Area Total Employment by Place of Residence, January 2015- December 2015 
  

Source:  Virginia Workforce Connection, Local Area Unemployment Statistic Unit, and Bureau of Labor Statistics. 
December 2015 labor statistics represent most recent data available.   
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December 2015 168,492 3.8 168,770 3.9 105,501 4.6 53,698 3.5 10,017 3.6
November 2015 167,929 3.5 168,244 3.9 105,218 4.7 53,512 3.5 10,010 3.6
October 2015 167,055 4.0 167,304 4.1 104,520 4.9 53,278 3.7 9,907 3.9

September 2015 164,901 4.1 165,249 4.2 103,165 5.0 52,764 3.7 9,817 4.2
August 2015 166,689 4.3 167,072 4.3 104,253 5.4 53,420 3.8 9,933 4.1

July 2015 167,556 4.7 168,041 4.7 104,778 5.8 53,873 4.2 10,019 4.4
June 2015 167,498 4.9 167,956 5.0 104,756 6.0 53,798 4.5 10,007 4.7
May 2015 168,341 4.9 168,800 4.9 105,349 5.9 54,000 4.4 10,069 4.7
April 2015 168,165 4.5 168,635 4.4 105,312 5.4 53,892 4.0 10,076 4.2
March 2015 166,950 4.8 167,344 4.7 104,558 5.7 53,376 4.2 9,976 4.7

February 2015 167,415 4.8 167,752 4.9 104,827 5.8 53,454 4.4 9,977 4.7
January 2015 167,587 4.7 167,905 4.7 104,957 5.7 53,456 4.2 9,983 4.6
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Employment by Industry Type 

Industry Richmond 

MSA 
(1), (2)

Henrico 
County 

Henrico as a %  
of Richmond 

MSA

Richmond 

MSA 
(1), (2)

Henrico 
County 

Henrico as a %  
of Richmond 

MSA

Richmond 

MSA 
(1), (2)

Henrico 
County 

Henrico as 
a %  of 

Richmond 
MSA

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing & Hunting 1,378 70 5.1% 1,372 73 5.3% 1,027 67 6.5%
Mining 561 29 5.2% 592 14 2.4% 560 8 1.4%
Utilities 3,830 468 12.2% 3,843 473 12.3% 2,894 504 17.4%
Construction 34,249 7,915 23.1% 34,495 7,665 22.2% 35,070 7,350 21.0%
Wholesale Trade 24,282 7,619 31.4% 24,769 7,349 29.7% 24,338 7,514 30.9%
Information 8,717 3,972 45.6% 8,767 3,831 43.7% 8,751 3,902 44.6%
Finance and Insurance 37,842 18,084 47.8% 37,987 18,287 48.1% 38,408 16,947 44.1%
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 7,316 3,008 41.1% 7,603 3,489 45.9% 7,737 3,643 47.1%
Professional and Technical Services 37,878 15,149 40.0% 37,524 14,883 39.7% 37,178 14,379 38.7%
Management of Companies and Enterprises 21,120 7,286 34.5% 20,768 7,598 36.6% 21,331 7,985 37.4%
Administrative and Waste Services 40,315 15,969 39.6% 37,086 15,176 40.9% 38,207 16,421 43.0%
Educational Services 55,925 11,382 20.4% 55,654 11,581 20.8% 54,548 11,756 21.6%
Health Care and Social Assistance 87,310 27,394 31.4% 88,825 27,211 30.6% 88,847 27,376 30.8%
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 9,825 1,875 19.1% 10,815 1,923 17.8% 10,110 2,010 19.9%
Accommodation and Food Services 46,989 15,654 33.3% 47,889 15,373 32.1% 48,733 15,589 32.0%
Other Services, Ex. Public Admin 20,625 5,694 27.6% 20,646 5,936 28.8% 20,238 5,763 28.5%
Public Administration 40,891 5,367 13.1% 40,498 5,536 13.7% 40,095 5,565 13.9%
Manufacturing 31,831 5,953 18.7% 32,184 5,973 18.6% 30,734 6,212 20.2%
Retail Trade 70,388 23,167 32.9% 76,367 23,323 30.5% 75,216 23,630 31.4%
Transportation and Warehousing 20,512 4,800 23.4% 20,869 4,866 23.3% 21,099 4,829 22.9%
Total, All Industries 601,784 180,855 30.1% 608,553 180,560 29.7% 605,121 181,450 30.0%

2012 2013 2014

 

Source: Virginia Employment Commission. Information represents the latest information available. 

(1) - Represents Average 4th Quarter Data for each year.  Data represents total employment in each locality.  
Includes residents of other localities that work in each respective locality. 

(2) -  Richmond MSA defined as: Amelia County, Caroline County, Charles City County, Chesterfield County, 
Cumberland County, Dinwiddie County, Goochland County, Hanover County, Henrico County, King and Queen 
County, King William County, Louisa County, New Kent County, Powhatan County, Prince George County, Sussex 
County, City of Colonial Heights, City of Hopewell, City of Petersburg, and the City of Richmond. 

Median Household Income by Calendar Year 

 

 

_________ 

Source:  Virginia Employment Commission, U.S. Census Bureau, and Virginia Workforce Connection.  Information 
represents the latest information available. 

Top 20 Principal Employers 

Numerous business types are located within the County and offer employment in such diversified 
areas as wholesale distribution, contract construction, research and technical manufacturing, marketing and banking.  
The following table presents data regarding some of the principal employers in the County, which accounts for 21.0 
percent of total employment in the County in 2015. 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Henrico County $61,300 $57,318 $59,128 $61,206 $60,069 $61,048 

Commonwealth of Virginia 61,210 59,327 60,665 63,302 65,571 63,907

United States 52,029 50,221 50,046 52,762 51,758 53,046
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Source: Virginia Employment Commission 
Employees and percentage of employment based on size code as published by VEC 
(1) 2015 Data as of 1st Qtr 2015 
(2) VEC Monthly (June) Not Seasonally Adjusted Labor Force 

Economic Development 

Many companies have sought to position themselves in Henrico County to take advantage of its 
low tax burden, high quality infrastructure, talented and diverse workforce and overall business friendly atmosphere.  
For example, several new, large scale retail and mixed-use projects are in various stages of development throughout 
the County. Among these, the West Broad Marketplace development, slated for completion in 2016. The 97,000 
square foot Cabela’s, a Nebraska based retail chain specializing in outdoor hunting, fishing and camping related gear 
opened in April, 2016.  It will employ approximately 150 people and become the anchor tenant of the development 
located just one mile west Short Pump Town Center.  In addition, the development will include a Wegman’s 
location, which is expected to employ 550 to 600 people in full and part-time positions.  

Employer Employees Rank
Percentage

of Total 
Employment

Henrico County School Board 5,000-9,999 1 3.60%

County of Henrico 1,000-4,999 2 1.90%

Bon Secours Richmond Health System 1,000-4,999 3 1.80%

Capital One Bank 1,000-4,999 4 1.80%

Henrico Doctors' Hospital (HCA) 1,000-4,999 5 1.80%

Anthem (Blue Cross & Blue Shield) 1,000-4,999 6 1.80%

Wells Fargo Bank NA 1,000-4,999 7 1.80%

United States Postal Service 500-999 8 0.50%

Walmart 500-999 9 0.50%

Bank of America 500-999 10 0.50%

GNA Corporation 500-999 11 0.50%

Kroger 500-999 12 0.50%

Martin's Food Market 500-999 13 0.50%

SunTrust Bank 500-999 14 0.50%

Apex Systems, Inc. 500-999 15 0.50%

Markel Service, Inc 500-999 16 0.50%

Virginia Department of Social Services 500-999 17 0.50%

T Mobile USA, Inc. 500-999 18 0.50%

Source4Teachers 500-999 19 0.50%

J. Sargeant Reynolds Community College 500-999 20 0.50%

Total Employment
 (2) 

180,876 21.00%

2015 (1)
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The Libbie Mill development, located at the intersections of Staples Mill Road, Bethlehem Road 
and Libbie Avenue in the County’s near-West End is an 80 acre mixed-use neighborhood that will feature 100,000 
square feet of retail space, 60,000 square feet of office space, as well as over 2,000 housing units planned both for 
sale and luxury rental. The development includes the new 60,000 square foot Libbie Mill Library, which opened 
October 29, 2015.  The development also includes the upscale grocery Southern Seasons, however it will be closing 
in 2016, allowing the company to focus on smaller footprint locations. 

In April 2014, Dominion Virginia Power sought and was granted approval to build a 110,000 
square foot, $80 million facility with enhanced security infrastructure, located near Interstate 295 in the northern 
part of the county. The new facility will offer improved infrastructure and more space for expansion.  

McKesson Medical-Surgical, Inc., a subsidiary of the McKesson Corporation, opened a new 
expanded headquarters in the County in September, 2015. The healthcare services and information technology 
company spent more than $10 million to relocate and lease a 168,500 square foot office space near Innsbrook in the 
western portion of the county, with plans to add 225 new jobs over the next few years. Business expansions such as 
these have contributed to reduced vacancy rates and increased rental rates for Class A office space in the area. 

The business friendly environment in Henrico is not only attracting new and expanding 
businesses, but redevelopment continues to be an important component of strengthening the local economy. The 
shops at Willow Lawn are an example of the County’s focus on redevelopment. First opened in 1956, Willow Lawn 
has been through several transformations, the most recent of which occurred in 2012, when a $9 million renovation 
and redesign added a new open-air layout, greater visibility and 17,000 square feet of new tenant space.  More than 
60 shops and restaurants exist within the development.  The County’s commitment to the redevelopment of the 
property, as well as the area’s attractive demographics has contributed to the commercial success of the shops at 
Willow Lawn, as well as the revitalization of the surrounding area.    

Because economic indicators having the greatest impact on the County’s revenues often lag during 
an economic recovery, Henrico County’s leadership is continuing to examine opportunities to redefine the way 
Henrico does business. The efficiencies and savings identified as a result of this effort, combined with the 
conservative fiscal management routinely employed by Henrico will allow the County to continue to provide 
services to our citizens at the level they have come to expect.   

It should be noted that during the economic downturn, both the Commonwealth and the Richmond 
Metropolitan Area fared much better than the national economy as a whole.  In fact, the Richmond Metropolitan 
Area has received many accolades relating to economic success compared to other Metropolitan Statistical Areas 
(MSA’s): 

 The Richmond region was named a top destination for food travel in 2016, by National Geographic, 
January 2016. 

 The Richmond region ranked at No. 3 on international list of Best Places to Travel in 2016, Travel + 
Leisure magazine, November 2015. 

 The Richmond area ranked 3rd on the 10 Best Places to Start a Business, Inc. magazine, Aug. 2015. 

 Ranked 4th among the Top 10 Mid-Sized American Cities of the Future in Foreign Direct 
Investment (fDi) Magazine’s North American Cities of the Future 2015/16, April 2015. 

 One of the South's top 10 outstanding cities to relocate your HQ, Southern Business & Development, 
September 2014. 

 Richmond ranked among the top 10 cities for finding a job in accounting or finance, according to 
Accounting Principals, August 2014. 

 Richmond region is the "most content area" in America, according to the U.S. National Bureau of 
Economic Research, July 2014. 

 Richmond finished as the 10th best city for overall small business friendliness in the country, 
earning an A grade, by Thumbtack.com, June 2014. 
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 Richmond ranked 4th among "Cities you should explore on 2 wheels," by Buzzfeed, April 2014. 

 Richmond named one of the country’s 10 hottest housing markets, by CNN Money, Jan. 2014 

The County’s unemployment rate in December 2015 of 3.8 percent remains lower than the 
national unemployment rate of 4.8 percent, and slightly lower than that of the Commonwealth of Virginia of 3.9 
percent.  

Henrico County is still one of the Commonwealth’s leaders in retail sales as it ranks second 
behind only Fairfax County in total annual taxable sales, which has a population that is nearly triple that of Henrico. 
The most recent annual data from the Virginia Department of Taxation shows that Henrico County’s annual taxable 
sales for 2015 were $5.4 billion, a 3.8 percent increase from 2014, and greater than the $5.1 billion of taxable sales 
for 2007, prior to the onset of the recession. It should also be noted that Henrico’s share of regional sales accounts 
for 38.4 percent of all regional sales collections. 
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Assessed Value of All Taxable Property 
Last Ten Calendar Years 

Assessed Value

Corp.
(1)

Calendar Assessed Personal Real Personal Total
Year Value Real Estate Property Estate Property Assessed Value

2006 $ 29,281,500,300 $ 3,721,479,562 $ 801,743,073 $ 3,788,794 $ 33,808,511,729

2007 32,787,682,100 3,807,727,203 850,902,357 3,418,990 37,449,730,650

2008 34,740,075,000 4,022,203,876 851,141,635 3,803,163 39,617,223,674

2009 34,975,868,000 3,789,013,000 913,716,000 2,763,000 39,681,360,000

2010 32,016,975,000 3,068,020,000 976,312,000 3,704,000 36,065,011,000

2011 31,702,148,000 3,208,453,000 988,146,000 3,324,000 35,902,071,000

2012 30,666,925,000 3,432,535,000 980,339,000 3,433,000 35,083,232,000

2013 30,776,112,000 3,586,164,000 938,957,000 3,143,000 35,304,376,000

2014 31,908,424,000 3,585,703,000 908,401,000 3,305,000 36,405,833,000

2015 33,103,077,000 3,766,963,000 962,217,000 2,529,000 37,834,786,000  

_________ 

 Source:  Henrico County Department of Finance. 

TAX BASE DATA 

The following data is presented to illustrate characteristics of the assessed value of real and 
personal property, which are major sources of County-derived revenue.  Of Henrico County’s $33.1 billion in 
taxable real estate in 2015, 31.1 percent is classified as commercial. 

 

(1) Source: State Corporation Commission and Henrico County Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the 
fiscal years ended 2006 through 2015. 
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Property Tax Rates 

Property tax rates are established each year by the Board of Supervisors during the annual budget 
process.  Property tax rates for the past twelve calendar years are as set forth in the table below: 

Tax Rates  
(Per $100 of Assessed Value) 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
_________ 

Source:  Director of Finance, Henrico County 

 

Calendar Real Personal Machinery 
Year Estate Property and Tools Aircraft 

2003 $0.94 $3.50 $1.00 $1.60 

2004 0.94 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2005 0.92 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2006 0.90 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2007 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2008 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2009 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2010 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2011 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2012 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2013 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2014 0.87 3.50 1.00 1.60 

2015 0.87 3.50 0.30 1.60 



 

C-23 

Original Percentage Collections Percentage
Fiscal Year of Original in Subsequent of Adjusted

Year Levy Amount Levy Years Amount Levy

2006 339,091,487$   323,450,975$   95.4% 8,538,873$        331,989,848$    97.9%
2007 352,305,000     331,949,276     94.2% 7,810,096          339,759,372      96.4%
2008 369,929,993     364,474,006     98.5% 4,881,310          369,355,316      99.8%
2009 380,661,375     371,078,746     97.5% 9,345,791          380,424,537      99.9%
2010 365,521,825     357,859,027     97.9% 7,479,652          365,338,679      99.9%
2011 349,268,894     336,136,985     96.2% 6,808,891          342,945,876      98.2%
2012 347,803,213     341,709,567     98.2% 5,359,194          347,068,761      99.8%
2013 357,613,295     351,926,258     98.4% 5,368,128          357,294,386      99.9%
2014 361,689,033     358,676,284     99.2% 2,067,461          360,743,745      99.7%
2015 373,457,423     357,897,136     95.8% N/A 357,897,136      95.8%

(1)  PPTRA amounts are no longer included in Levy or Collections as of FY2007.

(2)  Fiscal year 2015 collections in subsequent years will be available as of the next reporting period.

Fiscal Year of Levy Total Collections to Date

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Collections within the

 
 

Fiscal 
Year

Vehicle 
Receipts

Business 
Receipts

Fiscal 
Year

Vehicle 
Receipts

Business 
Receipts

2006  $     5,872,248  $     28,628,015 2011  $     6,253,599  $     27,525,602 
2007         6,155,519         31,173,501 2012         6,275,819         28,486,699 
2008         6,234,901         30,847,775 2013         6,472,365         29,640,707 
2009         6,171,378         29,848,568 2014         6,714,426         29,827,991 
2010         6,181,742         27,313,048 2015         6,573,762         32,086,401 

Vehicle and Business License Receipts

 

 
Source: Henrico County Department of Finance CAFR FY2006-FY2015 Exhibit No. 11.  
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Principal Taxpayers 

The following data shows the assessed value of the real and personal property of the ten largest 
holders of real property and personal property in the County as of June 30, 2015.  The estimated assessed value of 
real and personal property of these large entities in the County represents approximately 6.27 percent of the 
projected total assessed value of all real property and personal property of $37,834,785,481. This total also includes 
Public Service Corporation properties assessed by the State Corporation Commission. 

Taxpayer Type of Business
Real/Personal 

Assessed Value Rank

% of 
Valuation

Virginia Power Company  Utility  $             525,513,203 1 1.39%

Forest City (Short Pump TC, etc)  Retail and Offices                 294,292,900 2 0.78%

General Services Corporation  Apartments                 234,071,500 3 0.62%

Highwoods Properties  Offices and Warehouses                 232,434,600 4 0.61%

The Wilton Companies  Office, Retail & Warehouse                 224,576,100 5 0.59%

Verizon  Utility                 222,685,067 6 0.59%

Weinstein Family  Apartments                 184,265,700 7 0.49%

HCA Health Services of VA  Hospital                 172,426,474 8 0.46%

Gumenick  Apartments and Retail                 143,760,200 9 0.38%

United Dominion Realty Trust  Apartments                 137,650,600 10 0.36%

Totals 2,371,676,344$           6.27%  
 

Source: Henrico County Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 
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DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Issuance and Authorization of Bonded Indebtedness 

Pursuant to the Constitution of Virginia and the Public Finance Act of 1991, Chapter 26, Title 15.2 
of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, a county in Virginia is authorized to issue general obligation bonds 
secured by a pledge of its full faith and credit.  For the payment of such bonds the governing body of a county is 
required to levy, if necessary, an ad valorem tax on all property in the county subject to local taxation.  Although the 
issuance of general obligation bonds by Virginia counties is not subject to any limitation on amount, counties are 
prohibited from issuing general obligation bonds unless the issuance of such bonds has been approved by public 
referendum, or unless such issuance is for refunding bonds or is through the Virginia Public School Authority, the 
Literary Fund, or other state agency prescribed by law.  Payment of general government and school bonded 
indebtedness is provided for in the Debt Service Fund of the County. 

Revenue bonds of a county are payable from revenues of the undertaking and do not require a 
referendum thereon.  Payment of water and sewer utility revenue bonds is provided for in the County’s Water and 
Sewer Enterprise Fund. 

Payment of lease revenue bonds is subject to the annual appropriation of the Board of Supervisors 
of the County and is not subject to referendum. 

As of June 30, 2015, the County’s audited outstanding bonded indebtedness was as follows: 

General Obligation Bonds                            $387,760,000 

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 231,360,899 

Lease Revenue Bonds* 22,995,000 

Subtotal $642,115,899 

Less: Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds   (231,360,899) 

Total Net Debt $410,755,000  

*See “Bond Amortization Requirements – Total Leases with the Economic Development Authority” herein. 



 

C-26 

Bond Amortization Requirements 

Principal and interest payments on the outstanding general obligation bonded indebtedness of the 
County as of June 30, 2015 are presented in the following table: 

Total General Obligation Bonds 

Fiscal year 
Ending June 30,  Principal Interest Total 

06/30/16 $34,600,000 $16,513,898 $51,113,898 
06/30/17 34,135,000 15,357,396 49,492,396 
06/30/18 32,635,000 13,758,110 46,393,110 
06/30/19 32,595,000 12,261,849 44,856,849 
06/30/20 32,585,000 10,748,948 43,333,948 
06/30/21 30,845,000 9,231,243 40,076,243 
06/30/22 28,270,000 7,774,613 36,044,613 
06/30/23 26,920,000 6,515,563 33,435,563 
06/30/24 24,275,000 5,450,663 29,725,663 
06/30/25 24,270,000 4,398,038 28,668,038 
06/30/26 22,400,000 3,333,488 25,733,488 
06/30/27 18,570,000 2,378,388 20,948,388 
06/30/28 15,005,000 1,575,113 16,580,113 
06/30/29 13,530,000 926,756 14,456,756 
06/30/30 6,915,000 505,438 7,420,438 
06/30/31 6,910,000 245,450 7,155,450 
06/30/32 3,300,000 57,750 3,357,750 

Total $387,760,000 $111,032,699 $498,792,699 
_______ 

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance. 
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Principal and interest payments on outstanding Economic Development Authority (EDA) 
obligations payable from leases with the County as of June 30, 2015 are presented in the following table: 

Fiscal Year

Ending June 30

2016 $ 4,005,000        $ 945,650          $ 4,950,650        

2017 4,165,000        800,250          4,965,250        

2018 3,330,000        631,825          3,961,825        

2019 2,665,000        477,975          3,142,975        

2020 2,800,000        341,350          3,141,350        

2021 2,935,000        205,312          3,140,312        

2022 3,095,000        46,425            3,141,425        

Total 22,995,000$ 3,448,787$  26,443,787$ 

Total Leases with the Economic Development Authority  

Principal Interest Total

 
_______ 

Source: Henrico County Department of Finance. 
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Debt Ratios 

The following data are presented to show trends in the relationship of the net long-term 
indebtedness of the County to the estimated market value of taxable property in the County, its estimated population 
and the trend of debt service requirements as a percentage of General Fund and School Operating disbursements.  In 
addition to General Obligation bonds, the County’s total long-term indebtedness includes EDA lease obligations as 
of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 (audited), bringing the total to $410,755,000. 

Net Long-Term Indebtedness Per Capita 

Fiscal Year Net Long-term Estimated  Indebtedness  

Ending June 30 Indebtedness (2) Population (1) Per Capita 

2006 $371,646,511 299,443 $1,241 
2007 390,206,592 302,518 1,290 
2008 386,627,916 305,580 1,265 
2009 492,123,456 307,832 1,599 
2010 450,490,623 311,726 1,445 
2011 492,201,006 315,157 1,562 
2012 527,997,590 318,158 1,660 
2013 489,407,589 321,374 1,523 
2014 452,550,000 325,238 1,391 

   2015(3) 410,755,000 327,919 1,253 

 
___________ 
Source: Henrico County Department of Finance. 

(1) Years 2006 through 2014 from Henrico County Department of Planning.  
(2) Includes general obligation bonds and EDA lease obligations . 
(3) Estimate based on 5-year average growth rate.  

   

Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Fiscal Year Net Long-term
Ending June 30 Indebtedness Assessed Value Percentage

2006 $371,646,511 $33,808,511,729 1.11
2007 390,206,592 37,449,730,650 1.04
2008 386,627,916 39,617,223,674 0.98
2009 492,123,456 39,681,360,000 1.24
2010 450,490,623 36,065,011,000 1.25
2011 492,201,006 35,902,071,000 1.37
2012 527,997,590 35,083,231,701 1.50
2013 489,407,589 35,304,375,594 1.40
2014 452,550,000 36,405,833,000 1.24
2015 410,755,000 37,834,786,000 1.10  

__________ 
Source: Henrico County Department of Finance. 
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Fiscal Year Debt Service

Ending June 30 Requirements 
(1)

Disbursements 
(2) Percentage

2002 $ 33,833,406 $ 625,648,555 5.41

2003 37,132,336 648,669,165 5.72

2004 37,893,071 968,135,652 5.43

2005 37,212,785 742,635,904 5.01

2006 42,230,291 798,083,024 5.29

2007 48,038,472 858,946,018 5.59

2008 51,678,822 927,989,584 5.57

2009 52,623,443 953,967,019 5.52

2010 56,070,508 965,043,838 5.81

2011 52,021,536 938,824,056 5.54

2012 55,325,286 951,640,390 5.81

2013 60,902,606 962,099,871 6.33

2014 58,747,033 1,007,135,736 5.83

2015 57,676,778 1,011,225,959 5.70

Trend of Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation

Bonds as a Percentage of General Disbursements

 
 
 
____________ 
Source: Henrico County Department of Finance. 
(1)  Includes interest and other debt service costs. 
(2)  Includes General, Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds. 
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Lease Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

The County is obligated to make payments under various capital and operating leases for computer 
hardware, automotive vehicles, equipment, and the leasing of an office building.  In accordance with legal 
requirements, all lease obligations are contingent upon the Board of Supervisors appropriating funds for each year’s 
payments.  Future minimum lease payments on obligations entered into through June 30, 2015 under these capital 
and operating leases for fiscal years ending June 30 are as follows: 

 

Fiscal Year

Ending June 30 Amount

2016 $16,371,552 

2017 16,230,322 

2018 11,511,597 

Thereafter 14,979,048 

Total minimum lease payments 59,092,519 

Less amount representing interest 4,004,017 

Present value of all future minimum lease 
payments

$55,088,502 
 

The amounts shown above include lease payments due from the County with respect to the 
financing of regional jail facilities through the Economic Development Authority of Henrico County, Virginia. See 
“Bond Amortization Requirements – Total General Lease Obligations” herein.  In April, 2016, the County partially 
financed a new communication system through a lease transaction in the amount of $34,000,000. 

Contingent Liabilities 

Environmental Risk. The County is the owner of closed landfills, underground storage tanks, 
sewage lagoons and other potential sources of toxic substances.  Ownership of these properties exposes the County 
to risk of third party pollution liability.  At this time no claim exists nor is there knowledge of any condition which 
impairs a third party’s property or person. 

Joint Ventures 

Capital Region Airport Commission. The Capital Region Airport Commission (the 
“Commission”) was created in 1975 pursuant to Virginia statute.  On January 1, 1976, the Commission became 
effective, and the County and the City of Richmond entered into an agreement with the Commission, which was 
responsible for the operation of the Richmond International Airport (“Airport”).  As part of the agreement, the City 
of Richmond conveyed the Airport property to the Commission, and the Commission in turn agreed to 
reimbursement of the outstanding debt of the City relating to the property.  The County also made a contribution to 
the Commission for a 40 percent interest in the venture.  The Counties of Chesterfield and Hanover became 
Commission participants in fiscal year 1984 and fiscal year 1986, respectively.  The Commission operates as a 
separate political subdivision, with four participating member jurisdictions, that operates independently, as described 
below. 

The Commission is comprised of a fourteen-member board of directors, with four members each 
being appointed by the governing bodies of the City of Richmond, the County of Henrico and the County of 
Chesterfield and two members being appointed by the County of Hanover governing body.  The Commission 
generates its revenues from service charges to users of the Airport facilities to recover the costs of maintaining, 
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repairing and operating the Airport.  Virginia statutes require that the Commission annually submit a budget 
showing estimated revenues and expenditures to the governing bodies of the City of Richmond and the three 
counties for their approval.  After approval of the proposed budget by the governing bodies, if the Commission’s 
budget contains estimated expenditures which exceed estimated revenues, then the governing bodies are required to 
fund the deficit in proportion to their financial interests in the Commission.  If, however, actual revenues are less 
than estimated revenues (resulting in a deficit), the City of Richmond and the three counties may, at their discretion, 
appropriate funds necessary to fund the deficit 

The percentage shares of the jurisdictions involved include the following: 

City of Richmond 29.27% 

County of Henrico 31.44 

County of Chesterfield 30.17 

County of Hanover    9.12 

 100.00% 

This financial interest is determined by applying the percentage of the total approximate 
population of each jurisdiction to the combined total population of all jurisdictions.  The above percentages are 
based on the final 1990 census figures provided by the Richmond Regional Planning District Commission. 

Complete financial statements for the Capital Region Airport Commission can be obtained from 
its administrative office at 1 Richard E. Byrd Terminal Drive, Suite C, Richmond International Airport, Virginia 
23250-2400 or at www.flyrichmond.com/index/php/about-us/financials. 

Greater Richmond Convention Center Authority.  The Greater Richmond Convention Center 
Authority (the “Convention Authority”), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, was created on 
January 9, 1998, pursuant to the Public Recreational Facilities Authorities Act, Chapter 56 of Title 15.2, Code of 
Virginia (1950).  The local governments participating in the incorporation of the Convention Authority were the 
City of Richmond and the Counties of Henrico, Chesterfield and Hanover.  The Convention Authority is governed 
by a five-member board comprised of the chief administrative officer of each of the four incorporating local 
governments and the President/CEO of the Retail Merchants Association of Greater Richmond. 

The Convention Authority was created to acquire, finance, expand, renovate, construct, lease, 
operate and maintain the facility and grounds of a visitors and convention center or centers including the facility and 
grounds currently known as the Greater Richmond Convention Center.  The primary purpose of the Convention 
Authority is to issue revenue bonds to finance the expansion of the facility and to construct access, streetscape, or 
other on-site/off-site improvements. After the completion of the project, the Convention Authority assumed 
responsibility for the operation and maintenance of the convention center. 

The Convention Authority has issued $158,415,000 in Hotel Tax Revenue Bonds, which are 
secured by an 8.0 percent transient occupancy tax imposed and collected by the localities.  The County recorded an 
expenditure of $12,051,198 for transient occupancy tax to the Convention Authority during the year ended June 30, 
2015. 

Complete financial statements for the Convention Authority can be obtained from Chesterfield 
County, Accounting Department, Post Office Box 40, Chesterfield, Virginia 23832. 

Employee Retirement and Pension Plans 

All full-time salaried permanent employees of Henrico County are automatically enrolled in the 
Virginia Retirement System (“VRS”), except law enforcement officers, who are enrolled in the Law Enforcement 
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Officers Retirement System, which is also administered by VRS. Retirement, group life insurance coverage, 
disability and death benefits are provided under these plans. The County fully funds the VRS Board of Trustees 
certified contribution rates for all General Government employees. Professional instructional personnel in the 
Henrico County School System are also automatically enrolled in the VRS, but in accordance with Chapter 1, Title 
51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), the employer contribution costs are partially borne by the Commonwealth of 
Virginia and the contribution rates for professional instructional personnel are established by the Virginia General 
Assembly.  The Henrico County School System fully funds the contribution rates established by the Virginia 
General Assembly.  Additional information concerning the Employee Retirement and Pension Plans and Other Post-
Employment Benefits is contained in the financial statements of the County.  Please see link to the County’s audited 
financial statements (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended 2015 on page C-5.  

Other Post-Employment Benefits 

Expenses associated with retirees’ health benefits are funded annually on a cash basis.  Current 
Henrico County retirees who qualify for health benefits receive an implicit subsidy by participating in the active 
employee health care risk pool; as well, the County offers a health care credit based upon years of service. 

Eligibility for health care benefits is based on the retiree being immediately eligible to receive a 
VRS monthly retirement payment.  Under age 65, the retiree and his or her dependents can remain in the County’s 
health and dental plans and pay the full active premium.  Over age 65, a retiree and his or her dependents move to a 
Medicare plan.  Certain classes of employees are eligible for a health care credit paid through VRS. 

Retirees who are not eligible for the VRS Health Care Credit may qualify for the County 
supplement.  Retirees must have a minimum of 20 full years of VRS service, 10 years of which must be with the 
County.  The supplement will be paid only to eligible retirees who choose to remain in the County’s plan.  This 
supplement is $3 per month for each full year of service. 

In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), an actuarial study was 
prepared calculating the postemployment healthcare cost as of June 30, 2015.  The actuarial evaluation estimated the 
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (“UAAL”) for both County and Schools combined to be $46.41 million and 
the Annual Required Contribution (“ARC”) to be $9.76 million. The postemployment healthcare cost was 
determined under the Projected Unit Credit Actuarial Cost Method. The calculation was based on a 7.0 percent 
discount rate and the amortization of the UAAL over 25 years.  This represents a level of funding that if paid on an 
ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and the amortization of the UAAL over 30 years.  The 
current ARC of $9.76 million is 1.84 percent of annual covered payroll. The County has fully funded its 
Government Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 45 obligations, and as of June 30, 2015 had a 
Net Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”) Asset of $2.36 million.  It should be noted that during FY2007-08 
Henrico County became a founding member of the OPEB Trust Fund established by the Virginia Municipal League.  
In FY2013-14 and FY2014-15, the County funded $2.5 million for GASB 45 obligations.  

Capital Improvement Program 

The Capital Improvement Program (the “CIP”) represents those infrastructure improvements 
needed over the next five years by the County and provides for the orderly and systematic financing and acquisition 
of public improvements.  In evaluating each of the proposed projects, the CIP process takes into account such 
factors as population growth, density, economic development concerns, the County’s fiscal ability, and the desired 
service levels. 

The amount appropriated for capital projects each year is based on the CIP in effect at the time of 
the development of the budget.  Recommendations in subsequent CIP’s may result in revisions to the amounts 
appropriated for specific projects. 

The approved Capital Budget for fiscal year 2016 is $109,634,772, and includes funding for 
projects that allows the County to continue to provide existing service levels to the citizens.  All fiscal year 2016 
projects have a known funding source.  This budget is part of the County’s Annual Fiscal Plan for FY2015-16, 
which is available online at: https://henrico.us/pdfs/finance/ApprovedBudgetFY2016/CIP.pdf. 

Shown on the following page is a summary of the approved CIP for fiscal year 2016 and proposed 
expenditures for the five year plan, in addition to a summary of projected funding sources:
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APPENDIX D 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS 

The following statements are brief summaries of certain provisions of the Resolutions.  Such 
statements do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to the Resolutions, copies of which are 
on file and available at the office of the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors. 

Construction Fund 

The proceeds of any Additional Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes issued for the purpose of 
financing the acquiring, constructing, reconstructing, improving, extending or enlarging of the System are to 
be deposited into the Water and Sewer System Construction Fund (the “Construction Fund”). 

Moneys in the Construction Fund shall be used only in carrying out the acquiring, constructing, 
reconstructing, improving, extending or enlarging of the System and shall be so applied by the County, 
including the reimbursement of any advances made by the County from its General Fund or other available 
funds of the County for such purposes.  If, after payment of all such costs, any moneys remain in the 
Construction Fund, the balance shall be applied to other improvements, extensions and enlargements of the 
System.  All earnings derived from investments made from moneys in the Construction Fund shall be credited 
to that fund and shall be applied as are other moneys to the credit of such fund. 

Collection and Disposition of Revenues 

The Bonds, together with the interest thereon, shall be payable solely from the Revenues of the 
System, which are pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds and to the security 
thereof in accordance with the Bond Resolution.  The County has covenanted that it will pay into the Water 
and Sewer Revenue Fund (the “Revenue Fund”) all Revenues of the System and that all Revenues shall be 
trust funds in the hands of the County and shall be applied only as provided in the Bond Resolution. 

“Revenues” under the Bond Resolution shall mean and include all income, revenues and moneys 
derived by the County from the ownership, possession, operation, management or control of the Water and 
Sewer System, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall include all income, revenues and 
moneys derived by the County from the rates, charges, fees and rentals established and collected for the sale, 
furnishing or supplying of the services, facilities and commodities of the Water and Sewer System; income, 
revenues and moneys derived by the County from rates, charges, fees and rentals established for the privilege 
of connecting to the Water and Sewer System; to the extent provided in Section 10 of the Bond Resolution, 
earnings on the investment of moneys held under the Bond Resolution; the proceeds of the sale or other 
disposition of all or any part of the Water and Sewer System; the proceeds of insurance and condemnation 
awards received with respect to the Water and Sewer System; any income, revenues and moneys derived by 
the County pursuant to the Water and Sewer System Unification Agreement; and contributions from any 
source, including contributions from the County 

The Revenues shall be applied and expended for the following purposes and in the following order of 
priority (except as otherwise permitted by the Bond Resolution and as provided for in the Supplemental 
Resolution) to the following accounts, heretofore created, in the Revenue Fund: 

1. Operation and Maintenance Account:  On the first business day of each month there shall be 
credited to the Operation and Maintenance Account in the Revenue Fund such moneys as are determined to be 
necessary to pay the expenses of operating and maintaining the System during such month. Such expenses of 
operation and maintenance shall include (a) salaries, wages, employee benefits, costs of materials and supplies, 
costs of water, costs of power, costs of routine repairs, renewals, replacements and alterations occurring in the 
usual course of business, costs of billings and collections, costs of insurance, costs of audits, taxes, if any, a 
properly allocable share of County administrative and overhead expenses, and any other costs with respect to 
any services, facilities or commodities which are required for operating and maintaining the System and 
(b) payments for water, water supply, water treatment and water transmission for water distributed by the 
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System or for the transmission, treatment and disposal of sewage collected by the System (i) made to other 
governmental bodies or (ii) made for the use, services and facilities of or commodities supplied by plants and 
properties of the County which are acquired, constructed or operated as separate utility systems. The moneys 
credited to the Operation and Maintenance Account shall be applied to the payment of the expenses of 
operating and maintaining the System. 

2. Interest Account, Principal Account and Sinking Fund Account:  For the purpose of providing 
for the payment of the interest on the Series 2016 Bonds, not later than November 1, 2016 and on or before 
each May 1 and November 1 thereafter, there shall be credited to the Interest Account an amount such that, if 
the same amount were so paid and credited to the Interest Account on each May 1 and November 1 thereafter 
and prior to the next date upon which an installment of interest falls due on the Series 2016 Bonds, the 
aggregate of the amounts so credited to the Interest Account, would on such date be equal to the installment of 
interest then falling due on the Series 2016 Bonds.  The County has provided or shall provide in the 
Supplemental Resolutions authorizing the Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes for such credits to be made in 
such amounts and at such times sufficient to pay when due each such installment of interest.  The 
Supplemental Resolutions providing for the Series 2016 Bonds provide for such credits in such amounts and at 
such time sufficient to pay when due each such installment. 

For the purpose of providing for the payment of the principal of the Series 2016 Bonds issued as 
Serial Bonds, not later than May 1, 2017 and on or before May 1 thereafter, so long as any Series 2016 Bonds 
issued as Serial Bonds are Outstanding, there shall be credited to the Principal Account an amount such that, if 
the same amount were so credited to the Principal Account on May 1 of each succeeding year thereafter and 
prior to the next date upon which an installment of principal falls due on the Series 2016 Bonds issued as 
Serial Bonds, the aggregate of the amounts so credited to the Principal Account, together with any other 
moneys theretofore credited to the Principal Account, would on such date be equal to the installment of 
principal of such Bonds then falling due.  For the purpose of providing moneys to retire any Series 2016 Term 
Bonds, not later than May 1 in the year of the first redemption date of Series 2016 Term Bonds, and on and 
before May 1 in each year thereafter, so long as any Series 2016 Term Bonds are Outstanding, there shall be 
credited to the Sinking Fund Account for the purpose of retiring the Series 2016 Term Bonds an amount such 
that, if the same amount were so paid and credited to the Sinking Fund Account to provide for the retirement of 
the Series 2016 Term Bonds on May 1 of each year thereafter and prior to the next date upon which a Sinking 
Fund Account installment falls due, the aggregate of the amounts so credited to such account would on such 
date be sufficient to redeem the Series 2016 Term Bonds in the principal amount as provided herein.  The 
County has provided or shall provide in the Supplemental Resolutions authorizing the Bonds for such credits 
to be made in such amounts and at such times sufficient to pay when due each such installment of principal or 
sinking fund payment.  The Supplemental Resolutions providing for the Series 2016 Bonds provide for such 
credits in such amounts and at such time sufficient to pay when due each such installment. 

With respect to the Bonds issued in term form, moneys shall be credited monthly to the Sinking Fund 
Account in such amounts and at such times sufficient to redeem such term Bonds in the principal amounts and 
at the times specified in the supplemental resolution authorizing such term Bonds.  The moneys credited to the 
Sinking Fund Account to provide for the retirement of any Bonds issued in term form shall be applied by the 
County’s Director of Finance, without further authorization or direction, to the redemption of such Bonds on 
each date on which a Sinking Fund Account installment for such Bonds is due, in the respective principal 
amounts required to be credited to such account on such dates, or, if so directed by the County, semiannually 
on both such due date and the day six (6) months prior to such date (exclusive of the day which is six (6) 
months prior to the first of such due dates), in the respective principal amounts on credit to such account on 
such days so that the aggregate amount so applied in each calendar year will equal the respective principal 
amount required to be credited to such account on such Sinking Fund Account installment dates; provided that 
amounts to be applied on the stated maturity date of any such Bonds shall be applied to the payment on that 
date of such Bonds of that maturity without calling such Bonds for redemption on that date.  The County’s 
Director of Finance may apply the moneys credited to the Sinking Fund Account for the retirement of Bonds 
issued in term form to the purchase of such Bonds, in which event the principal amount of such Bonds required 
to be redeemed on the next respective ensuing Sinking Fund Account installment date shall be reduced by the 
principal amount of such Bonds so purchased. Any purchase of Bonds pursuant to the foregoing may be made 
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with or without tenders of Bonds and at either public or private sale, but in any event at a purchase price 
(including accrued interest and any brokerage or other charge) not to exceed the then applicable redemption 
price of such Bonds, plus accrued interest.  The Supplemental Resolution providing for the Series 2016 Bonds 
provide for such credits in such amounts and at such time sufficient to pay when due each such installment. 

In the event of the issuance of Additional Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes (as defined herein), the 
foregoing credits are required to be increased as may be necessary to provide for the payment of principal of 
and interest on such Additional Bonds and interest on such Bond Anticipation Notes. 

The moneys credited to such accounts shall be transferred by the County’s Director of Finance to the 
paying agents in such amounts and at such times as shall be necessary to pay the principal of and premium, if 
any, and interest on the Bonds and interest on the Bond Anticipation Notes as the same become due and 
payable. 

3. Reserve Account:  In order to provide a reserve for the payment of interest on the Bonds and 
Bond Anticipation Notes and the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds, there shall be maintained on 
deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the maximum annual Debt 
Service Requirement (as defined in the Bond Resolution) for the Bonds. Subject to the provisions of the Bond 
Resolution with respect to the credits to the Reserve Account upon the issuance of Additional Bonds, the 
moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account shall always be maintained at an 
amount at least equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement for any year for all Bonds at the time 
outstanding and if at any time the moneys in the Revenue Fund credited to the Reserve Account are less than 
such amount, there shall be credited to this account from the first moneys available therefor in the Revenue 
Fund, after all credits referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) above have been met, such amounts as shall be 
necessary until there is again on credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the maximum annual Debt 
Service Requirement.  In the event of the issuance of Additional Bonds, unless upon the delivery of such 
Additional Bonds there shall already be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an 
amount equal to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect after the issuance of such 
Additional Bonds, (1) there shall be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account such 
amount, if any, of the proceeds of the sale of such Additional Bonds as the County may determine, so that 
there shall then be on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the 
maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect immediately after the issuance of such Additional 
Bonds, or (2) if there shall not be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account proceeds of 
such Additional Bonds in an amount so there shall then be on credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal 
to the maximum annual Debt Service Requirement to be in effect immediately after the issuance of such 
Additional Bonds, there shall be credited to the Reserve Account from time to time such amounts as the 
County may determine, of the moneys available therefor after all credits referred to in paragraphs (1) and (2) 
above have been met, so that no later than five (5) years from the date of such Additional Bonds there shall be 
on deposit in the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the maximum annual 
Debt Service Requirement to be in effect after the issuance of such Additional Bonds. The moneys in the 
Revenue Fund to the credit of the Reserve Account shall be applied solely for the purpose of paying the 
interest on Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes and the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds when 
due, whether at their maturity or upon the redemption or purchase thereof, and shall be so used and applied 
whenever there are insufficient moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Interest Account, Principal 
Account and Sinking Fund Account for such purposes. 

In lieu of the deposit of moneys into the Reserve Account, or in substitution therefor or any part 
thereof from time to time, the County may cause to be so credited a surety bond or an insurance policy, 
payable to the County for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, or a letter of credit in an amount equal to the 
difference between the maximum Debt Service Requirement for such Bonds and the amounts then on deposit 
in the Reserve Account.  The surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit shall be payable (upon the giving 
of notice as required thereunder) on any interest payment due on which moneys will be required to be 
withdrawn from the Reserve Account, and applied to the payment of the principal or interest on any Bonds and 
such withdrawals cannot be made by amounts credited to the Reserve Account The insurer providing such 
surety bond or insurance policy shall be an insurer whose municipal bond insurance policies insuring the 
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payment, when due, of the principal of and interest on municipal bond issues results in such issues being rated 
in the highest rating category by any of Fitch Investors Service, L.P., Standard & Poor’s Corporation or 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or their successors, or any insurer who holds the highest policyholder rating 
accorded insurers by A.M. Best & Co. or any comparable service.  If Fitch Investors Service, L.P., Moody’s 
Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s Corporation then rates the Bonds, the insurer shall be one whose 
municipal bond insurance policies are rated in the highest rating category by the respective rating agency 
rating the Bonds. The letter of credit issuer shall be a bank or trust company which is rated not lower than the 
second highest rating category by Fitch Investors Service, L.P., Standard & Poor’s Corporation or Moody’s 
Investors Service, Inc., or their successors, and the letter of credit itself shall be rated in the highest category of 
either such rating agency;  provided that if any of Fitch Investor’s Service, L.P., Moody’s Investors Service or 
Standard & Poor’s Corporation then rates the Bonds the letter of credit issuer and the letter of credit itself shall 
both be rated in the aforementioned categories of the respective agency rating the Bonds. If a disbursement is 
made pursuant to a surety bond, an insurance policy or a letter of credit provided pursuant to this paragraph, 
the County shall be obligated either (i) to reinstate the maximum limits of such surety bond, insurance policy 
or letter of credit or (ii) to deposit into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Reserve Account, funds in the 
amount of the disbursement trade under such surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit, or a combination 
of such alternatives, as shall provide that the amount credited to the Reserve Account, equals the maximum 
Debt Service Requirement, such amounts to be provided from the first available moneys after payments to the 
Interest Account, Principal Account and Sinking Fund Account in the Revenue Fund.  Any interest or fees 
shall be paid from available moneys after payment to the Interest Account, Principal Account and Sinking 
Fund Account in the Revenue Fund. 

Any surety bond insurance policy or letter of credit must be unconditional and irrevocable. To the 
extent such surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit expires prior to the final maturity of the Bonds, the 
County shall provide prior to termination of such bond policy or letter of credit a substitute surety bond, 
insurance policy or letter of credit complying with the provisions hereof or shall provide from Revenues, an 
amount such that there will be deposit on the Reserve Account, an amount equal to the maximum Debt Service 
Requirement. 

If the issuer of a surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit on deposit in the Reserve Account, 
shall cease to have a rating as described above, the County shall use reasonable efforts to replace such surety 
bond, insurance policy or letter of credit with one issued by an insurer having a rating so described, but shall 
not be obligated to pay, or commit to pay, increased fees, expenses or interest in connection with such 
replacement or to deposit Revenues in the Account, in lieu of replacing such surety bond, insurance policy or 
letter of credit with another. 

4. Accounts which may be created:  In the event any payments on hedge agreements, support 
agreements or other financial agreements, other than payments constituting principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on, Bonds, shall be secured by a lien on and pledge of Revenues on a parity with the lien on and pledge 
of the Revenues created for the payment and security of the Bonds, a separate account shall be established in 
the Revenue Fund for the payment thereof and payments to such account shall be made from Revenues at the 
time and after Revenues are disbursed to the Interest, Principal and Sinking Fund Accounts in the Revenue 
Fund. 

5. Other purposes:  Money on deposit in the Revenue Fund not required to make the payments 
or credits referred to in paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (4) above shall constitute surplus funds and may be used to 
make all renovations, replacements, renewals and repairs to the System as are necessary to maintain the 
System in good condition. Such moneys may, however, also be used for making up insufficiencies in any 
account in the Revenue Fund; for paying the costs of acquisition or construction of plants and properties to 
comprise part of the System; for paying the cost of reconstructions, improvements, enlargements or extensions 
to the System; for redeeming or purchasing Bonds; for accelerating the payments required to be made into the 
Reserve Account; for the making of advances, in anticipation of repayment from evidences of indebtedness or 
other moneys, for the purpose of acquiring and constructing plants and properties for the storage, supply and 
treatment of water or the treatment and disposal of sewage, including associated transmission facilities, which 
the County has elected to acquire, construct and operate as separate utility systems; for the carrying out of any 
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other provisions of the Bond Resolution; for the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest 
on Bond Anticipation Notes; for the payment of bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or other evidences of 
indebtedness secured by a lien on and pledge of the Revenues of the System junior to the payment and security 
of the Bonds; for the payment of taxes, assessments or other governmental charges; or for any other lawful 
purpose of the County with respect to the System. 

Covenant as to Rates and Charges 

The County covenants to establish, maintain, revise and collect rates and charges for the services, 
facilities and commodities sold, furnished or supplied through the facilities of the System sufficient to provide 
the following: 

A. Revenues to pay all costs of and expenses in connection with the proper operation and 
maintenance of the System, to pay the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds and interest 
on any Bond Anticipation Notes, to pay all costs and expenses in connection with all necessary repairs, 
replacements or renewals of the System and all taxes, assessments or other governmental charges lawfully 
imposed on the System or on the Revenues therefrom or payments in lieu thereof, to make all credits to the 
Interest Account, Principal Account, Sinking Fund Account and Reserve Account required by the Bond 
Resolution and to pay all other amounts which the County may now or hereafter become obligated to pay from 
the Revenues of the System; and 

B. Net Operating Revenues (as defined below) in each year to be at least equal to 1.25 times the 
aggregate of (a) the Debt Service Requirement during such year on all Bonds at the time outstanding and 
(b) the interest during such year on all Bond Anticipation Notes at the time outstanding. 

“Net Operating Revenues” as used in the Bond Resolution means the Revenues of the System after 
deduction of the ordinary expenses of operation and maintenance of the System, but excluding from Revenues 
in such calculation any income, revenues or moneys derived from (i) rates, charges, fees and rentals for the 
privilege of connecting to the System, (ii) earnings on investments and the proceeds of the sale of investments, 
(iii) the proceeds of the sale or other disposition of all or any part of the System and (iv) the proceeds of 
insurance and condemnation awards received with respect to the System. 

Issuance of Additional Obligations 

The County shall not issue any bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or other evidences of 
indebtedness having in any way a lien and charge on the Revenues prior to the lien and charge created by the 
Bond Resolution for the payment and security for the Bonds. 

Additional Bonds.  The County may issue Additional Bonds payable and secured equally and ratably 
with the Bonds then outstanding for any purpose connected with or pertaining to the System, now or hereafter 
authorized by law, upon compliance with the following conditions: 

1. The County shall not be in default of any provision of the Bond Resolution; 

2. There shall not be any deficiency in any of the accounts in the Revenue Fund, including the 
Interest Account, the Principal Account, the Sinking Fund Account or the Reserve Account in the Revenue 
Fund; and 

3. One-half of the Net Operating Revenues during any twenty-four (24) consecutive months (the 
“Base Period”) out of the thirty (30) months immediately preceding the issuance of the Additional Bonds, shall 
have been not less than 1.25 times the maximum Debt Service Requirement to accrue during any year on the 
Bonds then outstanding and such Additional Bonds. 

If any changes have been made and are in effect at the time of the issuance of the Additional Bonds in 
the rates and charges for the services, facilities and commodities of the System (exclusive of changes in the 
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rates and charges for the privilege of connecting to the System) which were not in effect during all or any part 
of the Base Period, the Net Operating Revenues for the Base Period shall be adjusted by the Consulting 
Engineer to reflect the results which would have occurred in the Net Operating Revenues if such changes in 
the rates and charges had been in effect during all the Base Period; provided, however, that (i) unless the 
changes in the rates and charges shall result in a decrease in Net Operating Revenues or (ii) unless the changes 
in the rates and charges shall have been in effect at least six (6) months prior to the issuance of the Additional 
Bonds, the adjustment in the Net Operating Revenues for any part of the Base Period in which the changes in 
the rates and charges were not in effect, shall reflect not in excess of seventy-five percent (75%) of the changes 
in the Operating Revenues resulting from the changes in the rates and charges. 

In the event the expenses of operation and maintenance of the System during the Base Period include 
payments to the City of Richmond, Virginia, for the treatment and disposal of sewage of the County, the 
acquisition and construction of facilities for the treatment and disposal of which the Additional Bonds are 
being issued (or for which Bond Anticipation Notes to be paid from the Additional Bonds have been issued), 
then the Net Operating Revenues during the Base Period may be increased by an amount equal to forty percent 
(40%) of such payments. 

Net Operating Revenues during the first full fiscal year following the date upon which the project or 
undertaking for which the Additional Bonds are being issued, is anticipated to be completed and be ready for 
use, as estimated by a Consulting Engineer, shall be not less than one and twenty-five hundredths (1.25) times 
the maximum Debt Service Requirement to accrue during any year on the Bonds then outstanding and such 
Additional Bonds. 

Bond Anticipation Notes.  The County may issue bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or other 
evidences of indebtedness payable as to interest (“Bond Anticipation Notes”) on a parity with the principal of 
and interest on Bonds issued under the Bond Resolution, upon compliance with the Bond Resolution, 
including the following conditions: 

1. The County shall not be in default of any provision of the Bond Resolution; 

2. There shall not be any deficiency in any of the accounts in the Revenue Fund, including the 
Interest Account, the Principal Account, the Sinking Fund Account or the Reserve Account in the Revenue 
Fund; and 

3. Unless the proposed Bond Anticipation Notes are being issued solely for the purpose of 
extending or renewing other Bond Anticipation Notes, one-half of the Net Operating Revenues (as defined 
hereinbefore) during any consecutive twenty-four (24) months (the “Base Period”) out of the thirty (30) 
months immediately preceding the issuance of the Bond Anticipation Notes shall have been not less than one 
and one-quarter (1.25) times the maximum aggregate in any year of (a) the Debt Service Requirement on the 
Bonds then outstanding and (b) that amount which would be required to pay the principal of and interest 
(unless capitalized) on any Bond Anticipation Notes then outstanding (if any) and the proposed Bond 
Anticipation Notes, on the assumptions that (i) the principal of all the Bond Anticipation Notes matured 
annually over thirty (30) years from the date of the proposed Bond Anticipation Notes, commencing with the 
first anniversary of the date of the proposed Notes, (ii) all the Bond Anticipation Notes bore interest at the rate 
on the Bond Anticipation Notes to be issued, with such interest being payable annually on each anniversary of 
the date of the proposed Bond Anticipation Notes and (iii) the totals in each year of the principal of and 
interest payable on all the Bond Anticipation Notes and the Debt Service Requirement on the Bonds then 
outstanding shall be substantially equal. 

Refunding Bonds.  The County may issue Additional Bonds without compliance with any other 
conditions for the purpose of refunding at any time within one year prior to maturity thereof any of the Bonds 
for the payment of which the County does not have sufficient funds. Any Additional Bonds issued for such 
purpose shall mature, and any sinking fund credit therefor shall commence, in a year later than the last stated 
maturity of any Bond then outstanding which is not so refunded. 
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The County may also issue Additional Bonds without compliance with any other conditions for the 
purpose of refunding prior to maturity any of the Bonds; provided that the Debt Service Requirement on 
account of the Refunding Bonds and the Bonds which are not refunded shall not be greater in any year in 
which the Bonds not refunded are to be outstanding than the Debt Service Requirement in such year if the 
Bonds to be refunded were not so refunded. 

Subordinate Indebtedness.  The Bond Resolution provides that nothing therein shall prohibit the 
County from issuing other bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness or other evidences of indebtedness having 
a lien on the Revenues which is junior and subordinate to the lien on such Revenues created by the Bond 
Resolution for the payment and security of the Bonds. 

Separate Utility System Indebtedness.  The Bond Resolution provides that nothing contained therein 
shall prohibit the County from issuing bonds to acquire or construct water or sewer facilities, which the County 
has elected to acquire, construct or operate as utility systems separate from the System, and which bonds are 
payable solely from the revenues or other income derived from the ownership or operation of such separate 
utility system; provided, however, that the Consulting Engineer shall certify that the acquisition or construction 
or operation of such separate utility system will not result in a reduction of the Revenues or Net Operating 
Revenues below the amounts covenanted by the County in the Bond Resolution to be produced. 

Hedge Agreements, Support Agreements or Other Financial Agreements; Variable Rate Bonds.  The 
Bond Resolution provides that nothing shall prohibit or prevent, or be deemed or construed to prohibit or 
prevent, (i) the County from entering into hedge agreements, support agreements or other financial agreements 
under which payments (including but not limited to, fees, charges, expenses but excluding any termination, 
indemnification or other payments intended to pay any person for loss of benefits under such agreement) are 
payable from Revenues and secured by a lien on and pledge of Revenues on a parity with the lien on and 
pledge of the Revenues created for payment and security of the Bonds; provided such payments shall meet the 
requirements of the Resolutions and (ii) the County from issuing variable rate bonds. 

Annual Budget 

Prior to the commencement of each fiscal year there shall be filed with the Clerk of the Board of 
Supervisors a proposed budget of contemplated expenditures and estimated revenues of the System during 
such ensuing fiscal year (the “Budget”).  The Budget shall contain an itemized plan of all such expenditures 
and revenues and such other information as may be required by law. Not later than seven (7) days prior to the 
commencement of such fiscal year, the Board of Supervisors shall hold a public hearing on the Budget at 
which any Bondholder or his representative may appear and present objections to the Budget.  Notice of such 
hearing together with a copy of the Budget shall be mailed, at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing, to each 
Bondholder who has filed with the Board of Supervisors a written request therefor. 

Investments of Moneys 

Moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Interest Account, the Principal Account and the Sinking 
Fund Account shall be invested in Investment Securities (as defined below) so as to mature in amounts and at 
times (as permitted by law) so that the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds can be paid 
when due, whether at maturity thereof or upon the redemption or the purchase thereof. 

Moneys in the Revenue Fund on credit to the Reserve Account shall be invested in Investment 
Securities of the types described in items (i) through (iv) of the definition of Investment Securities below so as 
to mature or be subject to redemption within such period as permitted by law but not to exceed twelve (12) 
years from the date of investment and in any event not later than the final maturity date of any Bonds then 
outstanding. 

Income derived from investments made pursuant to the preceding two paragraphs shall be treated as 
Revenues of the System and used and applied as are all other Revenues but shall not be included in any 
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calculation of Revenues for purposes of the rate covenant of the County.  See “APPENDIX D – SUMMARY OF 

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE RESOLUTIONS – Covenant as to Rates and Charges”. 

“Investment Securities” shall mean any of the following which are legal investments under the laws of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia: (i) direct and general obligations of, or obligations unconditionally guaranteed 
by, the United States of America, (ii) obligations of the Federal Land Banks, Federal Home Loan Banks, 
Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Intermediate Credit Banks, Federal Banks for Cooperatives, 
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and Asian Development Bank and direct and general 
obligations of any agencies of the United States of America not included in the foregoing listing, (iii) direct 
and general full faith and credit obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia, (iv) unlimited tax direct and 
general obligations of any political unit in the Commonwealth of Virginia, to the payment of which the full 
faith and credit of such political unit is pledged; provided that such obligations are rated in either of the two 
highest rating categories by a nationally recognized bond rating agency, and (v) certificates of deposit secured 
as provided by law of national banking associations located in Virginia and banks and trust companies 
organized under Virginia law. 

Reports and Audits 

The County shall keep, separate from all other records and accounts, proper books and accounts 
showing correct and complete entries of all financial transactions pertaining to the System.  The holders of any 
of the Bonds shall have the right to inspect such books, records and accounts and to inspect the System.  
Within one hundred eighty (180) days following the close of each fiscal year the County shall cause an audit of 
such books and accounts of the System to be made by an independent firm of certified public accountants, 
showing the receipts and disbursements for and on account of the System.  Each such audit shall include, inter 
alia, (i) a statement of revenues, expenses and retained earnings of the System for such fiscal year, including 
operating and maintenance expenses in reasonable detail and a statement of cash flow, and (ii) a balance sheet 
as of the end of such fiscal year, showing separately the cash and investments credited to the funds and 
accounts required by the Bond Resolution. 

A copy of each such audit report shall be sent to any Bondholder requesting in writing a copy thereof. 

Insurance 

The County shall carry insurance on the facilities comprising the System of the kinds which are 
usually carried upon similar water and sewer systems, including fire, extended coverage and general liability, 
and additional insurance as shall be determined by the County; provided, however, that the County may self-
insure to the extent customary with utilities operating similar properties.  The proceeds of any policies for 
general liability shall be paid into the Revenue Fund for credit to the Operation and Maintenance Account and 
be used in paying the claims on account of which they were received.  All moneys received for other losses 
shall be paid into the Revenue Fund and used for making good the damage in respect to which they were paid; 
provided, however, that the County shall not be required to make good such damage, if in the judgment of the 
County, the property involved is no longer useful or profitable in the operation of the System or necessary to 
produce or maintain the Revenues thereof, or which is to be or has been replaced by other property so as not to 
impair the operation of the System 

Additional Covenants of the County 

The County (i) shall proceed with all reasonable dispatch with any acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, improvement, extension or enlargement to be financed from the proceeds of any Additional 
Bonds or otherwise financed from the Revenues of the System, (ii) shall maintain all franchises, licenses and 
permits necessary to the operation of the System or as may be required by law, (iii) shall operate the System as 
a revenue-producing facility, (iv) shall maintain the System in good repair and working order, (v) shall retain 
management of, and control over, the System, including the rates, fees and charges and revenues thereof, 
(vi) shall fulfill all of its agreements, covenants and obligations contained in certain agreements between the 
County and the City of Richmond, Virginia, regarding wastewater facilities (see the section “THE SYSTEM – 
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Agreements with the City of Richmond” in Appendix A), (vii) shall fulfill all of its agreements, covenants and 
obligations contained in the Unification Agreement (as defined in the section “THE SYSTEM – History and 
Development” in Appendix A), and shall not amend the same in any manner adverse to the interest of any 
Bondholder, (viii) shall not acquire and construct and operate plants and properties used for or pertaining to the 
storage, supply and treatment of water or the treatment and disposal of sewage, including associated 
transmission facilities, as separate utility systems, unless in the opinion of a consulting engineer such 
acquisition and construction and operation will not result in a reduction of the Revenues or Net Operating 
Revenues below the amounts covenanted in the Bond Resolution by the County to be produced, (ix) shall 
comply with the requirements of Section 103 and Sections 141 through 150 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986 throughout the term of the Bonds, (x) shall not permit bonds to be issued by any sanitary district, if such 
bonds (a) shall be payable in any way from the Revenues prior to or on a parity with the payments to be made 
to the Operation and Maintenance Account, the Interest Account, the Principal Account, the Sinking Fund 
Account and the Reserve Account or (b) shall be secured by a lien on the Revenues equal or superior to the 
lien thereon of the Bonds, and (xi) shall not dispose of or encumber the System or property thereof or interest 
therein; provided, however, that nothing in the Bond Resolution shall prohibit the County from disposing of 
any property which in its judgment is no longer useful in the operation of the System, or necessary to produce 
the Revenues thereof, or which is to be replaced by other property so as not to impair the operations of the 
System Any moneys received from such disposition may be used to acquire or construct new properties to 
replace the properties disposed of or to acquire or construct new properties to constitute part of the System. 

Events of Default, Bondholder Remedies 

The Bond Resolution provides that each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default: 

1. Failure to pay the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds when due; 

2. Failure to pay interest on any Bond or Bond Anticipation Note or any sinking fund 
installment, when due; 

3. Failure to perform any other covenant or agreement contained in the Bond Resolution, which 
failure shall have continued for sixty (60) days after notice thereof from the holders of not less than 20% of the 
outstanding Bonds; provided, however, that if any such failure shall be such that it cannot be cured or corrected 
within a sixty (60) day period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default if curative or corrective action is 
instituted within such period and diligently pursued until the failure or performance is cured or corrected; 

4. Except as permitted by the Bond Resolution, the sale or transfer of any properties constituting 
a part of the System, or the voluntary forfeiture of any of its licenses, franchises, permits, privileges, easements 
or rights of way necessary in the operation of the System; 

5. The instituting of any proceeding with the consent of the County for the purpose of effecting 
a composition between the County and its creditors, the claim of such creditors being payable from the 
Revenues of the System or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors pursuant to any federal or 
State statute; 

6. The entering of an order or decree appointing a receiver of the System or any of the properties 
thereof or interests therein; 

7. The assumption of control by a court, under the provision of any applicable bankruptcy laws 
of the System or any of the properties thereof, and such control shall not be terminated within 90 days from the 
date of such assumption, or the approval by a court of a petition for the reorganization of the System or 
rearrangement of the obligations of the County under the Bond Resolution; or 

8. If the County shall for any reason be rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations under the 
Bond Resolution. 
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Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in 
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding may declare the principal of all the outstanding Bonds, and all 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, to be due and payable immediately.  That provision is subject to the 
condition that, if at any time after such declaration and before any further action has been taken, all arrears of 
interest on the Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes and principal of the Bonds shall be paid and all other 
Events of Default, if any, which shall have occurred shall have been remedied, then the holders of a majority in 
principal amount of the outstanding Bonds may waive such default and annul such declaration. 

If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the holders of not less than 25% in 
principal amount of the outstanding Bonds may call a meeting of the holders of Bonds for the purpose of 
electing a bondholders’ committee (the “Bondholders’ Committee”).  At such meeting the holders of not less 
than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Bonds must be present in person or by proxy in order to 
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.  A quorum being present at such meeting, the Bondholders 
present may, by a majority of the votes cast, elect one or more persons, who may or may not be Bondholders, 
to the Committee.  The Bondholders’ Committee is empowered to exercise, as trustee for the Bondholders, all 
the rights and powers conferred on any bondholder in the Bond Resolution. 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of 
the Bonds then outstanding or any committee or trustee therefor shall be entitled to the appointment of a 
receiver by any court of competent jurisdiction. Any such receiver may be appointed upon the application to 
the Circuit Court of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or to any other court of 
competent jurisdiction in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Any receiver so appointed may enter and take 
possession of the System, operate, maintain and repair the same, impose and prescribe rates, rentals, fees or 
charges and receive and apply all Revenues thereafter arising therefrom and in the same manner as the County 
itself might do. 

In case an Event of Default shall occur, subject to the provisions referred to in the three next preceding 
paragraphs, the holder of any outstanding Bond shall have the right, for the equal benefit of all holders of the 
Bonds, to protect the rights vested in such holders by the Bond Resolution by such appropriate judicial 
proceeding as such holder shall determine, either by suit in equity or by action at law. 

Modification of Bond Resolution 

The County may without consent of any Bondholder make any modification of or amendment to the 
Bond Resolution required to cure any ambiguity or error contained therein, make any amendments thereto to 
grant to the Bondholders additional rights, or make an amendment thereto for the purpose of providing for the 
issuance of Additional Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes. 

The holders of two-thirds in principal amount of the outstanding Bonds shall have power to authorize 
any modifications proposed by the County of the Bond Resolution; provided that without the consent of the 
holder of each Bond affected thereby, no modification shall be made which will (a) extend the time of payment 
of the principal of or the interest on any Bond or reduce the principal amount thereof or the rate of interest 
thereon or the premium payable upon the redemption thereof, (b) give to any Bond any preference over any 
other Bond secured equally and ratably therewith, (c) create any pledge prior to or on a parity with the pledge 
afforded by the Bond Resolution, (d) deprive any Bondholder of the security afforded by the pledge of the 
Bond Resolution or (e) reduce the percentage in principal amount of the Bonds required to authorize any 
modification to the Bond Resolution. 

If payment of debt service on a series of Additional Bonds is insured or otherwise credit enhanced, the 
issuer of the policy or credit enhancement may, at the option of the County, be considered as the Bondholder 
of such series for purposes of consenting to amendments. 
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Defeasance 

The obligations of the County under the Bond Resolution and liens, pledges and covenants of the 
County therein provided for, shall be fully discharged and satisfied as to any Bond and such Bond shall no 
longer be deemed to be outstanding thereunder when such Bond shall have been purchased by the County and 
cancelled or destroyed, or when principal of such Bond and redemption premium, if any, plus interest on such 
principal to the due date thereof, either (a) shall have been made or (b) shall have been provided for by 
irrevocably depositing with a paying agent for such Bond moneys sufficient to make such payment or direct 
and general obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are guaranteed by, the United 
States of America maturing in such amounts and at such times as will insure the availability of sufficient 
moneys to make such payment, as is more fully set forth in the Bond Resolution. 
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APPENDIX E 

DESCRIPTION OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY 
AND THE BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM 

The description which follows of the procedures and recordkeeping with respect to beneficial 
ownership interests in the Bonds, payments of principal and interest on the Bonds to The Depository 
Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, its nominee, Participants, defined herein, or Beneficial 
Owners, defined herein, confirmation and transfer of beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds and 
other bond-related transactions by and between DTC, Participants and Beneficial Owners, is based 
solely on information furnished by DTC. 

DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued as fully registered 
Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully registered Bond certificate will be issued in the 
aggregate principal amount of each maturity of the Bonds and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the 
New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 
member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform 
Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. 
and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues and money market instruments (from over 100 
countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-
trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, 
through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This 
eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and 
non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other 
organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 
(“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed 
Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its 
regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain 
a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC is 
rated AA+ by Standard & Poor’s.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will 
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each 
Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial 
Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, 
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of 
their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the 
transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the 
books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not 
receive certificates representing their ownership interest in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-
entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered 
in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of 
Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no 
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.  DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct 
Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The 
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Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their 
customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners 
will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be 
in effect from time to time. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being 
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such 
issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Bonds 
unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus 
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the 
Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal and interest payments on, and payment of redemption proceeds of, the Bonds will be made 
to Cede & Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s 
practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the Issuer or the Registrar and Paying Agent, on the payable date in accordance with their 
respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed 
by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of 
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name”, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and 
not of DTC (nor its nominee), the Issuer or the Registrar and Paying Agent, subject to any statutory or 
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal and interest payments and 
payment of redemption proceeds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Issuer or the Registrar and Paying Agent, disbursement of 
such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such payments to 
the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by 
giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Registrar and Paying Agent.  Under such circumstances, in the 
event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and 
delivered. 

The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or 
a successor securities depository).  In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

The information in this Appendix E concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but the Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy 
thereof. 
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APPENDIX F 

PROPOSED FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Certificate”), dated June 21, 2016, is executed and delivered in 
connection with the issuance of $123,625,000 principal amount of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 
2016, dated June 21, 2016 (the “Bonds”), of the County of Henrico, Virginia (the “County”), and pursuant to a 
resolution duly adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the County on November 23, 1977, as amended and 
supplemented, and a supplemental resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors on February 23, 2016 (the 
“Resolution”). Capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have the respective meanings specified above or in 
Article I hereof.  Pursuant to the Resolution, the County agrees as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.1.  Definitions.  The following terms used in this Certificate shall have the following 
respective meanings: 

(1) “Annual Financial Information” means, collectively, (i) the financial information and 
operating data with respect to the County for each fiscal year as set forth in Appendix A to the Official Statement in 
the sections “THE SYSTEM – Rates and Charges”, “THE SYSTEM – Largest Accounts”, “THE SYSTEM – 
System Statistics”, “SUMMARY OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE SYSTEM”, “HISTORICAL DEBT 
SERVICE COVERAGE”, “ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS” and “WATER AND SEWER 
SYSTEM CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN” and (ii) information regarding amendments to this Certificate 
required pursuant to Sections 4.2(d) and (e) of this Certificate. 

The descriptions contained in Section 1.1(1)(i) hereof of financial information and operating data 
constituting Annual Financial Information are of general categories of financial information and operating data.  
When such descriptions include information that no longer can be generated because the operations to which it 
related have been materially changed or discontinued, a statement to that effect shall be provided in lieu of such 
information.  Any Annual Financial Information containing modified financial information or operating data shall 
explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of the modification on the type of 
financial information or operating data being provided. 

(2) “Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements, if any, of the 
County, audited by such auditor as shall then be required or permitted by State law or the Resolution.  Audited 
Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that, pursuant to 
Section 4.2(a) and (e) hereof, the County may from time to time, if required by federal or State legal requirements, 
modify the accounting principles to be followed in preparing its financial statements.  Notice of any such 
modification required by Section 4.2(a) hereof shall include a reference to the specific federal or State law or 
regulation describing such accounting principles or other description thereof. 

(3) “Counsel” means Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP or other nationally recognized bond 
counsel or counsel expert in federal securities laws. 

(4) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental units as 
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or any 
successor to the duties and responsibilities of either of them. 

(5) “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any successor thereto or to the functions 
of the MSRB contemplated by this Certificate. 
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(6) “Notice Event” means any of the following events with respect to the Bonds, whether 
relating to the County or otherwise: 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies, 

(ii) non-payment related defaults, if material, 

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties, 

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties, 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform, 

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other 
material notices of determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other 
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds, 

(vii) modifications to rights of Bondholders, if material, 

(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers, 

(ix) defeasances, 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material, 

(xi) rating changes, 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County, 

Note to clause (xii):  For the purposes of the event identified in clause (xii) above, the 
event is considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a 
receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the County in a proceeding under the U.S. 
Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under State or federal law in which a court 
or government authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 
business of the County, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing 
governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and 
orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of 
reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having 
supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the County. 

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the County or the 
sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the County, other than in the ordinary course 
of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the 
termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to 
its terms, if material, and 

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material. 

(7) “Official Statement” means the Official Statement, dated May 17, 2016, of the County 
relating to the Bonds. 

(8) “Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities and Exchange 
Act of 1934 (17 CFR Part 240, §240.15c2-12), as in effect on the date of this Certificate, including any official 
interpretations thereof issued either before or after the effective date of this Certificate which are applicable to this 
Certificate. 
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(9) “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 

(10) “State” means the Commonwealth of Virginia. 

(11) “Unaudited Financial Statements” means the same as Audited Financial Statements, 
except the same shall not have been audited. 

(12) “Underwriters” means the underwriters of the Bonds, for whom Raymond James & 
Associates Inc. is serving as Representative. 

ARTICLE II 
 

THE UNDERTAKING 

SECTION 2.1.  Purpose.  This Certificate is being executed and delivered solely to assist the 
Underwriters in complying with paragraph (b)(5) of the Rule. 

SECTION 2.2.  Annual Financial Information.  (a) The County shall provide Annual Financial 
Information for the County with respect to each fiscal year of the County, commencing with fiscal year beginning 
July 1, 2016, by no later than nine (9) months after the end of the respective fiscal year, to the MSRB. 

(b) The County shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the County to 
provide the Annual Financial Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above to the MSRB. 

SECTION 2.3.  Audited Financial Statements.  If not provided as part of Annual Financial 
Information by the date required by Section 2.2(a) hereof, the County shall provide Audited Financial Statements, 
when and if available, to the MSRB. 

SECTION 2.4.  Notice Events.  (a)  If a Notice Event occurs, the County shall provide, in a timely 
manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such Notice Event, notice of such Notice 
Event to the MSRB. 

(b) Any notice of a defeasance of Bonds shall state whether the Bonds have been escrowed 
to maturity or to an earlier redemption date and the timing of such maturity or redemption. 

SECTION 2.5.  Additional Information.  Nothing in this Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the 
County from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Certificate or 
any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Financial Information or 
notice of a Notice Event hereunder, in addition to that which is required by this Certificate.  If the County chooses to 
do so, the County shall have no obligation under this Certificate to update such information or include it in any 
future Annual Financial Information or notice of a Notice Event hereunder. 

SECTION 2.6.  Additional Disclosure Obligations.  The County acknowledges and understands 
that other federal and State laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the County and that, under some circumstances, 
compliance with this Certificate without additional disclosures or other action may not fully discharge all duties and 
obligations of the County under such laws. 

SECTION 2.7.  Previous Non-Compliance.  The County has entered into continuing disclosure 
undertakings with respect to its outstanding Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds (the “Water and Sewer 
System Undertakings”) whereby the County has agreed to update certain annual financial and operating data 
relating to County and its Water and Sewer System of the general type identified in the Official Statements 
relating to the outstanding Water and Sewer System Bonds (hereinafter, the “Annual Report”) within six 
months after the end of each fiscal year.  The Annual Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 was filed 
late with respect to the Water and Sewer System Bonds and was posted on the MSRB’s EMMA website on 
September 12, 2012.  The County represents that, in the five previous years, except as described in this 
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paragraph, it has not failed to comply in any material respect with any of its continuing disclosure 
undertakings. 

ARTICLE III 
 

OPERATING RULES 

SECTION 3.1.  Reference to Other Documents.  It shall be sufficient for purposes of Section 2.2 
hereof if the County provides Annual Financial Information by specific reference to documents (i) available to the 
public on the MSRB Internet website (currently, www.emma.msrb.org) or (ii) filed with the SEC.  The provisions of 
this Section 3.1 shall not apply to notices of Notice Events pursuant to Section 2.4 hereof. 

SECTION 3.2.  Submission of Information.  Annual Financial Information may be provided in 
one document or multiple documents and at one time or in part from time to time. 

SECTION 3.3.  Dissemination Agents.  The County may from time to time designate an agent to 
act on its behalf in providing or filing notices, documents and information as required of the County under this 
Certificate and revoke or modify any such designation. 

SECTION 3.4.  Transmission of Notices, Documents and Information.  (a)   Unless otherwise 
required by the MSRB, all notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided to the 
MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Markets Access (EMMA) system, the current Internet website address of which is 
www.emma.msrb.org. 

(b) All notices, documents and information provided to the MSRB shall be provided in an 
electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB and shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by 
the MSRB. 

SECTION 3.5.  Fiscal Year.  (a)  The County’s current fiscal year is July 1 to June 30, and the 
County shall promptly notify the MSRB of each change in its fiscal year. 

(b) Annual Financial Information shall be provided at least annually notwithstanding any 
fiscal year longer than twelve (12) calendar months. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE, TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND ENFORCEMENT 

SECTION 4.1.  Effective Date; Termination.  (a) This Certificate shall be effective upon the 
issuance of the Bonds. 

(b) The County’s obligations under this Certificate shall terminate upon legal defeasance, 
prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. 

(c) This Certificate, or any provision hereof, shall be null and void in the event that (i) the 
County shall have received an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that those portions of the 
Rule which require this Certificate, or any such provision, do not or no longer apply to the Bonds, whether because 
such portions of the Rule are invalid, have been repealed or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and 
(ii) the County shall have delivered copies of such opinion to the MSRB. 

SECTION 4.2.  Amendment.  (a)  This Certificate may be amended by written certificate of the 
Director of Finance of the County, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds if all of the following conditions 
are satisfied: (i) such amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in 
legal (including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules or regulations) or in interpretations 
thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the County or the type of business conducted thereby, (ii) this 
Certificate as so amended would have complied with the requirements of the Rule as of the date of this Certificate, 
after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances, 
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(iii) the County shall have received an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the County, to the same effect as set forth in 
clause (ii) above, (iv) the County shall have received an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the County, or a 
determination by an entity, in each case unaffiliated with the County (such as Bond Counsel), to the effect that the 
amendment does not materially impair the interests of the holders of the Bonds and (v) the County shall have 
delivered copies of such opinions and amendment to the MSRB. 

(b) This Certificate may be amended by written certificate of the Director of Finance of the 
County, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) an 
amendment to the Rule is adopted, or a new or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, after the 
effective date hereof which is applicable to this Certificate, (ii) the County shall have received an opinion of Counsel 
to the effect that performance by the County under this Certificate as so amended will not result in a violation of the 
Rule and (iii) the County shall have delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to the MSRB. 

(c) This Certificate may be amended by written certificate of the Director of Finance of the 
County, without the consent of the holders of the Bonds, if all of the following conditions are satisfied:  (i) the 
County shall have received an opinion of Counsel, addressed to the County, to the effect that the amendment is 
permitted by rule, order or other official pronouncement, or is consistent with any interpretive advice or no-action 
positions of the Staff of the SEC and (ii) the County shall have delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to 
the MSRB. 

(d) To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the types of 
financial information or operating data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first Annual Financial Information 
provided thereafter shall include a narrative explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the 
change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided. 

(e) If an amendment is made pursuant to Section 4.2(a) hereof to the accounting principles to 
be followed by the County in preparing its financial statements, the Annual Financial Information for the fiscal year 
in which the change is made shall present a comparison between the financial statements or information prepared on 
the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles.  Such 
comparison shall include a qualitative and, to the extent reasonably feasible, quantitative discussion of the 
differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the presentation 
of the financial information. 

SECTION 4.3.  Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement.  (a)  The provisions of this 
Certificate shall constitute a contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the holders from time to time of the 
Bonds, except that beneficial owners of Bonds shall be third-party beneficiaries of this Certificate.  The provisions 
of this Certificate shall create no rights in any person or entity except as provided in this subsection (a) and 
subsection (b) of this Section 4.3. 

(b) The obligations of the County to comply with the provisions of this Certificate shall be 
enforceable by the holders of the Bonds, including beneficial owners thereof.  The rights of the Bondholders to 
enforce the provisions of this Certificate shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific 
performance, to compel performance of the County’s obligations under this Certificate.  In consideration of the 
third-party beneficiary status of beneficial owners of Bonds pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section 4.3, beneficial 
owners shall be deemed to be holders of Bonds for purposes of this subsection (b). 

(c) Any failure by the County to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall not 
constitute a default under the Resolution and any rights and remedies provided by the Resolution upon the 
occurrence of a default shall not apply to any such failure. 
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(d) This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the 
State, without regard to its conflict of laws rules, and any suits and actions arising out of this Certificate shall be 
instituted and tried only in the Circuit Court of the County or the United States District Court for the Eastern District 
of Virginia, Richmond Division; provided, however, that to the extent this Certificate addresses matters of federal 
securities laws, including the Rule, this Certificate shall be construed in accordance with such federal securities laws 
and official interpretations thereof. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate as of the date first above 
written. 

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA 
 
 
 
By:    

Director of Finance 
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APPENDIX G 

PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

June 21, 2016 

Board of Supervisors 
  of the County of Henrico 
Henrico, Virginia 

Dear Members of the Board of Supervisors: 

COUNTY OF HENRICO, VIRGINIA, 
WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, 

SERIES 2016, $123,625,000 

At your request we have examined into the validity of $123,625,000 aggregate principal 
amount of Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (the “Bonds”), of the County of Henrico, 
Virginia (the “County”).  The Bonds are dated the date of their issuance, are issuable in fully registered form in 
the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof, and are numbered from No. R-2016-1 
upwards in order of issuance.  The Bonds mature on May 1 in each of the years and in the principal amounts 
set forth below, with the Bonds maturing in a particular year bearing interest payable on November 1, 2016 
and semiannually on each May 1 and November 1 thereafter at the interest rate per annum stated opposite such 
year, to wit: 

Year 
Principal 
 Amount  

Interest 
  Rate   Year 

Principal 
 Amount  

Interest 
  Rate   

2017 $1,810,000 3.000% 2027 $7,875,000 5.000% 
2018 1,275,000 2.000 2028 1,100,000 2.000 
2019 1,300,000 1.750 2028 7,175,000 5.000 
2020 2,940,000 3.000 2029 2,020,000 5.000 
2020 2,945,000 5.000 2030 2,120,000 5.000 
2021 3,330,000 4.000 2031 2,225,000 5.000 
2021 2,685,000 5.000 2032 2,340,000 5.000 
2022 775,000 3.000 2033 2,455,000 5.000 
2022 5,510,000 5.000 2034 2,575,000 5.000 
2023 1,135,000 3.000 2035 2,705,000 5.000 
2023 5,445,000 5.000 2036 2,840,000 5.000 
2024 2,065,000 1.500 2037 2,985,000 5.000 
2024 1,785,000 4.000 2038 3,130,000 5.000 
2024 3,035,000 5.000 2042 14,175,000 5.000 
2025 7,140,000 5.000 2046 480,000 3.125 
2026 7,500,000 5.000 2046 16,750,000 5.000 

 
The Bonds maturing on and after May 1, 2027 are subject to redemption prior to their stated 

maturities at the option of the County on or after May 1, 2026 upon the terms and conditions and at the prices 
set forth therein.  The Bonds maturing on May 1, 2042 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on 
May 1, 2039 and on each May 1 thereafter to and including May 1, 2042 upon the terms and conditions and at 
the prices set forth therein. The Bonds maturing on May 1, 2046 are subject to mandatory sinking fund 
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redemption on May 1, 2043 and on each May 1 thereafter to and including May 1, 2046 upon the terms and 
conditions and at the prices set forth therein. 

The Bonds recite that they are issued by the County under and pursuant to and in full 
compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, including Chapter 26 of 
Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia, 1950 (the same being the Public Finance Act of 1991), a resolution duly 
adopted by the Board of Supervisors of the County on November 23, 1977 and a resolution supplemental 
thereto duly adopted by such Board on February 23, 2016 (collectively, the “Resolution”), for the purpose of 
financing the costs of acquisition, construction, reconstruction, improvement, extension and enlargement of the 
unified water supply and sanitary sewerage system in the County. 

We have examined (i) the Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia, 
(ii) certified copies of the proceedings of the Board of Supervisors of the County authorizing the issuance, sale 
and delivery of the Bonds, (iii) such other papers, instruments, documents and proceedings as we have deemed 
necessary or advisable and (iv) a specimen Bond of such issue. 

In our opinion, the Bonds have been duly authorized and issued in accordance with the 
Constitution and statutes of the Commonwealth of Virginia and constitute valid and legally binding special 
obligations of the County payable solely from and secured equally and ratably solely by a lien and charge on 
the revenues derived from the operation of the water and sewer system of the County on a parity with bonds 
heretofore issued on a parity with the Bonds, and any bonds, and interest on bond anticipation notes, which 
hereafter may be issued under the Resolution on a parity with the Bonds, subject, however, to the prior 
payment from such revenues of the expenses of operation and maintenance of the water and sewer system, all 
as set forth and provided in the Resolution. 

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof 
may be subject to judicial discretion, to the exercise of the sovereign police powers of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia and the constitutional powers of the United States of America and to valid bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting the relief of debtors. 

In our opinion, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing 
compliance by the County with certain tax covenants described herein, interest on the Bonds (i) is excluded 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986 (the “Code”) and (ii) is not treated as an item of tax preference for purposes of the alternative minimum 
tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted 
current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on 
such corporations.  In rendering our opinion, we have relied on certain representations, certifications of fact 
and statements of reasonable expectations made by the County in connection with the Bonds, and we have 
assumed compliance by the County with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of 
the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code. 

It is also our opinion that under existing law of the Commonwealth of Virginia, such interest 
is not includable in computing the Virginia income tax. 

We express no opinion regarding other federal or Commonwealth of Virginia tax 
consequences arising with respect to the Bonds.  We are rendering our opinion under existing statutes and 
court decisions as of the issue date of the Bonds, and we assume no obligation to update our opinion after the 
issue date of the Bonds to reflect any future action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or 
otherwise.  We express no opinion on the effect of any action taken in reliance upon an opinion of other 
counsel on the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds 

Very truly yours, 
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